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Mongolia Growth Group Ltd.
Mongolia Growth Group Ltd. (MGG) is a leading publicly traded property investment company in Ulaanbaatar,
Mongolia. MGG owns an extensive property portfolio, with an emphasis on institutional-grade commercial
assets.
MGG undertakes its own property acquisitions, develops brownfield land assets and repositions outdated
properties, relying on in-house services for all facets of both the investment portfolio and development
side of the business. In addition, MGG acts as a full-service third party provider for institutional clients.

Letter to Shareholders
Harris Kupperman

CEO and Chairman of the Board

Dear Shareholders,
Seven years ago, I co-founded a company to invest in Mongolia. At the time, it was expected that Mongolia would
be one of the world’s fastest growing economies, for many years into the future. While, I expected there would be
good and bad years along the way, no one could have anticipated the illogical nature of the self-inflicted economic
crisis which has afflicted Mongolia for the past five years. Despite recent official numbers that purport to show an
economic recovery, we have seen no recovery in our business, nor would we expect one, unless at least one of the
mega-projects is approved to go forward. While we are hopeful that an approval is always imminent, we have become
realists—approvals will only come when conditions are so dire that the Mongolian government has no choice but to
do the right thing.
As I have noted in many past letters, as I look at our business, I am cognizant that we have not hit scale and are highly
unlikely to ever hit scale as logical investors are highly unlikely to invest additional capital into Mongolia given the
current backdrop. As our company consistently loses money, we have been forced to repeatedly sell assets to fund
those losses; which then reduces our future revenues and increases our future losses. While we have been able to
dramatically reduce costs over the past three years, this only slows the pace of our capital depletion. As the economic
crisis continues to intensify, it is expected that our revenues will continue to decline and the vice around us will tighten.
Furthermore, if rental rates decline, so will the values of our property assets, which would further erode the carrying
value of our business, even before the constant cash losses that are expected to continue and accelerate going forward.
If the above sounds rather bleak, that is, quite frankly, because it is. Fortunately, we are not completely without
options. While Mongolia seems intent on self-immolation, many parts of this globe are growing. During 2017, we have
continued our focus on asset sales, with a particular emphasis on our development assets, as we no longer have the
in-house team to develop these assets and our office buildings, excluding our headquarters, as the current glut of new
development ensures that utilization will remain weak for many years into the future. In the interest of transparency,
I believe that we may be forced to sell certain assets at discounts to carrying values in order to re-purpose this capital
into something else with a future. Unfortunately, the continuing economic crisis has meant that sales during 2017
have been rather anemic. To date, the capital released by our sales, has been re-invested in an increasingly diversified
portfolio of highly liquid, publicly traded securities.
As of this writing, we have experienced both realized and unrealized net gains on this portfolio of securities. While
I expect investment returns will be highly volatile on a quarterly basis, I would also hope that over time, they show
a net gain. That said; my goal is not to transition MGG’s assets into a publicly traded securities portfolio as there are
both regulatory and tax reasons why this is less than ideal. My hope remains that the Mongolian economy will one day
recover and we will gain exposure to that recovery through our core retail focused portfolio. However, given the fact
that a recovery may be many years into the future; senior management has spent the past half year researching other
businesses that we can enter into that are outside of Mongolia and serve to diversify our business, while still leveraging
our highly skilled Mongolian team. While we have not identified any candidates that interest us, we have also kept
our spending on this endeavor to a minimum, outside of an increased travel expense. Fortunately, we are not in any
hurry to re-allocate this capital and can wait for the ideal investment as we now have the liquidity to offset our future
operating losses for some time, even as those losses increase in future periods.
While, I realize that this change in focus may be disappointing to some of you, we try to be realists. If the current
business is destined towards failure, we should seek out something else with the potential to succeed. The bigger
mistake would be to simply continue to do the same thing and hope for a different outcome.
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On a final note, seven years ago, I decided that as a sign of confidence in this business, I would take no salary—largely as
I expected that within a few years; my role would transition to that of a very dedicated board member and saw myself as
something of an interim CEO. Despite spending lots of time and money, we have never identified the right person to act as
our permanent CEO. As the Mongolian economy continues to struggle, our potential future CEO options have continued to
narrow and at this point, it seems silly to subject MGG to any additional overhead expense as our team in Mongolia is doing an
outstanding job managing our business on a daily basis. Unfortunately for me, this means that I will never be able to transition
out of the CEO role and seek out other business roles for myself. Therefore, as of January, 2018, I have agreed to accept a salary
in-line with that which Genevieve, our CFO, receives. I realize that this is something of a change from my past promises, but I
never expected that I would still be in a full-time role, seven years after our business was founded. For better or worse, I intend
to continue to serve as CEO for the foreseeable future.
Despite all of the above, I believe that our shares are undervalued and I purchased additional shares of MGG for myself during
2017. While our liquidity remains tight, MGG purchased an additional 1,110,000 shares for a cost basis of $378,900 during the
year under its Normal Course Issuer Bids. While I realize that maintaining liquidity is of paramount importance as the economic
crisis worsens, I also believe that repurchasing shares is still a good use of our dwindling capital. Either Mongolia turns around
at some point and this buyback turns out to have been accretive, or Mongolia continues into the abyss, in which case, nothing
we do will matter anyway.

Sincerely,

Harris Kupperman
CEO and Chairman of the Board
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MONGOLIA GROWTH GROUP LTD
Management Discussion & Analysis
December 31, 2017
The management of Mongolia Growth Group Ltd. (“MGG” or “the Corporation”) presents the Corporation’s management
discussion and analysis for the year ended December 31, 2017 (the “MD&A”), compared with the year ended December 31,
2016. As of January 1, 2011, the Corporation adopted International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). This MD&A provides
an overall discussion, followed by analyses of the performance of the Corporation’s major reportable segments. The reporting
and presentation currency in the consolidated financial statements and in this discussion and analysis is the Canadian dollar,
unless otherwise noted.
This MD&A is dated March 23, 2018 and incorporates all relevant information and considerations to that date.
The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 together with all of the notes, risk factors and
information contained therein, available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

Non-IFRS Financial Measures
This MD&A makes reference to adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, unrealized fair value adjustments, share based payments
depreciation and amortization (“Adjusted EBITDA”). The Corporation uses Adjusted EBITDA as a measure of the performance
of its operating subsidiaries as it excludes depreciation and interest charges, which are a function of the Corporation’s specific
capital structure, and also excludes entity specific tax expense. These amounts are not performance measures as defined under
IFRS and should not be considered either in isolation of, or as a substitute for, net earnings prepared in accordance with IFRS.

Forward Looking Statements
This MD&A contains forward-looking statements relating to future events. In some cases, forward-looking statements can be
identified by words such as “anticipate”, “continue”, “estimate”, “expect”, “forecast”, “may”, “will”, “project”, “should”, “believe”,
or similar expressions. These statements represent management’s best projections but undue reliance should not be placed
upon them as they are derived from numerous assumptions. These assumptions are subject to known and unknown risks
and uncertainties, including the “Risks and Uncertainties” as discussed herein. Actual performance and financial results will
differ from any projections of future performance or results expressed or implied by such forward looking statements and the
difference may be material.
Accordingly, readers are cautioned that events or circumstances could cause results to differ materially from those predicted.
From time to time, the Corporation’s management may make estimates and have opinions that form the basis for the forwardlooking statements. The Corporation assumes no obligation to update such statements if circumstances, management’s estimates,
or opinions change.
Forward looking statements are included within the Outlook, CEO Message to Shareholders and Executive Strategy sections of
this MD&A.
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Section 1 – Overview
During 2017, the Corporation’s rental revenues decreased by 18% when compared to 2016, which was largely as a result of
lower rental rates, an increasing amount of rental discounts provided to tenants, a weaker local currency versus the Canadian
dollar and fewer rental properties due to disposals. Throughout 2017, rental rates continued to decline, particularly in the office
market, leading to an expectation that rental revenues may continue to decline in future years. Despite a very weak economy,
the Corporation has been able to achieve almost full occupancy rates, with office space and retail occupancy rates of 96.2% and
100% respectively at year end.
Due to a deterioration of the local economy, the Corporation recorded an unrealized fair value loss of $2,758,843 on its
investment properties portfolio during the year (2016 - $5,728,003). The majority of this impairment ($1,585,120) (2016 - $nil)
was as a result of a 25% impairment to one of the Corporation’s investment properties classified as land and redevelopment. The
Corporation currently has a standing agreement with the former owner of a 42 sq. meter apartment, leading it to be included
in this properties land title. The agreement entitles the owner of the apartment to 84 sq. meters of space on the first floor of a
new building to be built on this land. In this agreement, the Corporation had an obligation to complete the construction of a new
building by the end of 2017. A liability of $142,894 is currently included in the Corporation’s balance sheet to reflect this liability.
In addition, at year end, the Corporation recognized a $1,585,120 unrealized fair value loss on this property in excess of the fair
value adjustment calculated using the valuation approaches described in Note 8 of the financial statements. This adjustment
is management’s estimate of the markets perception of the risk related to this agreement. While the Corporation has received
legal advice that it is not at a substantial risk of losing the property in question, interpretations of Mongolian law can be varied
and arbitrary. The Corporation cautions investors that should it lose this property, it would result in a material reduction in the
Corporation’s overall assets and fair value (4.7 million dollars current carrying value). In addition, there is the potential that the
84 sq. meter liability could inhibit the sale or development of this asset in future periods.
During the year, the Corporation acquired three properties for a total cost of $131,387. The Corporation also paid full purchase
proceeds of $372,348 on a fourth property in a separate transaction, however has not yet received the official land title from
the Mongolian Property office. Therefore, the fourth property is classified as a prepaid deposit on investment properties within
other assets (note 7). During this period, the Corporation sold eight investment properties of which three had been purchased
during this same period for total proceeds of $3,095,071 resulting in a net gain of $247,200 on these transactions. In comparison,
during the year ended December 31, 2016, four investment properties were sold for cash consideration of $970,241 resulting
in net loss of $223,532 on these transactions. Proceeds from the sales of assets during the year were used for working capital
purposes, the acquisition of publicly traded securities, and its Normal Course Issuer Bid (NCIB) program. It is anticipated that
the Corporation will continue to dispose of properties in future quarters in order to fund working capital needs, future public
securities purchases along with the renewed NCIB program.
During the year, the Mongolian Tögrög depreciated versus the Canadian dollar from 1,848 MNT/CAD on December 31, 2016
to 1,927 on December 31, 2017; a 4.3% decrease during the year. This depreciation led to a $1,299,746 other comprehensive
loss (2016 – 10,651,263 loss) during the year. During the year, the Corporation has experienced some difficulty in converting
Mongolian Tögrögs to U.S. Dollars as banks seem to have a shortage of U.S. Dollars. At times, banks have imposed various daily
limits on convertibility that have hindered the Corporation’s ability to convert even small quantities of currency. The Corporation
continues to transfer money back to its Canadian headquarters, however there is no certainty that the Mongolian banks will
continue to allow such transfers in the future. The Corporation tries to keep as little of its cash reserves in Mongolian Tögrög as
is possible to operate the business.

Economic Overview
Starting in 2012, the Mongolian government initiated a program to restrict and inhibit foreign investment. Additionally, various
government officials made statements designed to intimidate foreign investors, followed by arbitrary arrests of foreign employees
and confiscations of foreign investments. These actions led to a dramatic slow-down in foreign direct investment (FDI) and an
exodus of foreign investors. The economy would have entered a crisis sooner, if not for expansionary fiscal policy and monetary
stimulus from the Central Bank of Mongolia. However, by 2014, even this stimulus was insufficient to avert the economic crisis
which is currently ongoing.
Despite official statistics that tend to show moderate economic growth, the Corporation is of the opinion that the economy
has been in contraction since 2014, though the rate of contraction has varied based on economic policy. Recent statements by
prominent politicians that were designed to embarrass and belittle China have resulted in China dramatically reducing imports
of raw commodities. This has led to a noticeable decline in economic activity during recent months. Furthermore, changes to tax
rates, particularly related to mining licenses, has served to further dissuade foreign investment.
During the past seven years, Mongolia has had five Prime Ministers, seven Cabinets and even more substantial turn-over within
most ministries. This has led to inconsistent policy-making, arbitrary decision-making and a general focus amongst ministers for
personal gain, hurting all investors—as their tenures tend to be short. This cycle of corruption and incompetence, coupled with
a distrust of foreigners by most voters, has led to policies generally designed to stymie foreign investment and devalue existing
investments.

6 | Mongolia Growth Group Ltd

The two recent People’s Party governments have made statements that are more supportive of foreign investment—however
these statements have rarely been backed up by actions that would actually tempt anyone to invest in Mongolia. Furthermore,
despite statements of support for foreign investment, multiple investors are waiting for government approvals for their businesses
to move forward and there has been a continued net divestment amongst most existing foreign investors.
Management believes that the current economic slow-down is the result of policies that have discouraged Foreign Direct
Investment (“FDI”). When the government takes the appropriate steps to stimulate FDI, it is expected that the economy can
return to economic growth. Management remains a believer in the long-term growth potential of Mongolia.

Property Overview
During the boom years at the beginning of this decade, multiple sizable property developments were initiated. Despite an economic
crisis that began in 2014, many of these developments were ultimately completed, while new projects have continually been
initiated—despite minimal demand for these properties. There also remains a sizable shadow inventory of partially completed
projects that may re-commence development at any time.
While reliable statistics are hard to come by, management believes that the overall supply of office space is about fifty percent
more than current demand, while the supply of high-end residential space is many orders of magnitude in relation to the demand
that exists in the market. Retail space has been slightly more insulated, particularly in downtown areas. However, many new
office developments are being built with two to three floor retail podiums, along with high-end entertainment venues on the top
floors. It is expected that there is minimal demand for this new space, as absorption has been slow—however retail absorption
has still been better than the absorption of office or apartment space. When 2018 deliveries hit the market, it is expected that
overall vacancy rate will increase beyond current rates, at a time when demand is contracting in most markets.
Due to the glut of space that is currently in the market, new supply coming to the market and reduced demand due to the
ongoing economic crisis, rental rates have declined dramatically, with the largest declines witnessed in the residential market,
followed by the office market. The Corporation expects that the current market environment will lead to further declines in rental
rates and hence overall property values in future years, unless there is a dramatic economic recovery to aid overall absorption.
The Corporation’s management is of the opinion that current supply is sufficient to more than satiate demand for many years
into the future, even if there is a dramatic overall economic recovery. This is even before properties under development are
completed. The Corporation’s management remains pessimistic about overall rental rates and property valuations for the
foreseeable future. Additionally, many property owners have defaulted on loans with domestic banks. Recent initiatives forcing
banks to recognize losses and liquidate collateral are happening at a time when there is minimal liquidity in the market. It is
expected by most market participants that these sales will set new benchmarks for valuations and dramatically decrease market
values for all property assets within Mongolia.
Recently, a number of prestigious office buildings have offered highly aggressive rates in order to fill vacancies, including elongated
free rental periods or even offering rental rates that are below the levels needed to support property taxes and utilities. Based
on those indicative rates, the Corporation would experience a substantial decline in rental rates for existing office assets and it is
expected that the Corporation’s rental revenues will decline substantially in future periods. The Corporation cautions investors
that in future periods, it may be forced to accept rental rates that do not cover basic operating costs such as utilities and property
tax, even before considering additional allocated overhead management costs. In such a situation, it would be expected that
operating losses would expand dramatically from current levels. Additionally, such lease rates may last for an elongated period
of time and substantially deplete the Corporation’s liquidity.
Management cautions investors that it has a negative outlook on the property sector and is focused on continuing to dispose of
assets, when possible.

Mongolia Growth Group Ltd |

7

Section 2 - Executing the Strategy
Core Business
During the past seven years, Management and employees have worked hard to build up the infrastructure needed to manage
MGG’s institutional property platform. This platform is unique in Mongolia and is one of the only platforms capable of managing
assets through the full cycle of ownership from acquisition through disposition and includes dedicated departments that manage
maintenance, leasing, marketing and tenant management. Management believes it has a strong team in place to manage the
business on an ongoing basis.
Due to MGG’s unique platform, the Corporation has added third party leasing and property management to its focus, in order to
leverage its existing resources. Management believes that it has excess capacity to handle these functions and has seen a sizable
increase in interest in using its brokerage operation as awareness spreads in the Ulaanbaatar market. The Corporation intends to
aggressively target this brokerage opportunity through its website at www.MGGproperties.com.
The Corporation has continued to have occupancy levels that are in excess of current market conditions and it credits its leasing
and property management teams with this success. Additionally, bad debt expense has remained below expectations.
Since inception, MGG has acquired a number of redevelopment properties. To date, the Corporation has also remodeled, rebuilt
and completed additions on properties. During 2015, the Corporation spent substantial resources redeveloping its Tuguldur
retail center property; however these redevelopment efforts have been put on hold due to a slowing economy and uncertainty
regarding the ability to lease added space due to the rapidly increasing vacancy level in the city. The Corporation did complete a
334 meter extension to Tuguldur during early 2016 and a lease was signed with a well-respected Mongolian tenant in early 2016.
This tenant began to pay rent during the third quarter of 2016. Due to the project going over budget and the sizable decline in
market rents from when the project began until a lease was signed, this development project did not hit internal return targets,
further validating the Corporation’s decision to cease all further development spending. As part of its cost savings initiative, the
Corporation has eliminated its development department. The Corporation is evaluating its development pipeline to assess if it
should dispose of these assets as the Corporation no longer has the internal resources to develop them and a monetization of
these assets will increase the Corporation’s liquidity. Additionally, it is unlikely that the city of Ulaanbaatar will need additional
space for many years into the future.
The Corporation believes that the Mongolian economy may continue to experience an economic crisis for many years into the
future. Therefore, the Corporation believes that property values may continue to depreciate or stay roughly constant, depending
on government decisions regarding foreign investment as there is too much oversupply of property for any material recovery in
property prices to occur—even if the government suddenly becomes supportive of economic growth. As such, the Corporation
is looking at various investment opportunities outside Mongolia, in order to diversify its business. During 2017, the Corporation
spent substantial time evaluating a number of businesses, but has not decided to move forward on any acquisition. Additionally,
the Corporation has made investments in certain publicly traded securities. The Corporation believes that over time, it will
continue to dispose of property assets in order to increase its ownership of publicly traded securities and fund potential future
investments outside Mongolia. The Corporation may be forced to take on additional borrowings or issue equity in order to
finance these future investments.
The Corporation anticipates that revenues and EBITDA may decline in future quarters as the economic crisis deepens, properties
are sold to fund working capital needs, investments in public securities and future potential businesses. Additionally, the
Corporation anticipates an increase in operating expenses in future quarters, primarily as a result of an increase in payroll along
with due diligence expenses related to potential acquisitions outside of Mongolia. The Corporation expects to finance losses with
additional property sales.

Portfolio
Mongolia Growth Group’s properties are located in the Downtown and the Central Business District of Ulaanbaatar. Within
the financial statements, MGG classifies properties in each of the following categories; Investment Properties, Property and
Equipment, and Other Assets/Prepaid Deposits. Fluctuations in the values of the Corporation’s property portfolio during the
quarter can be attributed to changes in valuations, properties purchased and sold, and the change in value of the functional
currency (Mongolian Tögrög) versus the Canadian dollar.

Investment Properties
Investment Properties include properties held to earn rental revenue, for capital appreciation and/or for redevelopment.
Investment Properties are initially valued at fair value, which is the purchase price plus any directly attributable expenditure.
Investment Properties are subsequently valued at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the date of the statement of
financial position.
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ƌĞĚĞǀĞůŽƉŵĞŶƚ͘/ŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐĂƌĞŝŶŝƚŝĂůůǇǀĂůƵĞĚĂƚĨĂŝƌǀĂůƵĞ͕ǁŚŝĐŚŝƐƚŚĞƉƵƌĐŚĂƐĞƉƌŝĐĞƉůƵƐĂŶǇĚŝƌĞĐƚůǇ
/ŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚ WƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ ŝŶĐůƵĚĞ ƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ ŚĞůĚ ƚŽ ĞĂƌŶ ƌĞŶƚĂů ƌĞǀĞŶƵĞ͕ ĨŽƌ ĐĂƉŝƚĂů ĂƉƉƌĞĐŝĂƚŝŽŶ ĂŶĚͬŽƌ ĨŽƌ
ĂƚƚƌŝďƵƚĂďůĞ ĞǆƉĞŶĚŝƚƵƌĞ͘ /ŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚ WƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ ĂƌĞ ƐƵďƐĞƋƵĞŶƚůǇ ǀĂůƵĞĚ Ăƚ ĨĂŝƌ ǀĂůƵĞ͕ ǁŚŝĐŚ ƌĞĨůĞĐƚƐ ŵĂƌŬĞƚ
ƌĞĚĞǀĞůŽƉŵĞŶƚ͘/ŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐĂƌĞŝŶŝƚŝĂůůǇǀĂůƵĞĚĂƚĨĂŝƌǀĂůƵĞ͕ǁŚŝĐŚŝƐƚŚĞƉƵƌĐŚĂƐĞƉƌŝĐĞƉůƵƐĂŶǇĚŝƌĞĐƚůǇ
ĐŽŶĚŝƚŝŽŶƐĂƚƚŚĞĚĂƚĞŽĨƚŚĞƐƚĂƚĞŵĞŶƚŽĨĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂůƉŽƐŝƚŝŽŶ͘
ĂƚƚƌŝďƵƚĂďůĞ
ĞǆƉĞŶĚŝƚƵƌĞ͘ /ŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚ WƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ ĂƌĞ ƐƵďƐĞƋƵĞŶƚůǇ ǀĂůƵĞĚ Ăƚ ĨĂŝƌ ǀĂůƵĞ͕ ǁŚŝĐŚ ƌĞĨůĞĐƚƐ ŵĂƌŬĞƚ
ĐŽŶĚŝƚŝŽŶƐĂƚƚŚĞĚĂƚĞŽĨƚŚĞƐƚĂƚĞŵĞŶƚŽĨĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂůƉŽƐŝƚŝŽŶ͘
dŚĞĨŽůůŽǁŝŶŐƚĂďůĞƌĞƉƌĞƐĞŶƚƐƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐĐůĂƐƐŝĨŝĞĚĂƐ/ŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ͕ĂƐŽĨĞĐĞŵďĞƌϯϭ͕ϮϬϭϳ͖
dŚĞĨŽůůŽǁŝŶŐƚĂďůĞƌĞƉƌĞƐĞŶƚƐƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐĐůĂƐƐŝĨŝĞĚĂƐWƌĞƉĂŝĚĞƉŽƐŝƚƐŽŶ/ŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ͕ĂƐŽĨĞĐĞŵďĞƌϯϭ͕
dŚĞĨŽůůŽǁŝŶŐƚĂďůĞƌĞƉƌĞƐĞŶƚƐƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐĐůĂƐƐŝĨŝĞĚĂƐ/ŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ͕ĂƐŽĨĞĐĞŵďĞƌϯϭ͕ϮϬϭϳ͖
The
classified as Investment Properties,
 following table represents
 properties

ϮϬϭϳ  as of December 31, 2017;
ϮϬϭϲ
ϮϬϭϳ͖
sĂůƵĞĂƚϯϭͲĞĐͲϭϳ
sĂůƵĞĂƚϯϭͲĞĐͲϭϲ

ZĞƐŝĚĞŶƚŝĂů

KĨĨŝĐĞ
ZĞƐŝĚĞŶƚŝĂů
ZĞƚĂŝů
ZĞƐŝĚĞŶƚŝĂů
KĨĨŝĐĞ
>ĂŶĚĂŶĚZĞĚĞǀĞůŽƉŵĞŶƚ
KĨĨŝĐĞ
ZĞƚĂŝů
dŽƚĂů
ZĞƚĂŝů
>ĂŶĚĂŶĚZĞĚĞǀĞůŽƉŵĞŶƚ
 >ĂŶĚĂŶĚZĞĚĞǀĞůŽƉŵĞŶƚ
dŽƚĂů
dŽƚĂů



ηŽĨWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ



Ͳ
ηŽĨWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ
ηŽĨWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ
Ϯ
Ͳ
ϮϬ
Ͳ
Ϯ
ϯ
Ͳ
ϮϬ
Ϯϱ
Ͳ
ϯ
ϮΎ
Ϯϱ
Ϯ

ϮϬϭϳ
ϮϬϭϳ
ΨE
sĂůƵĞĂƚϯϭͲĞĐͲϭϳ
Ͳ
sĂůƵĞĂƚϯϭͲĞĐͲϭϳ
ΨE
ΨE
ϭ͕ϵϮϯ͕ϱϬϬ
Ͳ
ϭϯ͕ϲϴϲ͕ϭϳϵ
Ͳ
ϭ͕ϵϮϯ͕ϱϬϬ
ϳ͕Ϯϳϳ͕ϴϰϮͲ
ϭϯ͕ϲϴϲ͕ϭϳϵ
ϮϮ͕ϴϴϳ͕ϱϮϭ
Ͳ
ϳ͕Ϯϳϳ͕ϴϰϮ
Ϯϴϱ͕ϮϵϬ
ϮϮ͕ϴϴϳ͕ϱϮϭ
Ϯϴϱ͕ϮϵϬ



ηŽĨWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ

Ϯ
ηŽĨWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ
ηŽĨWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ
ϯ
Ϯ
ͲϮϯ
ϯ
Ͳ ϯ
Ϯϯ
Ͳϯϭ
ϯ
ϭΎ
ϯϭ
ϭ

ϮϬϭϲ
ϮϬϭϲ
ΨE
sĂůƵĞĂƚϯϭͲĞĐͲϭϲ
ϮϱϬ͕ϯϮϬ
sĂůƵĞĂƚϯϭͲĞĐͲϭϲ
ΨE
ΨE
Ϯ͕ϵϳϲ͕ϲϰϮ
ϮϱϬ͕ϯϮϬ
ϭϲ͕ϱϬϱ͕Ϯϯϰ
Ͳ
Ϯ͕ϵϳϲ͕ϲϰϮ
ϵ͕ϳϲϵ͕ϭϱϰ
Ͳ
ϭϲ͕ϱϬϱ͕Ϯϯϰ
Ϯϵ͕ϱϬϭ͕ϯϱϬ
Ͳ
ϵ͕ϳϲϵ͕ϭϱϰ
ϰϮ͕ϳϱϵ
Ϯϵ͕ϱϬϭ͕ϯϱϬ
ϰϮ͕ϳϱϵ

WƌŽƉĞƌƚǇĂŶĚƋƵŝƉŵĞŶƚ
WƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐand
ĂƌĞEquipment
ĐůĂƐƐŝĨŝĞĚ ĂƐ WƌŽƉĞƌƚǇ ĂŶĚ ƋƵŝƉŵĞŶƚ ŝĨ ƚŚĞ ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶ ŽĐĐƵƉŝĞƐ ŵŽƌĞ ƚŚĂŶ ϭϬй ŽĨ ƚŚĞ ƉƌŽƉĞƌƚǇ͘
Property
WƌŽƉĞƌƚǇĂŶĚƋƵŝƉŵĞŶƚ
WƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ ĂƌĞ
ĐůĂƐƐŝĨŝĞĚ
ĂƐ WƌŽƉĞƌƚǇ
ĂŶĚĂŶĚ
ƋƵŝƉŵĞŶƚ
ĂƌĞŝĨŵĞĂƐƵƌĞĚ
Ăƚ ĐŽƐƚŽĐĐƵƉŝĞƐ
ůĞƐƐ ĂĐĐƵŵƵůĂƚĞĚ
ůĞƐƐ ĂŶǇ
ĐůĂƐƐŝĨŝĞĚ
ĂƐ WƌŽƉĞƌƚǇ
ƋƵŝƉŵĞŶƚ
ƚŚĞ ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶ
ŵŽƌĞ ƚŚĂŶĚĞƉƌĞĐŝĂƚŝŽŶ͕
ϭϬй ŽĨ ƚŚĞ ƉƌŽƉĞƌƚǇ͘
WƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ
KĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇZĂƚĞƐ
Properties are classified as Property and Equipment if the Corporation occupies more than 10% of the property. Properties

ΎdŚŝƐůĂŶĚĂƐƐĞƚŝƐƉĂƌƚŽĨŽŶĞŽĨƚŚĞůĂŶĚƉĂĐŬĂŐĞƐŽƵƚůŝŶĞĚŝŶƚŚĞ/ŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐƐĞĐƚŝŽŶĂŶĚŝƐŶŽƚĂƐƚĂŶĚĂůŽŶĞůĂŶĚƉĂĐŬĂŐĞ͘

ĂĐĐƵŵƵůĂƚĞĚŝŵƉĂŝƌŵĞŶƚůŽƐƐĞƐ͘ůůƌĞƉĂŝƌƐĂŶĚŵĂŝŶƚĞŶĂŶĐĞĐŽƐƚƐƚŽƚŚĞƐĞƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐĂƌĞĐŚĂƌŐĞĚƚŽƚŚĞĐŽŶƐŽůŝĚĂƚĞĚ

WƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ
ĐůĂƐƐŝĨŝĞĚand
ĂƐEquipment
WƌŽƉĞƌƚǇ ĂŶĚ
ƋƵŝƉŵĞŶƚ
ĂƌĞ less
ŵĞĂƐƵƌĞĚ
Ăƚ ĐŽƐƚ
ůĞƐƐ ĂĐĐƵŵƵůĂƚĞĚ
ĚĞƉƌĞĐŝĂƚŝŽŶ͕
ůĞƐƐ ĂŶǇ
ƐƵŵŵĂƌǇŽĨMGG’s
ƉƌŽƉĞƌƚǇƉŽƌƚĨŽůŝŽŽĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇƌĂƚĞƐŝƐƐĞƚĨŽƌƚŚŝŶƚŚĞĨŽůůŽǁŝŶŐƚĂďůĞ͗
classified
as Property
are measured
at cost
accumulated
depreciation,
less any accumulated
impairment
ƐƚĂƚĞŵĞŶƚŽĨŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŽŶƐĚƵƌŝŶŐƚŚĞƉĞƌŝŽĚŝŶǁŚŝĐŚƚŚĞǇŽĐĐƵƌƵŶůĞƐƐĞůŝŐŝďůĞĨŽƌĐĂƉŝƚĂůŝǌĂƚŝŽŶ͘dŚĞ
ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶ’s
ĂĐĐƵŵƵůĂƚĞĚŝŵƉĂŝƌŵĞŶƚůŽƐƐĞƐ͘ůůƌĞƉĂŝƌƐĂŶĚŵĂŝŶƚĞŶĂŶĐĞĐŽƐƚƐƚŽƚŚĞƐĞƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐĂƌĞĐŚĂƌŐĞĚƚŽƚŚĞĐŽŶƐŽůŝĚĂƚĞĚ

losses.
All repairs and maintenance costs to these properties are charged to the consolidated statement of operations during the
ŚĞĂĚƋƵĂƌƚĞƌƐ͕ƉƵƌĐŚĂƐĞĚŝŶKĐƚŽďĞƌϮϬϭϭ͕ĨĂůůƐǁŝƚŚŝŶƚŚŝƐĐĂƚĞŐŽƌǇ͘

ϯϭ–ĞĐͲϮϬϭϳ The Corporation’s headquarters,
ϯϭ–ĞĐͲϮϬϭϲ purchased in October
ϯϭ–ĞĐͲϮϬϭϱ
ƐƚĂƚĞŵĞŶƚŽĨŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŽŶƐĚƵƌŝŶŐƚŚĞƉĞƌŝŽĚŝŶǁŚŝĐŚƚŚĞǇŽĐĐƵƌƵŶůĞƐƐĞůŝŐŝďůĞĨŽƌĐĂƉŝƚĂůŝǌĂƚŝŽŶ͘dŚĞ
ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶ’s
period
in which they occur unless eligible for capitalization.
2011, falls
within
this category.

KĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇZĂƚĞΎ
KĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇZĂƚĞΎ
KĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇZĂƚĞΎ
ŚĞĂĚƋƵĂƌƚĞƌƐ͕ƉƵƌĐŚĂƐĞĚŝŶKĐƚŽďĞƌϮϬϭϭ͕ĨĂůůƐǁŝƚŚŝŶƚŚŝƐĐĂƚĞŐŽƌǇ͘
dŚĞĨŽůůŽǁŝŶŐƚĂďůĞƌĞƉƌĞƐĞŶƚƐƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐĐůĂƐƐŝĨŝĞĚĂƐWƌĞƉĂŝĚĞƉŽƐŝƚƐŽŶ/ŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ͕ĂƐŽĨĞĐĞŵďĞƌϯϭ͕
dŚĞĨŽůůŽǁŝŶŐƚĂďůĞƌĞƉƌĞƐĞŶƚƐƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐĐůĂƐƐŝĨŝĞĚĂƐWƌŽƉĞƌƚǇĂŶĚƋƵŝƉŵĞŶƚ͕ĂƐŽĨĞĐĞŵďĞƌϯϭ͕ϮϬϭϳ͖

ϵϳ͘Ϯй
ϴϰ͘ϵй
The
following table represents properties classified as Property
and Equipment, as of December
31, 2017;
ϮϬϭϳ͖
 KĨĨŝĐĞ

dŚĞĨŽůůŽǁŝŶŐƚĂďůĞƌĞƉƌĞƐĞŶƚƐƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐĐůĂƐƐŝĨŝĞĚĂƐWƌŽƉĞƌƚǇĂŶĚƋƵŝƉŵĞŶƚ͕ĂƐŽĨĞĐĞŵďĞƌϯϭ͕ϮϬϭϳ͖



ϮϬϭϳ 
ZĞƚĂŝů
ϭϬϬ͘Ϭй
ϵϱ͘ϭй
ϮϬϭϳ



sĂůƵĞĂƚϯϭͲĞĐͲϭϳ
tĞŝŐŚƚĞĚǀĞƌĂŐĞΎΎ
ϵϴ͘ϱй
sĂůƵĞĂƚϯϭͲĞĐͲϭϳ
ηŽĨWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ

ηŽĨWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ
ϮϬϭϳ

ΨE
ΨE
ΎKĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇƌĂƚĞƐĂƌĞĐĂůĐƵůĂƚĞĚŽŶĂƉĞƌŵĞƚĞƌďĂƐŝƐ͖
sĂůƵĞĂƚϯϭͲĞĐͲϭϳ
ΎΎtĞŝŐŚƚĞĚǀĞƌĂŐĞŝƐĐĂůĐƵůĂƚĞĚďĂƐĞĚŽŶƚŽƚĂůŵĞƚĞƌƐĂǀĂŝůĂďůĞĨŽƌůĞĂƐĞ
KĨĨŝĐĞ
ϭ
ϭ͕ϱϳϲ͕ϳϰϰ
ZĞƐŝĚĞŶƚŝĂů
Ͳ
Ͳ

ηŽĨWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ
ΨE


ZĞƚĂŝů
KĨĨŝĐĞ

Ͳ

Ͳ

Ͳ Ͳ

ϵϭ͘Ϭй

ηŽĨWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ
ηŽĨWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ

ϭ Ͳ
ηŽĨWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ
Ͳ Ͳ

ϵϭ͘ϳй

ϮϬϭϲ
ϴϰ͘ϰй
ϮϬϭϲ
ϴϳ͘ϰй
sĂůƵĞĂƚϯϭͲĞĐͲϭϲ
ϮϬϭϲ
ΨE

sĂůƵĞĂƚϯϭͲĞĐͲϭϲ
ϭ͕ϲϳϮ͕ϲϰϱͲ
ΨE

Ͳ

KĨĨŝĐĞ
ϭ
ϭ͕ϲϳϮ͕ϲϰϱ
Demand
for retail space has remained ϭͲstrong,
despite aϭ͕ϱϳϲ͕ϳϰϰ
difficult
for the Corporation’s
>ĂŶĚĂŶĚZĞĚĞǀĞůŽƉŵĞŶƚ
Ͳ Ͳeconomy. Occupancy
Ͳ levels
Ͳ
ZĞƚĂŝů
Ͳ
Ͳ
ZĞƚĂŝů
Ͳ ϮΎ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
ŽĨĨŝĐĞƐƉĂĐĞ͕ĞǆĐůƵĚŝŶŐŝƚƐŚĞĂĚƋƵĂƌƚĞƌƐďƵŝůĚŝŶŐ͕ĐŽŶƚŝŶƵĞĚƚŽŝŵƉƌŽǀĞƚŚƌŽƵŐŚŽƵƚƚŚĞǇĞĂƌĞǀĞŶǁŚŝůĞǀĂĐĂŶĐǇůĞǀĞůƐ
dŽƚĂů
ϭ
ϭ͕ϱϳϲ͕ϳϰϰ
ϭ
ϭ͕ϲϳϮ͕ϲϰϱ
>ĂŶĚĂŶĚZĞĚĞǀĞůŽƉŵĞŶƚ
Ϯϴϱ͕ϮϵϬ
ϭΎ
ϰϮ͕ϳϱϵ
>ĂŶĚĂŶĚZĞĚĞǀĞůŽƉŵĞŶƚ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
 dŽƚĂů
Ϯ
Ϯϴϱ͕ϮϵϬ
ϭ
ϰϮ͕ϳϱϵ
ƚŚƌŽƵŐŚŽƵƚ
ƚŚĞĐŝƚǇŚĂǀĞ ƌĞŵĂŝŶĞĚŚŝŐŚĂƐĂĚĚŝƚŝŽŶĂůƐƵƉƉůǇŚĂƐĞŶƚĞƌĞĚƚŚĞŵĂƌŬĞƚ͘
Tuguldur
dŽƚĂů
ϭ
ϭ͕ϱϳϲ͕ϳϰϰ
ϭ The Corporation’s ϭ͕ϲϳϮ͕ϲϰϱ
ΎdŚŝƐůĂŶĚĂƐƐĞƚŝƐƉĂƌƚŽĨŽŶĞŽĨƚŚĞůĂŶĚƉĂĐŬĂŐĞƐŽƵƚůŝŶĞĚŝŶƚŚĞ/ŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐƐĞĐƚŝŽŶĂŶĚŝƐŶŽƚĂƐƚĂŶĚĂůŽŶĞůĂŶĚƉĂĐŬĂŐĞ͘
Other
Assets/ Prepaid Deposits
ĞŶƚĞƌŚĂƐĞǆƉĞƌŝĞŶĐĞĚĂĐŽŶƚŝŶƵĞĚŝŵƉƌŽǀĞŵĞŶƚŝŶŽĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇƚŚƌŽƵŐŚŽƵƚƚŚĞǇĞĂƌĂŶĚĞŶĚĞĚƚŚĞǇĞĂƌǁŝƚŚĂǀĞƌĂŐĞ
KƚŚĞƌƐƐĞƚƐͬWƌĞƉĂŝĚĞƉŽƐŝƚƐ

ǁĞĞŬůǇŽĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇŽĨŽǀĞƌϵϱйĐŽŵƉĂƌĞĚƚŽŵƵĐŚůŽǁĞƌƌĂƚĞƐŝŶƉƌĞǀŝŽƵƐǇĞĂƌƐ͘DĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚĂƚƚƌŝďƵƚĞƐŝƚƐƐƵĐĐĞƐƐ
/ŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚƉƌŽƉĞƌƚǇƉƵƌĐŚĂƐĞƐǁŚĞƌĞƚŚĞ ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶŚĂƐƉĂŝĚĞŝƚŚĞƌƚŚĞĨƵůůŽƌƉĂƌƚŝĂůƉƵƌĐŚĂƐĞƉƌŽĐĞĞĚƐƚŽƚŚĞ
KƚŚĞƌƐƐĞƚƐͬWƌĞƉĂŝĚĞƉŽƐŝƚƐ
Investment
property purchases where the Corporation has paid either the full or partial purchase proceeds to the seller, but the
KĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇZĂƚĞƐ
ƚŚƌŽƵŐŚŽƵƚƚŚĞƉŽƌƚĨŽůŝŽƚŽŝŶĐƌĞĂƐĞĚŵĂƌŬĞƚŝŶŐŝŶŝƚŝĂƚŝǀĞƐ͕ŝŶĚƵƐƚƌǇůĞĂĚŝŶŐƉƌŽƉĞƌƚǇŵĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚĂŶĚƌĞĂůŝƐƚŝĐƉƌŝĐĞ
ƐĞůůĞƌ͕ďƵƚƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶŚĂƐŶŽƚǇĞƚƌĞĐĞŝǀĞĚƚŚĞŽĨĨŝĐŝĂůůĂŶĚŽƌďƵŝůĚŝŶŐƚŝƚůĞĨƌŽŵƚŚĞDŽŶŐŽůŝĂŶWƌŽƉĞƌƚǇŽĨĨŝĐĞ͕
Corporation
has not yetƉƌŽƉĞƌƚǇƉŽƌƚĨŽůŝŽŽĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇƌĂƚĞƐŝƐƐĞƚĨŽƌƚŚŝŶƚŚĞĨŽůůŽǁŝŶŐƚĂďůĞ͗
received the official land
or building title from the Mongolian Property office, are recorded at cost as
/ŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚƉƌŽƉĞƌƚǇƉƵƌĐŚĂƐĞƐǁŚĞƌĞƚŚĞ
ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶŚĂƐƉĂŝĚĞŝƚŚĞƌƚŚĞĨƵůůŽƌƉĂƌƚŝĂůƉƵƌĐŚĂƐĞƉƌŽĐĞĞĚƐƚŽƚŚĞ
ƐƵŵŵĂƌǇŽĨMGG’s
ĞǆƉĞĐƚĂƚŝŽŶƐ͘
ĂƌĞƌĞĐŽƌĚĞĚĂƚĐŽƐƚĂƐWƌĞƉĂŝĚĞƉŽƐŝƚƐŽŶ/ŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐĂŶĚĐůĂƐƐŝĨŝĞĚǁŝƚŚŝŶŽƚŚĞƌĂƐƐĞƚƐ͘
dŚĞĨŽůůŽǁŝŶŐƚĂďůĞƌĞƉƌĞƐĞŶƚƐƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐĐůĂƐƐŝĨŝĞĚĂƐWƌĞƉĂŝĚĞƉŽƐŝƚƐŽŶ/ŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ͕ĂƐŽĨĞĐĞŵďĞƌϯϭ͕
Prepaid
Deposits
on
Investment
Properties
and
classified
within other assets.
ƐĞůůĞƌ͕ďƵƚƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶŚĂƐŶŽƚǇĞƚƌĞĐĞŝǀĞĚƚŚĞŽĨĨŝĐŝĂůůĂŶĚŽƌďƵŝůĚŝŶŐƚŝƚůĞĨƌŽŵƚŚĞDŽŶŐŽůŝĂŶWƌŽƉĞƌƚǇŽĨĨŝĐĞ͕
dŚĞĨŽůůŽǁŝŶŐƚĂďůĞƌĞƉƌĞƐĞŶƚƐƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐĐůĂƐƐŝĨŝĞĚĂƐWƌĞƉĂŝĚĞƉŽƐŝƚƐŽŶ/ŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ͕ĂƐŽĨĞĐĞŵďĞƌϯϭ͕
ϮϬϭϳ͖
ĂƌĞƌĞĐŽƌĚĞĚĂƚĐŽƐƚĂƐWƌĞƉĂŝĚĞƉŽƐŝƚƐŽŶ/ŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐĂŶĚĐůĂƐƐŝĨŝĞĚǁŝƚŚŝŶŽƚŚĞƌĂƐƐĞƚƐ͘
ϯϭ–ĞĐͲϮϬϭϳ
ϯϭ–ĞĐͲϮϬϭϲ
The
as Prepaid Deposits on Investment
Properties, as of Decemberϯϭ–ĞĐͲϮϬϭϱ
31, 2017;
ϮϬϭϳ͖
  following table represents properties
 classified
>ĞĂƐŝŶŐ^ĐŚĞĚƵůĞ


ϮϬϭϳ 
ϮϬϭϲ

KĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇZĂƚĞΎ
KĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇZĂƚĞΎ
KĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇZĂƚĞΎ


ϮϬϭϳ 
ϮϬϭϲ
In
order
to
reduce
the
Corporation’s
ĞǆƉŽƐƵƌĞƚŽĐƵƌƌĞŶĐǇĨůƵĐƚƵĂƚŝŽŶƐĂŶĚŝŶĨůĂƚŝŽŶ͕ƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶƚĂƌŐĞƚƐƐŚŽƌƚĞƌ
sĂůƵĞĂƚϯϭͲĞĐͲϭϳ
sĂůƵĞĂƚϯϭͲĞĐͲϭϲ
 KĨĨŝĐĞ

ηŽĨWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ
ηŽĨWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ

sĂůƵĞĂƚϯϭͲĞĐͲϭϳ
ϵϳ͘Ϯй
ϴϰ͘ϵй
ϵϭ͘ϳй
ΨE
ΨE
ηŽĨWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ
ηŽĨWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ

lease
durations with most tenants.
Management’s
experience
is that this practice
is in line with sĂůƵĞĂƚϯϭͲĞĐͲϭϲ
local industry
ΨE
ΨE
ZĞƐŝĚĞŶƚŝĂů
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
ZĞƚĂŝů
ϭϬϬ͘Ϭй
ϵϱ͘ϭй
ϴϰ͘ϰйͲ
ƐƚĂŶĚĂƌĚƐ͕ǁŝƚŚƚŚĞĞǆƉĞĐƚĂƚŝŽŶƚŚĂƚŽŶĐĞůĞĂƐĞƐĞǆƉŝƌĞ͕ĞǆŝƐƚŝŶŐƚĞŶĂŶƚƐĂƌĞŽĨĨĞƌĞĚƚŚĞĨŝƌƐƚ
ƌŝŐŚƚ ƚŽƌĞͲůĞĂƐĞƚŚĞ
ZĞƐŝĚĞŶƚŝĂů
ͲͲ
ͲͲ
Ͳ
ͲͲ
KĨĨŝĐĞ
Ͳ
tĞŝŐŚƚĞĚǀĞƌĂŐĞΎΎ
ϵϴ͘ϱй
ϵϭ͘Ϭй
ϴϳ͘ϰй
ƐƉĂĐĞĂƚƚŚĞŶƉƌĞǀĂŝůŝŶŐŵĂƌŬĞƚƌĂƚĞƐ͘
KĨĨŝĐĞ
ͲͲ
ͲͲ
Ͳ
ͲͲ
ZĞƚĂŝů
Ͳ
ΎKĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇƌĂƚĞƐĂƌĞĐĂůĐƵůĂƚĞĚŽŶĂƉĞƌŵĞƚĞƌďĂƐŝƐ͖
ZĞƚĂŝů
Ͳ
>ĂŶĚĂŶĚZĞĚĞǀĞůŽƉŵĞŶƚ
ϮΎ
ΎΎtĞŝŐŚƚĞĚǀĞƌĂŐĞŝƐĐĂůĐƵůĂƚĞĚďĂƐĞĚŽŶƚŽƚĂůŵĞƚĞƌƐĂǀĂŝůĂďůĞĨŽƌůĞĂƐĞ

Ͳ
Ͳ
Ϯϴϱ͕ϮϵϬ
ϭΎ
ϮΎ
Ϯϴϱ͕ϮϵϬ
ϭΎ
Ϯ
Ϯϴϱ͕ϮϵϬ
ϭ
dŽƚĂů
Ϯ
Ϯϴϱ͕ϮϵϬ
ϭ
ΎdŚŝƐůĂŶĚĂƐƐĞƚŝƐƉĂƌƚŽĨŽŶĞŽĨƚŚĞůĂŶĚƉĂĐŬĂŐĞƐŽƵƚůŝŶĞĚŝŶƚŚĞ/ŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐƐĞĐƚŝŽŶĂŶĚŝƐŶŽƚĂƐƚĂŶĚĂůŽŶĞůĂŶĚƉĂĐŬĂŐĞ͘

>ĂŶĚĂŶĚZĞĚĞǀĞůŽƉŵĞŶƚ
dŽƚĂů
 ϭϬϬ͘ϬϬй

Ͳ
ϰϮ͕ϳϱϵ
ϰϮ͕ϳϱϵ
ϰϮ͕ϳϱϵ
ϰϮ͕ϳϱϵ

Demand for retail space has remained strong, despite a difficult economy. Occupancy levels for the Corporation’s
ŽĨĨŝĐĞƐƉĂĐĞ͕ĞǆĐůƵĚŝŶŐŝƚƐŚĞĂĚƋƵĂƌƚĞƌƐďƵŝůĚŝŶŐ͕ĐŽŶƚŝŶƵĞĚƚŽŝŵƉƌŽǀĞƚŚƌŽƵŐŚŽƵƚƚŚĞǇĞĂƌĞǀĞŶǁŚŝůĞǀĂĐĂŶĐǇůĞǀĞůƐ

KĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇZĂƚĞƐ
ƚŚƌŽƵŐŚŽƵƚ
ƚŚĞĐŝƚǇŚĂǀĞ ƌĞŵĂŝŶĞĚŚŝŐŚĂƐĂĚĚŝƚŝŽŶĂůƐƵƉƉůǇŚĂƐĞŶƚĞƌĞĚƚŚĞŵĂƌŬĞƚ͘
The LTD.,
Corporation’s
Tuguldur
MONGOLIA GROWTH GROUP
Q4 2017 MD&A
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ϲϬ͘ϬϬй
Occupancy
Rates
KĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇZĂƚĞƐ
ZĞƚĂŝů
ƐƵŵŵĂƌǇŽĨMGG’s ƉƌŽƉĞƌƚǇƉŽƌƚĨŽůŝŽŽĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇƌĂƚĞƐŝƐƐĞƚĨŽƌƚŚŝŶƚŚĞĨŽůůŽǁŝŶŐƚĂďůĞ͗
ĞŶƚĞƌŚĂƐĞǆƉĞƌŝĞŶĐĞĚĂĐŽŶƚŝŶƵĞĚŝŵƉƌŽǀĞŵĞŶƚŝŶŽĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇƚŚƌŽƵŐŚŽƵƚƚŚĞǇĞĂƌĂŶĚĞŶĚĞĚƚŚĞǇĞĂƌǁŝƚŚĂǀĞƌĂŐĞ
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ƐƵŵŵĂƌǇŽĨMGG’s
ƉƌŽƉĞƌƚǇƉŽƌƚĨŽůŝŽŽĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇƌĂƚĞƐŝƐƐĞƚĨŽƌƚŚŝŶƚŚĞĨŽůůŽǁŝŶŐƚĂďůĞ͗
KĨĨŝĐĞ
 summary
ϰϬ͘ϬϬй of MGG’s property portfolio occupancy rates is set forth in the following table:
AǁĞĞŬůǇŽĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇŽĨŽǀĞƌϵϱйĐŽŵƉĂƌĞĚƚŽŵƵĐŚůŽǁĞƌƌĂƚĞƐŝŶƉƌĞǀŝŽƵƐǇĞĂƌƐ͘DĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚĂƚƚƌŝďƵƚĞƐŝƚƐƐƵĐĐĞƐƐ
 
ϯϭ–ĞĐͲϮϬϭϳ
ϯϭ–ĞĐͲϮϬϭϲ
ϯϭ–ĞĐͲϮϬϭϱ
ZĞĚĞǀĞůŽƉŵĞŶƚ
ƚŚƌŽƵŐŚŽƵƚƚŚĞƉŽƌƚĨŽůŝŽƚŽŝŶĐƌĞĂƐĞĚŵĂƌŬĞƚŝŶŐŝŶŝƚŝĂƚŝǀĞƐ͕ŝŶĚƵƐƚƌǇůĞĂĚŝŶŐƉƌŽƉĞƌƚǇŵĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚĂŶĚƌĞĂůŝƐƚŝĐƉƌŝĐĞ

ϯϭ–ĞĐͲϮϬϭϳ
ϯϭ–ĞĐͲϮϬϭϲ
ϯϭ–ĞĐͲϮϬϭϱ
ϮϬ͘ϬϬй

KĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇZĂƚĞΎ
KĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇZĂƚĞΎ
KĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇZĂƚĞΎ
ĞǆƉĞĐƚĂƚŝŽŶƐ͘

KĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇZĂƚĞΎ
KĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇZĂƚĞΎ
KĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇZĂƚĞΎ
*ΎdŚŝƐůĂŶĚĂƐƐĞƚŝƐƉĂƌƚŽĨŽŶĞŽĨƚŚĞůĂŶĚƉĂĐŬĂŐĞƐŽƵƚůŝŶĞĚŝŶƚŚĞ/ŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐƐĞĐƚŝŽŶĂŶĚŝƐŶŽƚĂƐƚĂŶĚĂůŽŶĞůĂŶĚƉĂĐŬĂŐĞ͘
land asset is part of one of the land packages outlined in the Investment Properties section and is not a standalone land package.
ϴϬ͘ϬϬй
This

KĨĨŝĐĞ

ϵϳ͘Ϯй
ϴϰ͘ϵй
ϵϭ͘ϳй
ϵϳ͘Ϯй
ϴϰ͘ϵй
ϵϭ͘ϳй
ϭϬϬ͘Ϭй
ϵϱ͘ϭй
ϴϰ͘ϰй
ϮϬϭϵϭϬϬ͘Ϭй
ϮϬϮϬ
ZĞƚĂŝů
ϵϱ͘ϭй
ϴϰ͘ϰй
IntĞŝŐŚƚĞĚǀĞƌĂŐĞΎΎ
order to reduce the Corporation’s ĞǆƉŽƐƵƌĞƚŽĐƵƌƌĞŶĐǇĨůƵĐƚƵĂƚŝŽŶƐĂŶĚŝŶĨůĂƚŝŽŶ͕ƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶƚĂƌŐĞƚƐƐŚŽƌƚĞƌ
ϵϴ͘ϱй
ϵϭ͘Ϭй
ϴϳ͘ϰй
tĞŝŐŚƚĞĚǀĞƌĂŐĞΎΎ
ϵϴ͘ϱй
ϵϭ͘Ϭй is in line with local industry
ϴϳ͘ϰй
ΎKĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇƌĂƚĞƐĂƌĞĐĂůĐƵůĂƚĞĚŽŶĂƉĞƌŵĞƚĞƌďĂƐŝƐ͖
*lease
Occupancy
rates are calculated
a per meter
basis;
durations
with onmost
tenants.
Management’s
experience is that this practice

Ϭ͘ϬϬй

KĨĨŝĐĞ
>ĞĂƐŝŶŐ^ĐŚĞĚƵůĞ
ZĞƚĂŝů
ϮϬϭϴ

ΎKĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇƌĂƚĞƐĂƌĞĐĂůĐƵůĂƚĞĚŽŶĂƉĞƌŵĞƚĞƌďĂƐŝƐ͖
ΎΎtĞŝŐŚƚĞĚǀĞƌĂŐĞŝƐĐĂůĐƵůĂƚĞĚďĂƐĞĚŽŶƚŽƚĂůŵĞƚĞƌƐĂǀĂŝůĂďůĞĨŽƌůĞĂƐĞ
**
Weighted Average is calculated based on total meters available for lease

ƐƚĂŶĚĂƌĚƐ͕ǁŝƚŚƚŚĞĞǆƉĞĐƚĂƚŝŽŶƚŚĂƚŽŶĐĞůĞĂƐĞƐĞǆƉŝƌĞ͕ĞǆŝƐƚŝŶŐƚĞŶĂŶƚƐĂƌĞŽĨĨĞƌĞĚƚŚĞĨŝƌƐƚ
ƌŝŐŚƚ ƚŽƌĞͲůĞĂƐĞƚŚĞ
ΎΎtĞŝŐŚƚĞĚǀĞƌĂŐĞŝƐĐĂůĐƵůĂƚĞĚďĂƐĞĚŽŶƚŽƚĂůŵĞƚĞƌƐĂǀĂŝůĂďůĞĨŽƌůĞĂƐĞ


ƐƉĂĐĞĂƚƚŚĞŶƉƌĞǀĂŝůŝŶŐŵĂƌŬĞƚƌĂƚĞƐ͘

Demand
space
hashas
remained
strong,
despite
a difficult
economy.
Occupancy
levels for the
Corporation’s
office space,
Demandfor
forretail
retail
space
remained
strong,
despite
a difficult
economy.
Occupancy
levels
for the Corporation’s
excluding
its
headquarters
building,
continued
to improve
throughout
the
year even
while vacancy
levels
throughout
the city
dŚĞǁĞŝŐŚƚĞĚĂǀĞƌĂŐĞƌĞŵĂŝŶŝŶŐůĞĂƐĞůĞŶŐƚŚĚĞĐƌĞĂƐĞĚƐůŝŐŚƚůǇƚŽϭϬ͘ϴŵŽŶƚŚƐŝŶĞĐĞŵďĞƌϮϬϭϳĐŽŵƉĂƌĞĚƚŽϭϬ͘ϵ
Demand
for
retail
space
has
remained
strong,
despite
a
difficult
economy.
Occupancy
levels
for
the
Corporation’s
ŽĨĨŝĐĞƐƉĂĐĞ͕ĞǆĐůƵĚŝŶŐŝƚƐŚĞĂĚƋƵĂƌƚĞƌƐďƵŝůĚŝŶŐ͕ĐŽŶƚŝŶƵĞĚƚŽŝŵƉƌŽǀĞƚŚƌŽƵŐŚŽƵƚƚŚĞǇĞĂƌĞǀĞŶǁŚŝůĞǀĂĐĂŶĐǇůĞǀĞůƐ
have
remained
high
as
additional
supply
has
entered
the
market.
The
Corporation’s
Tuguldur
Center
has
experienced
a
continued
ŵŽŶƚŚƐŝŶĞĐĞŵďĞƌϮϬϭϲ͕ĐĂůĐƵůĂƚĞĚĂƐĂƉĞƌĐĞŶƚĂŐĞŽĨŵŽŶƚŚůǇƌĞǀĞŶƵĞƐ͘
ŽĨĨŝĐĞƐƉĂĐĞ͕ĞǆĐůƵĚŝŶŐŝƚƐŚĞĂĚƋƵĂƌƚĞƌƐďƵŝůĚŝŶŐ͕ĐŽŶƚŝŶƵĞĚƚŽŝŵƉƌŽǀĞƚŚƌŽƵŐŚŽƵƚƚŚĞǇĞĂƌĞǀĞŶǁŚŝůĞǀĂĐĂŶĐǇůĞǀĞůƐ
ϭϬϬ͘ϬϬй
ƚŚƌŽƵŐŚŽƵƚ
ƚŚĞĐŝƚǇŚĂǀĞ
ƌĞŵĂŝŶĞĚŚŝŐŚĂƐĂĚĚŝƚŝŽŶĂůƐƵƉƉůǇŚĂƐĞŶƚĞƌĞĚƚŚĞŵĂƌŬĞƚ͘
The Corporation’s
Tuguldur
improvement
in occupancy throughout
the year and ended the year with average weekly occupancy
of over 95% compared
ƚŚƌŽƵŐŚŽƵƚ ƚŚĞĐŝƚǇŚĂǀĞ
ƌĞŵĂŝŶĞĚŚŝŐŚĂƐĂĚĚŝƚŝŽŶĂůƐƵƉƉůǇŚĂƐĞŶƚĞƌĞĚƚŚĞŵĂƌŬĞƚ͘
The Corporation’s
Tuguldur
ĞŶƚĞƌŚĂƐĞǆƉĞƌŝĞŶĐĞĚĂĐŽŶƚŝŶƵĞĚŝŵƉƌŽǀĞŵĞŶƚŝŶŽĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇƚŚƌŽƵŐŚŽƵƚƚŚĞǇĞĂƌĂŶĚĞŶĚĞĚƚŚĞǇĞĂƌǁŝƚŚĂǀĞƌĂŐĞ
to
much
lower
rates
in
previous
years.
Management
attributes
its
success
throughout
the
portfolio
to
increased
marketing
ϴϬ͘ϬϬй
ĞŶƚĞƌŚĂƐĞǆƉĞƌŝĞŶĐĞĚĂĐŽŶƚŝŶƵĞĚŝŵƉƌŽǀĞŵĞŶƚŝŶŽĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇƚŚƌŽƵŐŚŽƵƚƚŚĞǇĞĂƌĂŶĚĞŶĚĞĚƚŚĞǇĞĂƌǁŝƚŚĂǀĞƌĂŐĞ
initiatives,
industry leading property management and realistic price expectations.
ǁĞĞŬůǇŽĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇŽĨŽǀĞƌϵϱйĐŽŵƉĂƌĞĚƚŽŵƵĐŚůŽǁĞƌƌĂƚĞƐŝŶƉƌĞǀŝŽƵƐǇĞĂƌƐ͘DĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚĂƚƚƌŝďƵƚĞƐŝƚƐƐƵĐĐĞƐƐ
ǁĞĞŬůǇŽĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇŽĨŽǀĞƌϵϱйĐŽŵƉĂƌĞĚƚŽŵƵĐŚůŽǁĞƌƌĂƚĞƐŝŶƉƌĞǀŝŽƵƐǇĞĂƌƐ͘DĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚĂƚƚƌŝďƵƚĞƐŝƚƐƐƵĐĐĞƐƐ
ƚŚƌŽƵŐŚŽƵƚƚŚĞƉŽƌƚĨŽůŝŽƚŽŝŶĐƌĞĂƐĞĚŵĂƌŬĞƚŝŶŐŝŶŝƚŝĂƚŝǀĞƐ͕ŝŶĚƵƐƚƌǇůĞĂĚŝŶŐƉƌŽƉĞƌƚǇŵĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚĂŶĚƌĞĂůŝƐƚŝĐƉƌŝĐĞ
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ϲϬ͘ϬϬй
ZĞƚĂŝů
ƚŚƌŽƵŐŚŽƵƚƚŚĞƉŽƌƚĨŽůŝŽƚŽŝŶĐƌĞĂƐĞĚŵĂƌŬĞƚŝŶŐŝŶŝƚŝĂƚŝǀĞƐ͕ŝŶĚƵƐƚƌǇůĞĂĚŝŶŐƉƌŽƉĞƌƚǇŵĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚĂŶĚƌĞĂůŝƐƚŝĐƉƌŝĐĞ
ĞǆƉĞĐƚĂƚŝŽŶƐ͘
KĨĨŝĐĞ
ĞǆƉĞĐƚĂƚŝŽŶƐ͘
ϰϬ͘ϬϬй

9
Mongolia Growth Group LtdZĞĚĞǀĞůŽƉŵĞŶƚ
|
>ĞĂƐŝŶŐ^ĐŚĞĚƵůĞ
ϮϬ͘ϬϬй
>ĞĂƐŝŶŐ^ĐŚĞĚƵůĞ
In order to reduce the Corporation’s ĞǆƉŽƐƵƌĞƚŽĐƵƌƌĞŶĐǇĨůƵĐƚƵĂƚŝŽŶƐĂŶĚŝŶĨůĂƚŝŽŶ͕ƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶƚĂƌŐĞƚƐƐŚŽƌƚĞƌ

In
order
to reduce
the most
Corporation’s
lease
durations
with
tenants. ĞǆƉŽƐƵƌĞƚŽĐƵƌƌĞŶĐǇĨůƵĐƚƵĂƚŝŽŶƐĂŶĚŝŶĨůĂƚŝŽŶ͕ƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶƚĂƌŐĞƚƐƐŚŽƌƚĞƌ
Management’s experience is that this practice is in line with local industry
Ϭ͘ϬϬй

ǁĞĞŬůǇŽĐĐƵƉĂŶĐǇŽĨŽǀĞƌϵϱйĐŽŵƉĂƌĞĚƚŽŵƵĐŚůŽǁĞƌƌĂƚĞƐŝŶƉƌĞǀŝŽƵƐǇĞĂƌƐ͘DĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚĂƚƚƌŝďƵƚĞƐŝƚƐƐƵĐĐĞƐƐ
ƚŚƌŽƵŐŚŽƵƚƚŚĞƉŽƌƚĨŽůŝŽƚŽŝŶĐƌĞĂƐĞĚŵĂƌŬĞƚŝŶŐŝŶŝƚŝĂƚŝǀĞƐ͕ŝŶĚƵƐƚƌǇůĞĂĚŝŶŐƉƌŽƉĞƌƚǇŵĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚĂŶĚƌĞĂůŝƐƚŝĐƉƌŝĐĞ
ĞǆƉĞĐƚĂƚŝŽŶƐ͘

>ĞĂƐŝŶŐ^ĐŚĞĚƵůĞ

Leasing
In order Schedule
to reduce the Corporation’s ĞǆƉŽƐƵƌĞƚŽĐƵƌƌĞŶĐǇĨůƵĐƚƵĂƚŝŽŶƐĂŶĚŝŶĨůĂƚŝŽŶ͕ƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶƚĂƌŐĞƚƐƐŚŽƌƚĞƌ

lease
most tenants.exposure
Management’s
experience
is that
this practice
is in line with
local
industry
In
orderdurations
to reducewith
the Corporation’s
to currency
fluctuations
and inflation,
the Corporation
targets
shorter
lease
durations
with most tenants. Management’s experience is that this practice is in line with local industry
standards,
with the
ƐƚĂŶĚĂƌĚƐ͕ǁŝƚŚƚŚĞĞǆƉĞĐƚĂƚŝŽŶƚŚĂƚŽŶĐĞůĞĂƐĞƐĞǆƉŝƌĞ͕ĞǆŝƐƚŝŶŐƚĞŶĂŶƚƐĂƌĞŽĨĨĞƌĞĚƚŚĞĨŝƌƐƚ
ƌŝŐŚƚ
ƚŽƌĞͲůĞĂƐĞƚŚĞ
expectation
that once leases expire, existing tenants are offered the first right to re-lease the space at then prevailing market
ƐƉĂĐĞĂƚƚŚĞŶƉƌĞǀĂŝůŝŶŐŵĂƌŬĞƚƌĂƚĞƐ͘
rates.
ϭϬϬ͘ϬϬй
ϴϬ͘ϬϬй
ϲϬ͘ϬϬй

ZĞƚĂŝů
KĨĨŝĐĞ

ϰϬ͘ϬϬй

ZĞĚĞǀĞůŽƉŵĞŶƚ

ϮϬ͘ϬϬй
Ϭ͘ϬϬй




ϮϬϭϴ

ϮϬϭϵ

ϮϬϮϬ



The
weighted average remaining lease length decreased slightly to 10.8 months in December 2017 compared to 10.9 months in
dŚĞǁĞŝŐŚƚĞĚĂǀĞƌĂŐĞƌĞŵĂŝŶŝŶŐůĞĂƐĞůĞŶŐƚŚĚĞĐƌĞĂƐĞĚƐůŝŐŚƚůǇƚŽϭϬ͘ϴŵŽŶƚŚƐŝŶĞĐĞŵďĞƌϮϬϭϳĐŽŵƉĂƌĞĚƚŽϭϬ͘ϵ
December
2016, calculated as a percentage of monthly revenues.
ŵŽŶƚŚƐŝŶĞĐĞŵďĞƌϮϬϭϲ͕ĐĂůĐƵůĂƚĞĚĂƐĂƉĞƌĐĞŶƚĂŐĞŽĨŵŽŶƚŚůǇƌĞǀĞŶƵĞƐ͘

DŽƐƚZĞĐĞŶƚZĞƚĂŝů>ĞĂƐĞ^ŝŐŶŝŶŐƐ



>ĞĂƐĞdǇƉĞ

>ĞĂƐĞZĞŶĞǁĂů
ĂƚĞ

^ƋD

KĨĨŝĐĞůĞĂƐĞ
ZĞƚĂŝůůĞĂƐĞ
KĨĨŝĐĞůĞĂƐĞ
KĨĨŝĐĞůĞĂƐĞ
KĨĨŝĐĞůĞĂƐĞ
KĨĨŝĐĞůĞĂƐĞ
ZĞƚĂŝůůĞĂƐĞ
KĨĨŝĐĞůĞĂƐĞ
KĨĨŝĐĞůĞĂƐĞ
KĨĨŝĐĞůĞĂƐĞ
ZĞƚĂŝůůĞĂƐĞ
KĨĨŝĐĞůĞĂƐĞ
ZĞƚĂŝůůĞĂƐĞ
ZĞƚĂŝůůĞĂƐĞ
KĨĨŝĐĞůĞĂƐĞ
KĨĨŝĐĞůĞĂƐĞ
KĨĨŝĐĞůĞĂƐĞ
KĨĨŝĐĞůĞĂƐĞ
KĨĨŝĐĞůĞĂƐĞ
KĨĨŝĐĞůĞĂƐĞ

KĐƚͲϭϳ
KĐƚͲϭϳ
KĐƚͲϭϳ
KĐƚͲϭϳ
EŽǀͲϭϳ
EŽǀͲϭϳ
EŽǀͲϭϳ
EŽǀͲϭϳ
EŽǀͲϭϳ
EŽǀͲϭϳ
EŽǀͲϭϳ
EŽǀͲϭϳ
ĞĐͲϭϳ
ĞĐͲϭϳ
ĞĐͲϭϳ
ĞĐͲϭϳ
ĞĐͲϭϳ
ĞĐͲϭϳ
ĞĐͲϭϳ
ĞĐͲϭϳ

Ϯϭ
Ϯϴ
Ϯϭ
ϱϰ
ϰϬ
Ϯϭ
ϭϮϱ
Ϯϰ
Ϯϰ
ϰϰ
ϭϰϬ
ϰϵ
ϮϬϭ
ϭϭϬ
ϱϰ
ϯϭ
ϯϬ
ϱϱ
ϱϱ
ϴϰ

KůĚWƌŝĐĞWĞƌDĞƚĞƌ
;DŽŶŐŽůŝĂŶdƂŐƌƂŐͿ

EĞǁWƌŝĐĞWĞƌDĞƚĞƌ
;DŽŶŐŽůŝĂŶdƂŐƌƂŐͿ

Ϯϴ͕ϱϳϭ
Ϯϭ͕ϰϮϵ
Ϯϴ͕ϱϳϭ
ϮϬ͕ϯϳϬ
ϮϬ͕ϬϬϬ
Ϯϴ͕ϱϳϭ
ϰϮ͕ϭϲϵ
ϮϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϭϬ͕ϬϬϬ
Ϯϰ͕ϲϱϵ
ϯϳ͕ϳϰϭ
Ϯϳ͕ϬϬϬ
ϯϮ͕ϮϬϬ
ϰϬ͕ϵϬϵ
ϮϬ͕ϯϳϬ
ϯϱ͕ϬϬϬ
Ϯϴ͕ϬϬϬ
ϯϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϮϬ͕ϬϬϬ
Ϯϳ͕ϬϬϬ

ϮϬ͕ϬϬϬ
Ϯϭ͕ϰϮϵ
ϮϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϭϰ͕ϰϰϰ
ϮϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϮϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϰϮ͕ϭϲϵ
ϮϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϭϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϯϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϯϳ͕ϳϰϭ
Ϯϳ͕ϬϬϬ
ϯϮ͕ϮϬϬ
ϰϬ͕ϵϬϵ
ϮϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϯϬ͕ϬϬϬ
Ϯϴ͕ϬϬϬ
ϯϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϮϬ͕ϬϬϬ
Ϯϳ͕ϬϬϬ
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WĞƌĐĞŶƚ
/ŶĐƌĞĂƐĞ
MD&A
10
;ĚĞĐƌĞĂƐĞͿ
ͲϯϬ͘ϬϬй
Ϭ͘ϬϬй
ͲϯϬ͘ϬϬй
ͲϮϵ͘Ϭϵй
Ϭ͘ϬϬй
ͲϯϬ͘ϬϬй
Ϭ͘ϬϬй
Ϭ͘ϬϬй
Ϭ͘ϬϬй
Ϯϭ͘ϲϲй
Ϭ͘ϬϬй
Ϭ͘ϬϬй
Ϭ͘ϬϬй
Ϭ͘ϬϬй
Ͳϭ͘ϴϮй
Ͳϭϰ͘Ϯϵй
Ϭ͘ϬϬй
Ϭ͘ϬϬй
Ϭ͘ϬϬй
Ϭ͘ϬϬй

It is Management’s belief that some of the Corporation’s existing leases are at rates that are above current prevailing market rates.

ItWith
is Management’s
belief that
ƐŽŵĞŽĨthe
Corporation’s
ĞǆŝƐƚŝŶŐůĞĂƐĞƐĂƌĞĂƚƌĂƚĞƐƚŚĂƚĂƌĞĂďŽǀĞĐƵƌƌĞŶƚƉƌĞǀĂŝůŝŶŐ
the ongoing economic
crisis,
many companies
are suffering,
which is reflected in lower market rental rates in aggregate. It
is expected that the Corporation’s rental revenue may decline as leases are renewed at current market rates. Offsetting this fact,
ŵĂƌŬĞƚƌĂƚĞƐ͘tŝƚŚƚŚĞŽŶŐŽŝŶŐĞĐŽŶŽŵŝĐĐƌŝƐŝƐ͕ŵĂŶǇĐŽŵƉĂŶŝĞƐĂƌĞƐƵĨĨĞƌŝŶŐ͕ǁŚŝĐŚŝƐƌĞĨůĞĐƚĞĚŝŶůŽǁĞƌŵĂƌŬĞƚ
some of
the Corporation’s
werethat
signed
rates that did not
reflect
then current
marketas
rates.
rental
rates
in aggregate.prior
It is leases
expected
theatCorporation’s
rental
revenue
may decline
leases are renewed at
ĐƵƌƌĞŶƚŵĂƌŬĞƚƌĂƚĞƐ͘KĨĨƐĞƚƚŝŶŐƚŚŝƐĨĂĐƚ͕
ƐŽŵĞof the Corporation’s prior leases were signed at rates that did not
Publicly Traded Securities
ƌĞĨůĞĐƚƚŚĞŶĐƵƌƌĞŶƚŵĂƌŬĞƚƌĂƚĞƐ͘
During 2016 and 2017, one of the Corporation’s offshore subsidiaries purchased 45,000,000 shares (of which 19,000,000 were
purchased in 2016) of Mongolian Mining Corporation at an average cost of approximately 16.8 Hong Kong cents for a cost basis

WƵďůŝĐůǇdƌĂĚĞĚ^ĞĐƵƌŝƚŝĞƐ
of $1,219,932. As of the end of the year, the shares were worth $1,507,054 for a pre-tax gain of $287,121. However, as the share

price decreased
from
0.36 to
0.21ofHong
cents during
the year,subsidiaries
this investment
contributed
to the Corporation’s
unrealized
ƵƌŝŶŐ
ϮϬϭϲ ĂŶĚ
ϮϬϭϳ,
one
the Kong
Corporation’s
offshore
purchased
ϰϱ͕ϬϬϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ƐŚĂƌĞƐ ;ŽĨ
ǁŚŝĐŚ
loss
of
$371,197
during
period.
The
shares
were
purchased
for
investment
purposes
as
the
Corporation
remains
hopeful
that the
ϭϵ͕ϬϬϬ͕ϬϬϬǁĞƌĞƉƵƌĐŚĂƐĞĚŝŶϮϬϭϲͿŽĨDŽŶŐŽůŝĂŶDŝŶŝŶŐŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶĂƚĂŶĂǀĞƌĂŐĞĐŽƐƚŽĨĂƉƉƌŽǆŝŵĂƚĞůǇϭϲ͘ϴ,ŽŶŐ
shares will be worth substantially more should the Mongolian government approve the mega-projects currently in discussions.
<ŽŶŐĐĞŶƚƐĨŽƌŐƌŽƐƐƉƌŽĐĞĞĚƐŽĨΨϭ͕Ϯϭϵ͕ϵϯϮ͘ƐŽĨƚŚĞĞŶĚŽĨƚŚĞǇĞĂƌ͕ƚŚĞƐŚĂƌĞƐǁĞƌĞǁŽƌƚŚΨϭ͕ϱϬϳ͕ϬϱϰĨŽƌĂƉƌĞͲ
ƚĂǆŐĂŝŶŽĨΨϮϴϳ͕ϭϮϭ͘,ŽǁĞǀĞƌ͕ĂƐƚŚĞƐŚĂƌĞƉƌŝĐĞĚĞĐƌĞĂƐĞĚĨƌŽŵϬ͘ϯϲƚŽϬ͘Ϯϭ,ŽŶŐ<ŽŶŐĐĞŶƚƐĚƵƌŝŶŐƚŚĞǇĞĂƌ͕ƚŚŝƐ
ŝŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚĐŽŶƚƌŝďƵƚĞĚƚŽƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶ’s unrealized loss of $371,197 during period͘dŚĞƐŚĂƌĞƐǁĞƌĞƉƵƌĐŚĂƐĞĚ
ĨŽƌŝŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚƉƵƌƉŽƐĞƐĂƐƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶƌĞŵĂŝŶƐŚŽƉĞĨƵůƚŚĂƚƚŚĞƐŚĂƌĞƐǁŝůůďĞǁŽƌƚŚƐƵďƐƚĂŶƚŝĂůůǇŵŽƌĞƐŚŽƵůĚ
ƚŚĞ DŽŶŐŽůŝĂŶ
ŐŽǀĞƌŶŵĞŶƚ
ĂƉƉƌŽǀĞ
Growth Group
Ltd ƚŚĞ ŵĞŐĂͲƉƌŽũĞĐƚƐ ĐƵƌƌĞŶƚůǇ ŝŶ ĚŝƐĐƵƐƐŝŽŶƐ͘  DĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚ ŝƐ ĐŽŶƚŝŶƵŽƵƐůǇ
10 | Mongolia
ĞǀĂůƵĂƚŝŶŐƚŚĞƐŝƚƵĂƚŝŽŶĂŶĚƐŚŽƵůĚŝƚďĞĐŽŵĞĂƉƉĂƌĞŶƚƚŚĂƚƚŚĞŐŽǀĞƌŶŵĞŶƚǁŝůůŶŽƚďĞŐŽŝŶŐĂŚĞĂĚǁŝƚŚƚŚĞŵĞŐĂͲ
ƉƌŽũĞĐƚƐ͕ƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶǁŝůůůŝŬĞůǇƌĞĚƵĐĞŝƚƐŝŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚŝŶƚŚĞŽŵƉĂŶǇ͘

Management is continuously evaluating the situation and should it become apparent that the government will not be going
ahead with the mega-projects, the Corporation will likely reduce its investment in the Company.
In addition to its position in Mongolian Mining Corporation, as at December 31, 2017, the Corporation also held positions in 13
different publicly traded companies with unrealized gains of $124,329.
Additionally, the Corporation realized a gain of $63,809 from sales of public securities during the year. The Corporation anticipates
that its public security portfolio will experience volatility beyond the normal volatility of its property portfolio, especially due to
its large position in Mongolian Mining Corporation, and the timing of gains and losses is unpredictable.
The Corporation continues to evaluate various investment opportunities in globally traded public securities. The Corporation
views investment activities in public securities to be complimentary to its core property business and a potentially attractive use
for excess property sale proceeds. The Corporation intends to increase the size of its securities portfolio over time.
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^ĞĐƚŝŽŶϯ–ZĞƐƵůƚƐŽĨKƉĞƌĂƚŝŽŶƐ



Section 3 – Results of Operations
^ĞůĞĐƚĞĚŶŶƵĂů&ŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů/ŶĨŽƌŵĂƚŝŽŶ;Ϳ

Selected
Annual Financial Information (CAD)


dŽƚĂůZĞǀĞŶƵĞ
/ŶĐŽŵĞ
EĞƚ ůŽƐƐ ĂƚƚƌŝďƵƚĂďůĞ ƚŽ ĞƋƵŝƚǇ ŚŽůĚĞƌƐ ŽĨ ƚŚĞ
ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶ
dŽƚĂů ŽŵƉƌĞŚĞŶƐŝǀĞ ůŽƐƐ ĂƚƚƌŝďƵƚĂďůĞ ƚŽ ĞƋƵŝƚǇ
ŚŽůĚĞƌƐŽĨƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶ
ĂƐŝĐĞĂƌŶŝŶŐƐƉĞƌƐŚĂƌĞ;ΗW^ΗͿ;ŝŶͿ
EĞƚŝŶĐŽŵĞͬ;ůŽƐƐͿ

zĞĂƌĞŶĚĞĚ

zĞĂƌĞŶĚĞĚ

ϯϭͲĞĐͲϮϬϭϳ

ϯϭͲĞĐͲϮϬϭϲ

ϯϭͲĞĐͲϮϬϭϱ

ϭ͕ϳϳϮ͕ϮϰϮ


ϭ͕ϲϬϵ͕ϵϲϲ


ϭ͕ϵϰϳ͕ϱϬϴ

;ϯ͕Ϭϵϳ͕ϮϭϰͿ

;ϱ͕ϲϲϮ͕ϳϴϰͿ

;ϵ͕ϵϯϬ͕ϵϳϬͿ

;ϰ͕ϯϵϲ͕ϵϲϬͿ

;ϭϲ͕ϯϭϰ͕ϬϰϳͿ

;ϯ͕ϰϱϵ͕ϭϵϲͿ









;Ϭ͘ϬϵͿ


;Ϭ͘ϭϲͿ


;Ϭ͘ϮϴͿ

;Ϭ͘ϬϵͿ

;Ϭ͘ϭϲͿ

;Ϭ͘ϮϴͿ


ϯϰ͕ϱϭϭ͕Ϯϳϲ
ϭ͕ϵϳϴ͕ϴϯϲ
ϯϮ͕ϱϯϮ͕ϰϰϬ


ϱϬ͕ϴϭϱ͕ϭϳϬ
ϭ͕ϴϰϬ͕ϴϮϱ

dŽƚĂůƋƵŝƚǇ


Ϯϵ͕ϰϬϱ͕ϴϯϭ
ϭ͕ϲϰϵ͕Ϯϱϭ
Ϯϳ͕ϳϱϲ͕ϱϴϬ

^ŚĂƌĞƐKƵƚƐƚĂŶĚŝŶŐĂƚǇĞĂƌĞŶĚ
ŽŽŬsĂůƵĞƉĞƌƐŚĂƌĞ

ϯϯ͕ϲϵϲ͕ϱϵϵ
Ϭ͘ϴϯ

ϯϰ͕ϴϬϲ͕ϱϵϵ
Ϭ͘ϵϯ

ϯϱ͕ϱϭϮ͕ϴϮϵ
ϭ͘ϯϴ

ŝůƵƚĞĚW^;ŝŶͿ
EĞƚ/ŶĐŽŵĞͬ;ůŽƐƐͿ
ĂůĂŶĐĞ^ŚĞĞƚ
dŽƚĂůƐƐĞƚƐ
dŽƚĂůůŝĂďŝůŝƚŝĞƐ



zĞĂƌĞŶĚĞĚ



ϰϴ͕ϵϳϰ͕ϯϰϱ

Revenue from Investment Properties

ZĞǀĞŶƵĞĨƌŽŵ/ŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ

For the year end December 31, 2017, rental revenue from Investment Properties was $1,471,344 versus $1,783,896 in the prior
&ŽƌƚŚĞǇĞĂƌĞŶĚĞĐĞŵďĞƌϯϭ͕ϮϬϭϳ͕ƌĞŶƚĂůƌĞǀĞŶƵĞĨƌŽŵ/ŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐǁĂƐΨϭ͕ϰϳϭ͕ϯϰϰǀĞƌƐƵƐΨϭ͕ϳϴϯ͕ϴϵϲ
year. The decrease year over year was attributable to a combination of leases
being renewed at lower rates, fewer properties as
ŝŶƚŚĞƉƌŝŽƌǇĞĂƌ͘dŚĞĚĞĐƌĞĂƐĞǇĞĂƌŽǀĞƌǇĞĂƌǁĂƐĂƚƚƌŝďƵƚĂďůĞƚŽ
ĂĐŽŵďŝŶĂƚŝŽŶŽĨůĞĂƐĞƐďĞŝŶŐƌĞŶĞǁĞĚĂƚůŽǁĞƌ
well as a decrease in the local currency versus the Canadian dollar.
ƌĂƚĞƐ͕ĨĞǁĞƌƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐĂƐǁĞůůĂƐĂĚĞĐƌĞĂƐĞŝŶƚŚĞůŽĐĂůĐƵƌƌĞŶĐǇǀĞƌƐƵƐƚŚĞĂŶĂĚŝĂŶĚŽůůĂƌ͘

Gain/loss on sale of Investment Properties

'ĂŝŶͬůŽƐƐŽŶƐĂůĞŽĨ/ŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚWƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ
For the year end December 31, 2017, the Corporation reported a net gain of $247,200 on the sale of eight investment properties
versus a net loss of $223,532 in the prior year on the sale of four properties. The gain was primarily due to the sale of one of
&ŽƌƚŚĞǇĞĂƌĞŶĚĞĐĞŵďĞƌϯϭ͕ϮϬϭϳ͕ƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶƌĞƉŽƌƚĞĚĂŶĞƚŐĂŝŶŽĨΨϮϰϳ͕ϮϬϬŽŶƚŚĞƐĂůĞŽĨĞŝŐŚƚŝŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚ
the Corporation’s office buildings, which the Corporation sold as it found a buyer willing to purchase the asset at a significant
ƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐǀĞƌƐƵƐĂŶĞƚůŽƐƐŽĨΨϮϮϯ͕ϱϯϮŝŶƚŚĞƉƌŝŽƌǇĞĂƌŽŶƚŚĞƐĂůĞŽĨĨŽƵƌƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ͘dŚĞŐĂŝŶǁĂƐƉƌŝŵĂƌŝůǇĚƵĞ
premium
to its
ƚŽ
ƚŚĞ ƐĂůĞ
ŽĨfair
ŽŶĞmarket
ŽĨ ƚŚĞvalue.
ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶ’s ŽĨĨŝĐĞ ďƵŝůĚŝŶŐƐ͕ ǁŚŝĐŚ ƚŚĞ ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶ ƐŽůĚ ĂƐ ŝƚ ĨŽƵŶĚ Ă ďƵǇĞƌ ǁŝůůŝŶŐ ƚŽ
Revenue from Other Sources
ƉƵƌĐŚĂƐĞƚŚĞĂƐƐĞƚĂƚĂƐŝŐŶŝĨŝĐĂŶƚƉƌĞŵŝƵŵƚŽŝƚƐĨĂŝƌŵĂƌŬĞƚǀĂůƵĞ͘

Revenue from other sources consists of late fees and other income, principally the Corporation’s brokerage business. For the year

ZĞǀĞŶƵĞĨƌŽŵKƚŚĞƌ^ŽƵƌĐĞƐ
ending December 31, 2017, revenues from other sources totaled $53,698 compared to $49,602 for the year ending December
31, 2016. ĨƌŽŵ
Revenues
increased
dueĐŽŶƐŝƐƚƐ
an increase
its 3rd
party
business.principally the Corporation’s brokerage
ZĞǀĞŶƵĞ
ŽƚŚĞƌ
ƐŽƵƌĐĞƐ
ŽĨ in
ůĂƚĞ
ĨĞĞƐ
ĂŶĚbrokerage
ŽƚŚĞƌ ŝŶĐŽŵĞ,
ďƵƐŝŶĞƐƐ͘&ŽƌƚŚĞǇĞĂƌĞŶĚŝŶŐĞĐĞŵďĞƌϯϭ͕ϮϬϭϳ͕ƌĞǀĞŶƵĞƐĨƌŽŵŽƚŚĞƌƐŽƵƌĐĞƐƚŽƚĂůĞĚΨϱϯ͕ϲϵϴĐŽŵƉĂƌĞĚƚŽΨϰϵ͕ϲϬϮ
Income Taxes
ĨŽƌƚŚĞǇĞĂƌĞŶĚŝŶŐĞĐĞŵďĞƌϯϭ͕ϮϬϭϲ͘ZĞǀĞŶƵĞƐŝŶĐƌĞĂƐĞĚĚƵĞĂŶŝŶĐƌĞĂƐĞŝŶŝƚƐϯƌĚƉĂƌƚǇďƌŽŬĞƌĂŐĞďƵƐŝŶĞƐƐ͘

The Corporation has subsidiaries in Mongolia that are subject to income taxes and, accordingly, has provided for current and
deferred income taxes with respect to those subsidiaries.

/ŶĐŽŵĞdĂǆĞƐ

Differences
between
IFRS
and statutory
taxation regulations
Mongolia
rise to
temporary
differences between
the carrying
dŚĞ
ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶ
ŚĂƐ
ƐƵďƐŝĚŝĂƌŝĞƐ
ŝŶ DŽŶŐŽůŝĂ
ƚŚĂƚ ĂƌĞinƐƵďũĞĐƚ
ƚŽgive
ŝŶĐŽŵĞ
ƚĂǆĞƐ
ĂŶĚ͕ ĂĐĐŽƌĚŝŶŐůǇ͕
ŚĂƐ ƉƌŽǀŝĚĞĚ
ĨŽƌ
amount
of
assets
and
liabilities
for
financial
reporting
purposes
and
their
tax
bases.
The
deferred
tax
liability
on
the
balance
sheet
ĐƵƌƌĞŶƚĂŶĚĚĞĨĞƌƌĞĚŝŶĐŽŵĞƚĂǆĞƐǁŝƚŚƌĞƐƉĞĐƚƚŽƚŚŽƐĞƐƵďƐŝĚŝĂƌŝĞƐ͘

decreased by $121,909 during the year (Q4 2016 - $365,774) primarily due to a decline in the fair value in investment properties,
as well as investment properties disposed of during the year.

ŝĨĨĞƌĞŶĐĞƐďĞƚǁĞĞŶ/&Z^ĂŶĚƐƚĂƚƵƚŽƌǇƚĂǆĂƚŝŽŶƌĞŐƵůĂƚŝŽŶƐŝŶDŽŶŐŽůŝĂŐŝǀĞƌŝƐĞƚŽƚĞŵƉŽƌĂƌǇĚŝĨĨĞƌĞŶĐĞƐďĞƚǁĞĞŶ
At year end, the Corporation
reviewed its taxes receivable and determined that the Value Added Tax (VAT) amount that was
ƚŚĞĐĂƌƌǇŝŶŐĂŵŽƵŶƚ
ŽĨĂƐƐĞƚƐĂŶĚůŝĂďŝůŝƚŝĞƐĨŽƌĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂůƌĞƉŽƌƚŝŶŐƉƵƌƉŽƐĞƐĂŶĚƚŚĞŝƌƚĂǆďĂƐĞƐ͘dŚĞĚĞĨĞƌƌĞĚƚĂǆ
not projected to be received/offset by the end of 2018 ($49,448) should be expensed and recorded as doubtful receivables. In
ůŝĂďŝůŝƚǇŽŶƚŚĞďĂůĂŶĐĞƐŚĞĞƚĚĞĐƌĞĂƐĞĚďǇΨϭϮϭ͕ϵϬϵĚƵƌŝŶŐƚŚĞǇĞĂƌ;YϰϮϬϭϲͲΨϯϲϱ͕ϳϳϰͿƉƌŝŵĂƌŝůǇĚƵĞƚŽĂĚĞĐůŝŶĞ
comparison, the Corporation expensed doubtful receivables in the amount of $85,526 during 2016.
ŝŶƚŚĞĨĂŝƌǀĂůƵĞŝŶŝŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ͕ĂƐǁĞůůĂƐŝŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐĚŝƐƉŽƐĞĚŽĨĚƵƌŝŶŐƚŚĞǇĞĂƌ͘

Fair Value Adjustment on Investment Properties

ƚǇĞĂƌĞŶĚ͕ƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶƌĞǀŝĞǁĞĚŝƚƐƚĂǆĞƐƌĞĐĞŝǀĂďůĞĂŶĚĚĞƚĞƌŵŝŶĞĚƚŚĂƚƚŚĞsĂůƵĞĚĚĞĚdĂǆ;sdͿĂŵŽƵŶƚ
As elected under IFRS, the Corporation’s investment portfolio is subsequently measured at fair value in the Corporation’s financial
ƚŚĂƚ
ǁĂƐ ŶŽƚ
ƚŽ31,
ďĞ2017,
ƌĞĐĞŝǀĞĚͬŽĨĨƐĞƚ
ďǇ had
ƚŚĞapproximately
ĞŶĚ ŽĨ ϮϬϭϴ58%
;Ψϰϵ͕ϰϰϴͿ
ƐŚŽƵůĚ ďĞ
ĞǆƉĞŶƐĞĚ
ĂŶĚ ƌĞĐŽƌĚĞĚ
statements.
As ƉƌŽũĞĐƚĞĚ
of December
the Corporation
of its Investment
Properties
Portfolio
in additionĂƐ
to

its head office (classified in PP&E) valued by an international valuation firm and the remaining 42% were valued by Management.
MONGOLIA
GROWTHwas
GROUP
LTD.,
Q4 2017 MD&A
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For the year ended December 31, 2017, the fair value adjustment to investment
properties
a loss
of $2,758,843
compared
to a loss of $5,728,003 for the same period in 2016. The majority of this impairment ($1,585,120) was as a result of a 25%
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impairment to one of the Corporation’s investment properties classified as land and development. The Corporation currently
has a standing agreement with the owner of a 42 sq. meter apartment leading it to be included in this properties land title.
The agreement entitles the owner of the apartment to 84 sq. meters of space on the first floor of a new building to be built on
this land. In this agreement, the Corporation had an obligation to complete the construction of a new building by the end of
2017 and the agreement was not extended. A liability of $142,894 is currently included in the Corporation’s balance sheet to
reflect this liability. In addition, at year end, the Corporation recognized an $1,585,120 (2016 - $nil) impairment on this property
in excess of the fair value adjustment calculated using the valuation approaches described. This adjustment is management’s
estimate of the markets perception of the risk related to this agreement.

Unrealized short-term investment gain/loss
During the year, the Corporation had an unrealized short-term investment loss of $371,197 compared to an unrealized short-term
investment gain of $731,041 in the year 2016. This unrealized short-term investment loss was the result of the Corporation’s
significant investment in Mongolia Mining Corporation whose share price went from 0.36 to 0.21 Hong Kong cents during the
year. This loss was offset by unrealized short-term investment gains made in the Corporation’s other non-core holdings.

Share Repurchase
During the year, the Corporation repurchased 1,139,600 of its common shares under its Normal Course Issuer Bid (NCIB) at an
average price of $0.33 (2016-812,500, $0.35 average). As at December 31, 2017, the Corporation held 116,100 shares in Treasury
to be cancelled during the first quarter of 2017 (2016- 86,500).

Property Operating Expenses
Property Operating Expenses consist of repairs and maintenance, bad debts, utilities, salaries, as well as land and property taxes.
For the year ending December 31, 2017, the property operating expenses were $1,081,444 compared to $1,354,014 during
the same period in 2016, representing a decrease of approximately 22%. This decrease was primarily due to a reduction in the
number of properties in the portfolio along with certain expense reductions as the Corporation becomes more efficient.

Corporate Expenses
Corporate expenses include senior management and board of director compensation, share-based expenses, listing fees,
professional fees, technology, travel and administrative costs.
For the year ending December 31, 2017, general and administration expenses increased to $551,764 from $503,987 in 2016.
This increase from the previous year is primarily attributed due to a reallocation of Management salaries from its Mongolian
operations to its Canadian operations offset by a reduction in share based payment expense.



Currency

The Mongolian Tögrög has fluctuated significantly over the past five years. The Mongolian Tögrög has depreciated 6.8%, 5.1%,
11.5% and 5.3% in 2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014 respectively versus the Canadian Dollar while appreciating 11.4% in 2015 and
depreciating 28.5% in 2016 and a further 4.3% in 2017. The fluctuation in the currency is reflected in the Corporation’s financial
ƌĞĐŽŐŶŝǌĞĚĂĨŽƌĞŝŐŶĞǆĐŚĂŶŐĞĂĚũƵƐƚŵĞŶƚůŽƐƐŽĨΨϭ͕ϭϯϴ͕ϱϬϮ;ϮϬϭϲͲůŽƐƐŽĨΨϭϬ͕ϭϰϴ͕ϯϴϰͿƚŽŝƚƐŝŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚƉƌŽƉĞƌƚǇ
statements, most notably in the investment property portfolio, as it is the largest item on the balance sheet. Note 8 in the financial
ƉŽƌƚĨŽůŝŽĚƵĞƚŽƚŚĞϰ͘ϯйĚĞƉƌĞĐŝĂƚŝŽŶŽĨƚŚĞůŽĐĂůĐƵƌƌĞŶĐǇĚƵƌŝŶŐƚŚĞǇĞĂƌ͘
statements discloses the foreign exchange adjustment, which flows through the investment property classification during each
period. As at December 31, 2017, the Corporation recognized a foreign exchange adjustment loss of $1,138,502 (2016 - loss of
$10,148,384) to its investment property portfolio due to the 4.3% depreciation of the local currency during the year.
KƉĞƌĂƚŝŶŐWƌŽĨŝƚ;>ŽƐƐͿ

KǀĞƌĂůů͕ƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶƌĞƉŽƌƚĞĚĂŶKƉĞƌĂƚŝŶŐůŽƐƐŽƌĂŶĚũƵƐƚĞĚ/dƉƌŽĨŝƚŽĨΨϭϱϵ͕ϯϲϯĚƵƌŝŶŐϮϬϭϳ;ϮϬϭϲ–ůŽƐƐ
Operating Profit (Loss)
ŽĨΨϯϬϳ͕ϱϴϲͿ͘dŚĞ/ŵƉƌŽǀĞŵĞŶƚŝŶ/dƐŝŶĐĞůĂƐƚǇĞĂƌŝƐĚƵĞƚŽƚŚĞĐŽƐƚƐĂǀŝŶŐŝŶŝƚŝĂƚŝǀĞƐŝŵƉůĞŵĞŶƚĞĚĚƵƌŝŶŐƚŚĞ
Overall, the Corporation reported an Operating loss or an Adjusted EBITDA profit of $159,363 during 2017 (2016 – loss of
ǇĞĂƌ͘
$307,586). The Improvement in EBITDA since last year is due to the cost saving initiatives implemented during the year.
The following table reconciles net income before income tax to Adjusted EBITDA from operations.
dŚĞĨŽůůŽǁŝŶŐƚĂďůĞƌĞĐŽŶĐŝůĞƐŶĞƚŝŶĐŽŵĞďĞĨŽƌĞŝŶĐŽŵĞƚĂǆƚŽĚũƵƐƚĞĚ/dĨƌŽŵŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŽŶƐ͘




EĞƚ/ŶĐŽŵĞďĞĨŽƌĞ/ŶĐŽŵĞƚĂǆĞƐ
ĚĚĞƉƌĞĐŝĂƚŝŽŶĂŶĚŵŽƌƚŝǌĂƚŝŽŶ
ĚĚͬ^ƵďƚƌĂĐƚ/ŶƚĞƌĞƐƚĂŶĚ/ŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚ/ŶĐŽŵĞͬŐĂŝŶƐͬ&ŝŶĂŶĐĞǆƉĞŶƐĞ
/d
^ƵďƚƌĂĐƚ&ĂŝƌsĂůƵĞĚũƵƐƚŵĞŶƚ'ĂŝŶ;ĚĚďĂĐŬůŽƐƐͿŽŶĂůůƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ
ŝŶĐůƵĚŝŶŐŝŵƉĂŝƌŵĞŶƚƐŽŶWWĂŶĚKƚŚĞƌƐƐĞƚƐ
dŽƚĂůĚũƵƐƚĞĚ/d

ϮϬϭϳ
Ψ
;ϯ͕ϭϳϳ͕ϵϲϲͿ
ϴϭ͕Ϯϰϵ
Ϯϴϳ͕Ϭϰϵ
;Ϯ͕ϴϬϵ͕ϲϲϴͿ

ϮϬϭϲ
Ψ
;ϱ͕ϳϲϯ͕ϳϱϮͿ
ϭϮϰ͕ϱϮϯ
;ϳϱϭ͕ϯϭϭͿ
;ϲ͕ϯϵϬ͕ϱϰϬͿ

Ϯ͕ϵϲϵ͕Ϭϯϭ

ϲ͕ϬϴϮ͕ϵϱϰ

ϭϱϵ͕ϯϲϯ

;ϯϬϳ͕ϱϴϲͿ

EĞƚ/ŶĐŽŵĞ

&ŽƌƚŚĞǇĞĂƌĞŶĚĞĚĞĐĞŵďĞƌϯϭ͕ϮϬϭϳ͕ƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶŝŶĐƵƌƌĞĚĂŶĞƚůŽƐƐŽĨΨϯ͕Ϭϵϳ͕Ϯϭϰ͕ĐŽŵƉĂƌĞĚƚŽĂŶĞƚůŽƐƐŽĨ
Ψϱ͕ϲϲϮ͕ϳϴϰ ĨŽƌ ƚŚĞ ǇĞĂƌ ĞŶĚĞĚ ĞĐĞŵďĞƌ ϯϭ͕ ϮϬϭϲ͘ dŚŝƐ ƐŝŐŶŝĨŝĐĂŶƚ ůŽƐƐ ŝƐ ƉƌŝŵĂƌŝůǇ ĂƚƚƌŝďƵƚĞĚ ƚŽ ƚŚĞ ƐƵďƐƚĂŶƚŝĂů
ƵŶƌĞĂůŝǌĞĚůŽƐƐŽŶĨĂŝƌǀĂůƵĞĂĚũƵƐƚŵĞŶƚŽŶŝŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐƉŽƌƚĨŽůŝŽŽĨΨϮ͕ϳϱϴ͕ϴϰϯ;ϮϬϭϲ–ůŽƐƐŽĨΨϱ͕ϳϮϴ͕ϬϬϯͿ͘
DĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚĐĂƵƚŝŽŶƐŝŶǀĞƐƚŽƌƐƚŚĂƚƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶŝƐƉƌŝŵĂƌŝůǇĨŽĐƵƐĞĚŽŶŝŶĐƌĞĂƐŝŶŐƐŚĂƌĞŚŽůĚĞƌǀĂůƵĞŽŶĂƉĞƌ
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ƐŚĂƌĞďĂƐŝƐ͘dŚŝƐŵĞĂŶƐƚŚĂƚŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŽŶĂůůǇ͕ŵĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚŝƐŵŽƌĞĐŽŶĐĞƌŶĞĚǁŝƚŚůŽŶŐͲƚĞƌŵĂƐƐĞƚĂƉƉƌĞĐŝĂƚŝŽŶĂƚƚŚĞ
ĞǆƉĞŶƐĞŽĨƐŚŽƌƚͲƚĞƌŵĐĂƐŚĨůŽǁ͘

Net Income
For the year ended December 31, 2017, the Corporation incurred a net loss of $3,097,214, compared to a net loss of $5,662,784
for the year ended December 31, 2016. This significant loss is primarily attributed to the substantial unrealized loss on fair value
adjustment on investment properties portfolio of $2,758,843 (2016 – loss of $5,728,003).
Management cautions investors that the Corporation is primarily focused on increasing shareholder value on a per share basis.
This means that operationally, management is more concerned with long-term asset appreciation at the expense of short-term
cash flow.
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^ĞĐƚŝŽŶϰͲ&ŝŶĂŶĐŝĂůŽŶĚŝƚŝŽŶ
Section 4 - Financial Condition
ĂƐŚ&ůŽǁ
Cash Flow

Mongolia Growth Group’s pƌŝŵĂƌǇƐŽƵƌĐĞƐŽĨĐĂƉŝƚĂůĂƌĞĐĂƐŚŐĞŶĞƌĂƚĞĚĨƌŽŵĞƋƵŝƚǇŝƐƐƵĂŶĐĞ͕ ĨŝŶĂŶĐŝŶŐĂŶĚĂƐƐĞƚ
Mongolia Growth Group’s primary sources of capital are cash generated
from equity issuance, financing and asset sales.
ƐĂůĞƐ͘DĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚĞǆƉĞĐƚƐƚŽŵĞĞƚĂůůŽĨƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶ’s
ŽďůŝŐĂƚŝŽŶƐƚŚƌŽƵŐŚĐƵƌƌĞŶƚĐĂƐŚĂŶĚĐĂƐŚĞƋƵŝǀĂůĞŶƚƐ
Management expects to meet all of the Corporation’s obligations through current cash and cash equivalents along with cash
ĂůŽŶŐǁŝƚŚĐĂƐŚĨůŽǁƐĨƌŽŵĂƐƐĞƚƐĂůĞƐ͘
flows from asset sales.

dŚĞ
ĨŽůůŽǁŝŶŐ
ƚĂďůĞ
ƉƌŽǀŝĚĞƐ
ĂŶ ŽǀĞƌǀŝĞǁ
ƚŚĞ ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶ’s
cash
ĨƌŽŵfinancing
ŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŶŐ͕
ĂŶĚ ŝŶǀĞƐƚŝŶŐ
The following
table
provides
an overview
of theŽĨ
Corporation’s
cash flows
fromflŽǁƐ
operating,
andĨŝŶĂŶĐŝŶŐ
investing activities
for the
ĂĐƚŝǀŝƚŝĞƐĨŽƌƚŚĞǇĞĂƌĞŶĚĞĚĞĐĞŵďĞƌϯϭ͕ϮϬϭϳĂŶĚϮϬϭϲ͘
year ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.





EĞƚĐŚĂŶŐĞŝŶĐĂƐŚƌĞůĂƚĞĚƚŽ͗
KƉĞƌĂƚŝŶŐ
/ŶǀĞƐƚŝŶŐ
&ŝŶĂŶĐŝŶŐ
ĨĨĞĐƚƐŽĨĞǆĐŚĂŶŐĞƌĂƚĞƐŽŶĐĂƐŚ
EĞƚĐŚĂŶŐĞŝŶĐĂƐŚĚƵƌŝŶŐƚŚĞƉĞƌŝŽĚ

ϯϭͲĞĐͲϭϳ
Ψ




&ŽƌƚŚĞǇĞĂƌĞŶĚŝŶŐ
ϯϭͲĞĐͲϭϲ
Ψ

;ϯϰϱ͕ϬϯϴͿ
;ϳ͕ϬϮϯͿ
Ϯϲϵ͕ϵϴϬ
;ϭϱϴ͕ϲϯϱͿ
;ϮϰϬ͕ϳϭϲͿ

ϳϭϯ͕ϭϲϯ
ϰϳϱ͕ϲϴϱ
;Ϯϴϱ͕ϬϮϯͿ
;ϱϳ͕ϲϭϬͿ
ϴϰϲ͕Ϯϭϱ

Overall, the Corporation had cash outflows of $240,716 during 2017 compared to cash inflows of $842,215 in 2016. The
Corporation’s cash outflows were generated through the significant operating cash outflows versus significant operating cash
KǀĞƌĂůů͕ƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶŚĂĚĐĂƐŚŽƵƚĨůŽǁƐŽĨΨϮϰϬ͕ϳϭϲĚƵƌŝŶŐϮϬϭϳĐŽŵƉĂƌĞĚƚŽĐĂƐŚŝŶĨůŽǁƐŽĨΨϴϰϮ͕ϮϭϱŝŶϮϬϭϲ͘
inflows during 2016 through a decrease in non-cash working capital balance. The changes in components of cash flows for the
dŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶ’s
cash
were generated
ƚŚĞƐŝŐŶŝĨŝĐĂŶƚŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŶŐĐĂƐŚŽƵƚĨůŽǁƐǀĞƌƐƵƐƐŝŐŶŝĨŝĐĂŶƚ
year ended December
31,outflows
2017, compared
to the yearthrough
ended December
31, 2016, were the result of the following factors:

ŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŶŐ ĐĂƐŚ ŝŶĨůŽǁƐ ĚƵƌŝŶŐ ϮϬϭϲ ƚŚƌŽƵŐŚ Ă ĚĞĐƌĞĂƐĞ ŝŶ ŶŽŶͲĐĂƐŚ ǁŽƌŬŝŶŐ ĐĂƉŝƚĂů ďĂůĂŶĐĞ͘ dŚĞ ĐŚĂŶŐĞƐ ŝŶ
•
Operating–The Corporation experienced significant Operating cash outflows for the year ended 2017 versus
ĐŽŵƉŽŶĞŶƚƐŽĨĐĂƐŚĨůŽǁƐĨŽƌƚŚĞǇĞĂƌĞŶĚĞĚĞĐĞŵďĞƌϯϭ͕ϮϬϭϳ͕ĐŽŵƉĂƌĞĚƚŽƚŚĞǇĞĂƌĞŶĚĞĚĞĐĞŵďĞƌϯϭ͕ϮϬϭϲ͕
significant cash inflows for the year ended 2016 due to a negative change in non-cash working capital and
ǁĞƌĞƚŚĞƌĞƐƵůƚŽĨƚŚĞĨŽůůŽǁŝŶŐĨĂĐƚŽƌƐ͗
the completion of the sale of an investment property during the year versus receiving the deposit for this
•

property during the 2016 year.

KƉĞƌĂƚŝŶŐ–dŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶĞǆƉĞƌŝĞŶĐĞĚƐŝŐŶŝĨŝĐĂŶƚKƉĞƌĂƚŝŶŐĐĂƐŚŽƵƚĨůŽǁƐĨŽƌƚŚĞǇĞĂƌĞŶĚĞĚϮϬϭϳ
•ǀĞƌƐƵƐƐŝŐŶŝĨŝĐĂŶƚĐĂƐŚŝŶĨůŽǁƐĨŽƌƚŚĞǇĞĂƌĞŶĚĞĚϮϬϭϲĚƵĞƚŽĂŶĞŐĂƚŝǀĞĐŚĂŶŐĞŝŶŶŽŶͲĐĂƐŚǁŽƌŬŝŶŐ
Investing–The Corporation experienced Investing cash outflows for the year ended 2017 due to the
purchase of marketable securities and other assets compared to investing cash inflows in 2016 due to the
ĐĂƉŝƚĂůĂŶĚƚŚĞĐŽŵƉůĞƚŝŽŶŽĨƚŚĞƐĂůĞŽĨĂŶŝŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚƉƌŽƉĞƌƚǇĚƵƌŝŶŐƚŚĞǇĞĂƌǀĞƌƐƵƐƌĞĐĞŝǀŝŶŐƚŚĞ
sale of investment properties.
ĚĞƉŽƐŝƚĨŽƌƚŚŝƐƉƌŽƉĞƌƚǇĚƵƌŝŶŐƚŚĞϮϬϭϲǇĞĂƌ͘
•

Financing–Financing cash inflows occurred due to the proceeds from the bank loan offset by an increase in

the repurchase
of 1,139,600
shares during
the year
versus
812,500
during
the 2016
year.
•  /ŶǀĞƐƚŝŶŐ–dŚĞ
ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶ
ĞǆƉĞƌŝĞŶĐĞĚ
/ŶǀĞƐƚŝŶŐ
ĐĂƐŚ
ŽƵƚĨůŽǁƐ
ĨŽƌshares
ƚŚĞ ǇĞĂƌ
ĞŶĚĞĚ
ϮϬϭϳ
ĚƵĞ ƚŽ ƚŚĞ
ƉƵƌĐŚĂƐĞŽĨŵĂƌŬĞƚĂďůĞƐĞĐƵƌŝƚŝĞƐĂŶĚŽƚŚĞƌĂƐƐĞƚƐĐŽŵƉĂƌĞĚƚŽŝŶǀĞƐƚŝŶŐĐĂƐŚŝŶĨůŽǁƐŝŶϮϬϭϲĚƵĞƚŽ
To date, the Corporation
has been able to meet all of its capital and other cash requirements from its internal sources of cash. As
at December 31,
2017, the Corporation had approximately $1,640,771 (2016 - $1,881,487) in cash and cash equivalents. Due to
ƚŚĞƐĂůĞŽĨŝŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ͘
the expectation that Corporation’s cash position will worsen in future quarters, the Corporation is focused on increasing liquidity
and cash •
reserves
in Canada through asset sales and has taken on a $1,300,200 credit facility through a commercial bank in
&ŝŶĂŶĐŝŶŐ–&ŝŶĂŶĐŝŶŐĐĂƐŚŝŶĨůŽǁƐŽĐĐƵƌƌĞĚĚƵĞƚŽƚŚĞƉƌŽĐĞĞĚƐĨƌŽŵƚŚĞďĂŶŬůŽĂŶŽĨĨƐĞƚďǇĂŶŝŶĐƌĞĂƐĞ
Mongolia.

ŝŶƚŚĞƌĞƉƵƌĐŚĂƐĞŽĨϭ͕ϭϯϵ͕ϲϬϬƐŚĂƌĞƐĚƵƌŝŶŐƚŚĞǇĞĂƌǀĞƌƐƵƐϴϭϮ͕ϱϬϬƐŚĂƌĞƐĚƵƌŝŶŐƚŚĞϮϬϭϲǇĞĂƌ͘

Total Assets

dŽĚĂƚĞ͕ƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶŚĂƐďĞĞŶĂďůĞƚŽŵĞĞƚĂůůŽĨŝƚƐĐĂƉŝƚĂůĂŶĚŽƚŚĞƌĐĂƐŚƌĞƋƵŝƌĞŵĞŶƚƐĨƌŽŵŝƚƐŝŶƚĞƌŶĂůƐŽƵƌĐĞƐ
As of December 31, 2017, the Corporation had $4,863,414 (2016 - $3,204,065) in Current Assets out of which $1,640,771 (2016
ŽĨĐĂƐŚ͘ƐĂƚĞĐĞŵďĞƌϯϭ͕ϮϬϭϳ͕ƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶŚĂĚĂƉƉƌŽǆŝŵĂƚĞůǇΨϭ͕ϲϰϬ͕ϳϳϭ;ϮϬϭϲͲΨϭ͕ϴϴϭ͕ϰϴϳͿŝŶĐĂƐŚĂŶĚĐĂƐŚ
- $1,881,487) was held in cash. The decrease in cash is primarily due to purchase of marketable securities offset by the sale of
ĞƋƵŝǀĂůĞŶƚƐ͘ƵĞƚŽƚŚĞĞǆƉĞĐƚĂƚŝŽŶƚŚĂƚCorporation’s
cashitspositionǁŝůůǁŽƌƐĞŶŝŶĨƵƚƵƌĞƋƵĂƌƚĞƌƐ͕ƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶ
investment properties during the year. Management considers
marketable securities to be liquid and available to be sold at
any time should the Corporation require cash.
ŝƐĨŽĐƵƐĞĚŽŶŝŶĐƌĞĂƐŝŶŐůŝƋƵŝĚŝƚǇĂŶĚĐĂƐŚƌĞƐĞƌǀĞƐŝŶĂŶĂĚĂƚŚƌŽƵŐŚĂƐƐĞƚƐĂůĞƐĂŶĚŚĂƐƚĂŬĞŶŽŶĂΨϭ͕ϯϬϬ͕ϮϬϬĐƌĞĚŝƚ
ĨĂĐŝůŝƚǇƚŚƌŽƵŐŚĂĐŽŵŵĞƌĐŝĂůďĂŶŬŝŶDŽŶŐŽůŝĂ͘
The majority of the Corporation’s assets are classified as Non-Current Assets, mainly Investment Properties. Investment
Properties are carried at Fair Market Value and decreased during the year to $22,887,521 (2016 -$29,501,350) by way of a

dŽƚĂůƐƐĞƚƐ
dispositions, an unrealized loss on fair value adjustment further magnified by a decrease in the Mongolian Tögrög versus the

Canadian
dollar during
year.
Ɛ
ŽĨ ĞĐĞŵďĞƌ
ϯϭ͕ the
ϮϬϭϳ͕
ƚŚĞ ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶ ŚĂĚ Ψϰ͕ϴϲϯ͕ϰϭϰ ;ϮϬϭϲ Ͳ Ψϯ͕ϮϬϰ͕ϬϲϱͿ ŝŶ ƵƌƌĞŶƚ ƐƐĞƚƐ ŽƵƚ ŽĨ ǁŚŝĐŚ
Ψϭ͕ϲϰϬ͕ϳϳϭ;ϮϬϭϲ
ͲΨϭ͕ϴϴϭ͕ϰϴϳͿǁĂƐŚĞůĚŝŶĐĂƐŚ͘dŚĞĚĞĐƌĞĂƐĞŝŶĐĂƐŚŝƐ
Property and Equipment,
which primarily consists of properties that are measuredƉƌŝŵĂƌŝůǇĚƵĞƚŽƉƵƌĐŚĂƐĞŽĨŵĂƌŬĞƚĂďůĞ
at their cost base, decreased from $1,805,861
ƐĞĐƵƌŝƚŝĞƐŽĨĨƐĞƚďǇƚŚĞƐĂůĞŽĨŝŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐĚƵƌŝŶŐƚŚĞǇĞĂƌ͘DĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚĐŽŶƐŝĚĞƌƐŝƚƐŵĂƌŬĞƚĂďůĞƐĞĐƵƌŝƚŝĞƐ
in 2016 to $1,654,896 in 2017 primarily due to a decrease the Mongolian Tögrög versus the Canadian dollar.
ƚŽďĞůŝƋƵŝĚĂŶĚĂǀĂŝůĂďůĞƚŽďĞƐŽůĚĂƚĂŶǇƚŝŵĞƐŚŽƵůĚƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶƌĞƋƵŝƌĞĐĂƐŚ͘
Total Liabilities
As ofmajority
Decemberof31,the
2017,
the Corporation
hadare
current
liabilities
$517,077 (2016
- $1,354,501)
of payables
and
The
Corporation’s
assets
claƐƐŝĨŝĞĚ
ĂƐofEŽŶͲƵƌƌĞŶƚ
ƐƐĞƚƐ͕
ŵĂŝŶůǇ consisting
/ŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚ
WƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ͘
accrued
liabilities.
The
decrease
was
due
to
a
deposit
of
$673,585
for
the
sale
of
an
investment
property
that
had
been
received
/ŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚ WƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ ĂƌĞ ĐĂƌƌŝĞĚ Ăƚ &Ăŝƌ DĂƌŬĞƚ sĂůƵĞ ĂŶĚ ĚĞĐƌĞĂƐĞĚ ĚƵƌŝŶŐ ƚŚĞ ǇĞĂƌ ƚŽ ΨϮϮ͕ϴϴϳ͕ϱϮϭ ;ϮϬϭϲ Ͳ
in 2016 which was settled during the 2017 year.
ΨϮϵ͕ϱϬϭ͕ϯϱϬͿďǇǁĂǇŽĨĂĚŝƐƉŽƐŝƚŝŽŶƐ͕ĂŶƵŶƌĞĂůŝǌĞĚůŽƐƐŽŶĨĂŝƌǀĂůƵĞĂĚũƵƐƚŵĞŶƚĨƵƌƚŚĞƌŵĂŐŶŝĨŝĞĚďǇĂĚĞĐƌĞĂƐĞŝŶ
As of December 31, 2017, the only non-current liabilities on the balance sheet are long term debt outstanding and deferred
ƚŚĞDŽŶŐŽůŝĂŶdƂŐƌƂŐǀĞƌƐƵƐƚŚĞĂŶĂĚŝĂŶĚŽůůĂƌĚƵƌŝŶŐƚŚĞǇĞĂƌ͘
income taxes. During the period, the Corporation obtained a two year CDN$1,300,200 (USD $1,000,000) credit facility through
a commercial bank in Mongolia. The loan is secured by various property assets and guarantees from Mongolian subsidiaries.
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ƐŽĨĞĐĞŵďĞƌϯϭ͕ϮϬϭϳ͕ƚŚĞŽŶůǇŶŽŶͲĐƵƌƌĞŶƚůŝĂďŝůŝƚŝĞƐŽŶƚŚĞďĂůĂŶĐĞƐŚĞĞƚĂƌĞůŽŶŐƚĞƌŵĚĞďƚŽƵƚƐƚĂŶĚŝŶŐĂŶĚ
ƐŽĨĞĐĞŵďĞƌϯϭ͕ϮϬϭϳ͕ƚŚĞŽŶůǇŶŽŶͲĐƵƌƌĞŶƚůŝĂďŝůŝƚŝĞƐŽŶƚŚĞďĂůĂŶĐĞƐŚĞĞƚĂƌĞůŽŶŐƚĞƌŵĚĞďƚŽƵƚƐƚĂŶĚŝŶŐĂŶĚ
ĚĞĨĞƌƌĞĚŝŶĐŽŵĞƚĂǆĞƐ͘
ƵƌŝŶŐƚŚĞƉĞƌŝŽĚ͕ƚŚĞ ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶŽďƚĂŝŶĞĚĂ ƚǁŽǇĞĂƌEΨϭ͕ϯϬϬ͕ϮϬϬ;h^ Ψϭ͕ϬϬϬ͕ϬϬϬͿ
ĚĞĨĞƌƌĞĚŝŶĐŽŵĞƚĂǆĞƐ͘
ƵƌŝŶŐƚŚĞƉĞƌŝŽĚ͕ƚŚĞ ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶŽďƚĂŝŶĞĚĂ ƚǁŽǇĞĂƌEΨϭ͕ϯϬϬ͕ϮϬϬ;h^ Ψϭ͕ϬϬϬ͕ϬϬϬͿ
ĐƌĞĚŝƚĨĂĐŝůŝƚǇƚŚƌŽƵŐŚĂĐŽŵŵĞƌĐŝĂůďĂŶŬŝŶDŽŶŐŽůŝĂ͘dŚĞůŽĂŶŝƐƐĞĐƵƌĞĚďǇǀĂƌŝŽƵƐƉƌŽƉĞƌƚǇĂƐƐĞƚƐĂŶĚŐƵĂƌĂŶƚĞĞƐ
ĐƌĞĚŝƚĨĂĐŝůŝƚǇƚŚƌŽƵŐŚĂĐŽŵŵĞƌĐŝĂůďĂŶŬŝŶDŽŶŐŽůŝĂ͘dŚĞůŽĂŶŝƐƐĞĐƵƌĞĚďǇǀĂƌŝŽƵƐƉƌŽƉĞƌƚǇĂƐƐĞƚƐĂŶĚŐƵĂƌĂŶƚĞĞƐ
ĨƌŽŵDŽŶŐŽůŝĂŶƐƵďƐŝĚŝĂƌŝĞƐ͘dŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶŵĂĚĞĂŶŝŶŝƚŝĂůĚƌĂǁŽĨh^ΨϱϬϬ͕ϬϬϬĚƵƌŝŶŐƚŚĞǇĞĂƌĞŶĚĞĚĞĐĞŵďĞƌ
ĨƌŽŵDŽŶŐŽůŝĂŶƐƵďƐŝĚŝĂƌŝĞƐ͘dŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶŵĂĚĞĂŶŝŶŝƚŝĂůĚƌĂǁŽĨh^ΨϱϬϬ͕ϬϬϬĚƵƌŝŶŐƚŚĞǇĞĂƌĞŶĚĞĚĞĐĞŵďĞƌ
ϯϭ͕ϮϬϭϳ͘ƐĂƚƚŚĞĞŶĚŽĨƚŚĞǇĞĂƌ͕ƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶŚĂĚΨϲϮϵ͕ϳϰϴŝŶůŽŶŐƚĞƌŵĚĞďƚŽƵƚƐƚĂŶĚŝŶŐ;ϮϬϭϲͲΨϬͿ͘
The
Corporation made an initial draw of USD $500,000 during the year ended December 31, 2017. As at the end of the year, the
ϯϭ͕ϮϬϭϳ͘ƐĂƚƚŚĞĞŶĚŽĨƚŚĞǇĞĂƌ͕ƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶŚĂĚΨϲϮϵ͕ϳϰϴŝŶůŽŶŐƚĞƌŵĚĞďƚŽƵƚƐƚĂŶĚŝŶŐ;ϮϬϭϲͲΨϬͿ͘
Corporation had $629,748 in long term debt outstanding (2016-$0).
ĞĨĞƌƌĞĚƚĂǆůŝĂďŝůŝƚŝĞƐĚĞĐƌĞĂƐĞĚƐůŝŐŚƚůǇĚƵƌŝŶŐƚŚĞǇĞĂƌƚŽΨϱϬϮ͕ϰϮϲŝŶϮϬϭϳ;ϮϬϭϲͲΨϲϮϰ͕ϯϯϱͿĚƵĞƚŽƚŚĞĚĞĐƌĞĂƐĞ
ĞĨĞƌƌĞĚƚĂǆůŝĂďŝůŝƚŝĞƐĚĞĐƌĞĂƐĞĚƐůŝŐŚƚůǇĚƵƌŝŶŐƚŚĞǇĞĂƌƚŽΨϱϬϮ͕ϰϮϲŝŶϮϬϭϳ;ϮϬϭϲͲΨϲϮϰ͕ϯϯϱͿĚƵĞƚŽƚŚĞĚĞĐƌĞĂƐĞ
Deferred
taxthe
liabilities
decreased
slightly during
the year
in
value of
Corporation’s
property
portfolio.
 to $502,426 in 2017 (2016 - $624,335) due to the decrease in value of
in value
of the Corporation’s
property portfolio. 
the
Corporation’s
property portfolio.

dŽƚĂůƋƵŝƚǇ
Total
Equity

dŽƚĂůƋƵŝƚǇ
dŚĞĞƋƵŝƚǇŽĨƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶĐŽŶƐŝƐƚƐŽĨŽŶĞĐůĂƐƐŽĨĐŽŵŵŽŶƐŚĂƌĞƐ͘

The
equity of the Corporation consists of one class of common shares.
dŚĞĞƋƵŝƚǇŽĨƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶĐŽŶƐŝƐƚƐŽĨŽŶĞĐůĂƐƐŽĨĐŽŵŵŽŶƐŚĂƌĞƐ͘

KƵƚƐƚĂŶĚŝŶŐ
ϯϭͲĞĐϭϲ
ϯϭͲĞĐͲϭϲ
KƵƚƐƚĂŶĚŝŶŐ
ϯϭͲĞĐϭϲ
ϯϭͲĞĐͲϭϲ
ŽŵŵŽŶƐŚĂƌĞƐ
ϯϯ͕ϲϵϲ͕ϱϵϵΎ
ϯϰ͕ϴϬϲ͕ϱϵϵΎ
ŽŵŵŽŶƐŚĂƌĞƐ
ϯϯ͕ϲϵϲ͕ϱϵϵΎ
ϯϰ͕ϴϬϲ͕ϱϵϵΎ
KƉƚŝŽŶƐƚŽďƵǇĐŽŵŵŽŶƐŚĂƌĞƐ
ϯ͕ϭϬϯ͕ϬϬϬ
ϯ͕ϯϱϴ͕ϬϬϬ
KƉƚŝŽŶƐƚŽďƵǇĐŽŵŵŽŶƐŚĂƌĞƐ
ϯ͕ϭϬϯ͕ϬϬϬ
ϯ͕ϯϱϴ͕ϬϬϬ 
ΎƐĂƚĞĐĞŵďĞƌϯϭ͕ϮϬϭϳ͕ƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶŚĞůĚϭϭϲ͕ϭϬϬŽĨƚŚĞĐŽŵŵŽŶƐŚĂƌĞƐŽƵƚƐƚĂŶĚŝŶŐŝŶdƌĞĂƐƵƌǇƚŽďĞĐĂŶĐĞůůĞĚĚƵƌŝŶŐƚŚĞĨŝƌƐƚƋƵĂƌƚĞƌŽĨϮϬϭϴ;ϮϬϭϲͲϴϲ͕ϱϬϬͿ͘


*ΎƐĂƚĞĐĞŵďĞƌϯϭ͕ϮϬϭϳ͕ƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶŚĞůĚϭϭϲ͕ϭϬϬŽĨƚŚĞĐŽŵŵŽŶƐŚĂƌĞƐŽƵƚƐƚĂŶĚŝŶŐŝŶdƌĞĂƐƵƌǇƚŽďĞĐĂŶĐĞůůĞĚĚƵƌŝŶŐƚŚĞĨŝƌƐƚƋƵĂƌƚĞƌŽĨϮϬϭϴ;ϮϬϭϲͲϴϲ͕ϱϬϬͿ͘
As at December 31, 2017, the Corporation held 116,100 of the common shares outstanding in Treasury to be cancelled during the first quarter of 2018 (2016-86,500).
*ΎƐŽĨDĂƌĐŚϮϯ͕ϮϬϭϴ͕ƚŚĞŽŵƉĂŶǇŚĂĚϯϯ͕ϱϴϬ͕ϰϵϵƐŚĂƌĞƐŽƵƚƐƚĂŶĚŝŶŐ͕ϭϬϴ͕ϱϬϬƐŚĂƌĞƐŚĞůĚŝŶƚƌĞĂƐƵƌǇ͕ĂŶĚϯ͕ϭϬϯ͕ϬϬϬŽƉƚŝŽŶƐŽƵƚƐƚĂŶĚŝŶŐ͘
As of March 23, 2018, the Company had 33,580,499 shares outstanding, 108,500 shares held in treasury, and 3,103,000 options outstanding.
ΎƐŽĨDĂƌĐŚϮϯ͕ϮϬϭϴ͕ƚŚĞŽŵƉĂŶǇŚĂĚϯϯ͕ϱϴϬ͕ϰϵϵƐŚĂƌĞƐŽƵƚƐƚĂŶĚŝŶŐ͕ϭϬϴ͕ϱϬϬƐŚĂƌĞƐŚĞůĚŝŶƚƌĞĂƐƵƌǇ͕ĂŶĚϯ͕ϭϬϯ͕ϬϬϬŽƉƚŝŽŶƐŽƵƚƐƚĂŶĚŝŶŐ͘

KƉƚŝŽŶƐKƵƚƐƚĂŶĚŝŶŐ
Options
Outstanding

KƉƚŝŽŶƐKƵƚƐƚĂŶĚŝŶŐ
ƚĞĐĞŵďĞƌϯϭ͕ϮϬϭϳ͕ƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶŚĂĚϯ͕ϭϬϯ͕ϬϬϬŽƉƚŝŽŶƐƚŚĂƚǁĞƌĞĞǆĞƌĐŝƐĂďůĞ;ĞĐĞŵďĞƌϯϭ͕ϮϬϭϲ͖ϯ͕ϯϱϴ͕ϬϬϬͿ͘

At
December 31, 2017, the Corporation had 3,103,000 options that were exercisable (December 31, 2016; 3,358,000).
ƚĞĐĞŵďĞƌϯϭ͕ϮϬϭϳ͕ƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶŚĂĚϯ͕ϭϬϯ͕ϬϬϬŽƉƚŝŽŶƐƚŚĂƚǁĞƌĞĞǆĞƌĐŝƐĂďůĞ;ĞĐĞŵďĞƌϯϭ͕ϮϬϭϲ͖ϯ͕ϯϱϴ͕ϬϬϬͿ͘

dŚĞĐŚĂƌƚďĞůŽǁƐŚŽǁƐƚŚĞŚŝƐƚŽƌŝĐĂůŽƉƚŝŽŶŐƌĂŶƚƐĂŶĚŽƉƚŝŽŶƐŽƵƚƐƚĂŶĚŝŶŐĂƐŽĨĞĐĞŵďĞƌϯϭ͕ϮϬϭϳ͘
The
chart below shows the historical option grants and options outstanding as of December 31, 2017.

dŚĞĐŚĂƌƚďĞůŽǁƐŚŽǁƐƚŚĞŚŝƐƚŽƌŝĐĂůŽƉƚŝŽŶŐƌĂŶƚƐĂŶĚŽƉƚŝŽŶƐŽƵƚƐƚĂŶĚŝŶŐĂƐŽĨĞĐĞŵďĞƌϯϭ͕ϮϬϭϳ͘



KƉƚŝŽŶWƌŝĐĞ
KƉƚŝŽŶWƌŝĐĞ
ϭ͘ϲϰ
ϭ͘ϲϰ
ϭ͘ϳϱ
ϭ͘ϳϱ
ϭ͘ϵ
ϭ͘ϵ
ϰ͘Ϯ
ϰ͘Ϯ
ϰ͘ϳϳ
ϰ͘ϳϳ
ϰ͘Ϯϱ
ϰ͘Ϯϱ
ϰ͘Ϭ
ϰ͘Ϭ
ϰ͘ϭϯ
ϰ͘ϭϯ
ϭ͘Ϭϵ
ϭ͘Ϭϵ
Ϭ͘ϳϮ
Ϭ͘ϳϮ
Ϭ͘ϳϰ
Ϭ͘ϳϰ
Ϭ͘ϯϴ
Ϭ͘ϯϴ
dŽƚĂů
dŽƚĂů

'ƌĂŶƚĞĚ
'ƌĂŶƚĞĚ
ϭϬϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϭϬϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϯϬϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϯϬϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϭ͕ϯϲϯ͕ϬϬϬ
ϭ͕ϯϲϯ͕ϬϬϬ
ϵϬϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϵϬϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϭϳϱ͕ϬϬϬ
ϭϳϱ͕ϬϬϬ
ϭϱϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϭϱϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϭϵϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϭϵϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϰϳϱ͕ϬϬϬ
ϰϳϱ͕ϬϬϬ
ϯϳϱ͕ϬϬϬ
ϯϳϱ͕ϬϬϬ
ϵϯϱ͕ϬϬϬ
ϵϯϱ͕ϬϬϬ
ϲϰϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϲϰϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϯϱϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϯϱϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϱ͕ϵϱϯ͕ϬϬϬ
ϱ͕ϵϱϯ͕ϬϬϬ

ǆƉŝƌĞĚ
ǆƉŝƌĞĚ
Ͳ
Ͳ
ϱϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϱϬ͕ϬϬϬ
Ͳ
Ͳ
ϮϬϱ͕ϬϬϬ
ϮϬϱ͕ϬϬϬ
ϮϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϮϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϱ͕ϬϬϬ
ϱ͕ϬϬϬ
Ͳ
Ͳ
ϭϮϱ͕ϬϬϬ
ϭϮϱ͕ϬϬϬ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
ϰϬϱ͕ϬϬϬ
ϰϬϱ͕ϬϬϬ


Acquisitions
and Dispositions
ĐƋƵŝƐŝƚŝŽŶƐĂŶĚŝƐƉŽƐŝƚŝŽŶƐ

&ŽƌĨĞŝƚĞĚ
&ŽƌĨĞŝƚĞĚ
Ͳ
Ͳ
ϴϱ͕ϬϬϬͲ
ϴϱ͕ϬϬϬ
ϰϬϴ͕ϬϬϬ
ϰϬϴ͕ϬϬϬ
ϭϬϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϭϬϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϱϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϱϬ͕ϬϬϬ
Ͳ
ϳϱ͕ϬϬϬͲ
ϳϱ͕ϬϬϬ
ϳϱ͕ϬϬϬ
ϮϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϮϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϳϱ͕ϬϬϬ
ϳϱ͕ϬϬϬ
ϳϱ͕ϬϬϬ
ϵϲϯ͕ϬϬϬ
ϵϲϯ͕ϬϬϬ

ĂŶĐĞůůĞĚ ǆĞƌĐŝƐĞĚ
ĂŶĐĞůůĞĚ ǆĞƌĐŝƐĞĚ
Ͳ
ϭϬϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϭϬϬ͕ϬϬϬ
Ͳ
ϮϱϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϮϱϬ͕ϬϬϬ
Ͳ
ϮϬϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϮϬϬ͕ϬϬϬ
Ͳ
Ϯϴϳ͕ϬϬϬͲ
Ͳ
Ϯϴϳ͕ϬϬϬ
ϱϱ͕ϬϬϬ
Ͳ
ϱϱ͕ϬϬϬ
ϵϱ͕ϬϬϬ
Ͳ
ϵϱ͕ϬϬϬ
ϭϵϬ͕ϬϬϬ
Ͳ
ϭϵϬ͕ϬϬϬ
Ϯϳϱ͕ϬϬϬ
Ϯϳϱ͕ϬϬϬ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
ϵϬϮ͕ϬϬϬ
ϱϱϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϵϬϮ͕ϬϬϬ ϱϱϬ͕ϬϬϬ

dŽƚĂůKƉƚŝŽŶƐ
dŽƚĂůKƉƚŝŽŶƐ
KƵƚƐƚĂŶĚŝŶŐ
KƵƚƐƚĂŶĚŝŶŐ
Ͳ
Ͳ
ϭ͕Ϭϰϯ͕ϬϬϬͲ
ϭ͕Ϭϰϯ͕ϬϬϬ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
ϯϬϬ͕ϬϬϬͲ
ϯϬϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϵϭϱ͕ϬϬϬ
ϵϭϱ͕ϬϬϬ
ϱϲϱ͕ϬϬϬ
ϱϲϱ͕ϬϬϬ
ϮϴϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϮϴϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϯ͕ϭϬϯ͕ϬϬϬ
ϯ͕ϭϬϯ͕ϬϬϬ

dŽƚĂů
dŽƚĂů
ǆĞƌĐŝƐĂďůĞ
ǆĞƌĐŝƐĂďůĞ
Ͳ
Ͳ
ϭ͕Ϭϰϯ͕ϬϬϬͲ
ϭ͕Ϭϰϯ͕ϬϬϬ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
ϯϬϬ͕ϬϬϬͲ
ϯϬϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϵϭϱ͕ϬϬϬ
ϵϭϱ͕ϬϬϬ
ϱϲϱ͕ϬϬϬ
ϱϲϱ͕ϬϬϬ
ϮϴϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϮϴϬ͕ϬϬϬ
ϯ͕ϭϬϯ͕ϬϬϬ
ϯ͕ϭϬϯ͕ϬϬϬ

EŽŶ
EŽŶ
ĞǆĞƌĐŝƐĂďůĞ
ĞǆĞƌĐŝƐĂďůĞ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
ͲͲ
Ͳ

ĐƋƵŝƐŝƚŝŽŶƐĂŶĚŝƐƉŽƐŝƚŝŽŶƐ

ƵƌŝŶŐƚŚĞǇĞĂƌ͕ƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶĂĐƋƵŝƌĞĚƚŚƌĞĞƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐĨŽƌĂƚŽƚĂůĐŽƐƚŽĨΨϭϯϭ͕ϯϴϳ͘dŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶĂůƐŽƉĂŝĚĨƵůů
During
the year, the Corporation acquired three properties for a total cost of $131,387. The Corporation also paid full purchase
ƵƌŝŶŐƚŚĞǇĞĂƌ͕ƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶĂĐƋƵŝƌĞĚƚŚƌĞĞƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐĨŽƌĂƚŽƚĂůĐŽƐƚŽĨΨϭϯϭ͕ϯϴϳ͘dŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶĂůƐŽƉĂŝĚĨƵůů

ƉƵƌĐŚĂƐĞƉƌŽĐĞĞĚƐŽĨΨϯϳϮ͕ϯϰϴŽŶĂ
ĨŽƵƌƚŚƉƌŽƉĞƌƚǇŝŶĂ
ƐĞƉĂƌĂƚĞƚƌĂŶƐĂĐƚŝŽŶ͕ŚŽǁĞǀĞƌŚĂƐŶŽƚ
ǇĞƚ ƌĞĐĞŝǀĞĚƚŚĞ
proceeds
of $372,348 on a fourth property
in a separate transaction,
however has not yet received the official
land title from
ƉƵƌĐŚĂƐĞƉƌŽĐĞĞĚƐŽĨΨϯϳϮ͕ϯϰϴŽŶĂ
ƐĞƉĂƌĂƚĞƚƌĂŶƐĂĐƚŝŽŶ͕ŚŽǁĞǀĞƌŚĂƐŶŽƚ
ƌĞĐĞŝǀĞĚƚŚĞ
ŽĨĨŝĐŝĂůůĂŶĚƚŝƚůĞĨƌŽŵƚŚĞDŽŶŐŽůŝĂŶWƌŽƉĞƌƚǇŽĨĨŝĐĞ͘dŚĞƌĞĨŽƌĞ͕ƚŚĞĨŽƵƌƚŚƉƌŽƉĞƌƚǇŝƐĐůĂƐƐŝĨŝĞĚĂƐĂWƌĞƉĂŝĚĚĞƉŽƐŝƚ
the
Mongolian Property office. Therefore,ĨŽƵƌƚŚƉƌŽƉĞƌƚǇŝŶĂ
the fourth property is classified
as a Prepaid deposit on investmentǇĞƚ
properties
within
ŽĨĨŝĐŝĂůůĂŶĚƚŝƚůĞĨƌŽŵƚŚĞDŽŶŐŽůŝĂŶWƌŽƉĞƌƚǇŽĨĨŝĐĞ͘dŚĞƌĞĨŽƌĞ͕ƚŚĞĨŽƵƌƚŚƉƌŽƉĞƌƚǇŝƐĐůĂƐƐŝĨŝĞĚĂƐĂWƌĞƉĂŝĚĚĞƉŽƐŝƚ
other
assets
(note
7).
During
this
period,
the
Corporation
sold
eight
investment
properties
of
which
three
had
been
purchased
ŽŶ ŝŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚ ƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ ǁŝƚŚŝŶ ŽƚŚĞƌ ĂƐƐĞƚƐ ;ŶŽƚĞ ϳͿ͘ ƵƌŝŶŐ ƚŚŝƐ ƉĞƌŝŽĚ͕ ƚŚĞ ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶ ƐŽůĚ ĞŝŐŚƚ ŝŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚ
during
this same ƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ
period for total
proceeds
$3,095,071
in aƚŚŝƐ
net gain
of $247,200
on these transactions.
A deposit of
ŽŶ ŝŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚ
ǁŝƚŚŝŶ
ŽƚŚĞƌofĂƐƐĞƚƐ
;ŶŽƚĞresulting
ϳͿ͘ ƵƌŝŶŐ
ƉĞƌŝŽĚ͕
ƚŚĞ ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶ
ƐŽůĚ ĞŝŐŚƚ ŝŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚ
ƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐŽĨǁŚŝĐŚƚŚƌĞĞŚĂĚďĞĞŶƉƵƌĐŚĂƐĞĚĚƵƌŝŶŐƚŚŝƐƐĂŵĞƉĞƌŝŽĚĨŽƌƚŽƚĂůƉƌŽĐĞĞĚƐŽĨΨϯ͕Ϭϵϱ͕ϬϳϭƌĞƐƵůƚŝŶŐŝŶĂ
$673,585
had
been
received
in
November
2016
for
the
sale
of
one
of
these
properties.
In
comparison,
during
the
year ended
ƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐŽĨǁŚŝĐŚƚŚƌĞĞŚĂĚďĞĞŶƉƵƌĐŚĂƐĞĚĚƵƌŝŶŐƚŚŝƐƐĂŵĞƉĞƌŝŽĚĨŽƌƚŽƚĂůƉƌŽĐĞĞĚƐŽĨΨϯ͕Ϭϵϱ͕ϬϳϭƌĞƐƵůƚŝŶŐŝŶĂ
ŶĞƚŐĂŝŶŽĨΨϮϰϳ͕ϮϬϬŽŶƚŚĞƐĞƚƌĂŶƐĂĐƚŝŽŶƐ͘ĚĞƉŽƐŝƚŽĨΨϲϳϯ͕ϱϴϱŚĂĚďĞĞŶƌĞĐĞŝǀĞĚŝŶEŽǀĞŵďĞƌϮϬϭϲĨŽƌƚŚĞƐĂůĞ
December
31, 2016, four investment properties were sold for cash consideration of $970,241 resulting in net loss of $223,532
ŶĞƚŐĂŝŶŽĨΨϮϰϳ͕ϮϬϬŽŶƚŚĞƐĞƚƌĂŶƐĂĐƚŝŽŶƐ͘ĚĞƉŽƐŝƚŽĨΨϲϳϯ͕ϱϴϱŚĂĚďĞĞŶƌĞĐĞŝǀĞĚŝŶEŽǀĞŵďĞƌϮϬϭϲĨŽƌƚŚĞƐĂůĞ
ŽĨŽŶĞŽĨƚŚĞƐĞƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ͘/ŶĐŽŵƉĂƌŝƐŽŶ͕ĚƵƌŝŶŐƚŚĞǇĞĂƌĞŶĚĞĚĞĐĞŵďĞƌϯϭ͕ϮϬϭϲ͕
ĨŽƵƌŝŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚ ƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ
on
these transactions.
ZĞůĂƚĞĚWĂƌƚǇdƌĂŶƐĂĐƚŝŽŶƐ
ŽĨŽŶĞŽĨƚŚĞƐĞƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ͘/ŶĐŽŵƉĂƌŝƐŽŶ͕ĚƵƌŝŶŐƚŚĞǇĞĂƌĞŶĚĞĚĞĐĞŵďĞƌϯϭ͕ϮϬϭϲ͕ ĨŽƵƌŝŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚ ƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ

ǁĞƌĞƐŽůĚĨŽƌĐĂƐŚĐŽŶƐŝĚĞƌĂƚŝŽŶŽĨΨϵϳϬ͕ϮϰϭƌĞƐƵůƚŝŶŐŝŶŶĞƚůŽƐƐŽĨΨϮϮϯ͕ϱϯϮŽŶƚŚĞƐĞƚƌĂŶƐĂĐƚŝŽŶƐ͘
WĂƌƚŝĞƐĂƌĞŐĞŶĞƌĂůůǇĐŽŶƐŝĚĞƌĞĚƚŽďĞƌĞůĂƚĞĚŝĨƚŚĞƉĂƌƚŝĞƐĂƌĞƵŶĚĞƌĐŽŵŵŽŶĐŽŶƚƌŽůŽƌŝĨŽŶĞƉĂƌƚǇŚĂƐƚŚĞĂďŝůŝƚǇ
Related
Party Transactions
ǁĞƌĞƐŽůĚĨŽƌĐĂƐŚĐŽŶƐŝĚĞƌĂƚŝŽŶŽĨΨϵϳϬ͕ϮϰϭƌĞƐƵůƚŝŶŐŝŶŶĞƚůŽƐƐŽĨΨϮϮϯ͕ϱϯϮŽŶƚŚĞƐĞƚƌĂŶƐĂĐƚŝŽŶƐ͘

ƚŽĐŽŶƚƌŽůƚŚĞŽƚŚĞƌƉĂƌƚǇŽƌĐĂŶĞǆĞƌĐŝƐĞƐŝŐŶŝĨŝĐĂŶƚŝŶĨůƵĞŶĐĞŽƌũŽŝŶƚĐŽŶƚƌŽůŽǀĞƌƚŚĞŽƚŚĞƌƉĂƌƚǇŝŶŵĂŬŝŶŐĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů
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ĂŶĚ
ŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŽŶĂů
ĚĞĐŝƐŝŽŶƐ͘
/Ŷ
ĐŽŶƐŝĚĞƌŝŶŐ
ĞĂĐŚ
ƉŽƐƐŝďůĞ
ƌĞůĂƚĞĚ
ƉĂƌƚǇ
ƌĞůĂƚŝŽŶƐŚŝƉ͕
ĂƚƚĞŶƚŝŽŶ
ŝƐ
ĚŝƌĞĐƚĞĚ
ƚŽ
ƚŚĞ
the other party or can exercise significant influence or joint control over the other party in making financial and operational
ƐƵďƐƚĂŶĐĞŽĨƚŚĞƌĞůĂƚŝŽŶƐŚŝƉ͕ŶŽƚŵĞƌĞůǇƚŚĞůĞŐĂůĨŽƌŵ͘
decisions.
In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship, not
merely the legal form.

<ĞǇ ŵĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚ ƉĞƌƐŽŶŶĞů ŽĨ ƚŚĞ ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶ ŝŶĐůƵĚĞ Ăůů ĚŝƌĞĐƚŽƌƐ ĂŶĚ ĞǆĞĐƵƚŝǀĞ ŵĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚ͘ dŚĞ ƐƵŵŵĂƌǇ ŽĨ

Key management personnel of the Corporation include all directors and executive management. The summary of compensation
ĐŽŵƉĞŶƐĂƚŝŽŶĨŽƌŬĞǇŵĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚƉĞƌƐŽŶŶĞůŝƐĂƐĨŽůůŽǁƐ͗
for
key management personnel is as follows:
ZĞůĂƚĞĚWĂƌƚǇdƌĂŶƐĂĐƚŝŽŶƐ
^ĂůĂƌŝĞƐĂŶĚŽƚŚĞƌƐŚŽƌƚͲƚĞƌŵďĞŶĞĨŝƚƐƚŽŽĨĨŝĐĞƌƐ
ŝƌĞĐƚŽƌĨĞĞƐ
^ŚĂƌĞͲďĂƐĞĚƉĂǇŵĞŶƚƐƚŽĚŝƌĞĐƚŽƌƐĂŶĚŽĨĨŝĐĞƌƐ


ϮϬϭϳ
Ψ
ϮϬϮ͕Ϭϯϵ
ϱϬ͕ϬϬϬ
Ͳ
ϮϱϮ͕Ϭϯϵ

ϮϬϭϲ
Ψ
ϭϴϲ͕ϯϰϭ
Ͳ
ϭϬϳ͕ϳϮϮ
Ϯϵϰ͕Ϭϲϯ


ƐĂƚĞĐĞŵďĞƌϯϭ͕ϮϬϭϳ͕ĂŵŽƵŶƚƐĚƵĞƚŽƌĞůĂƚĞĚƉĂƌƚŝĞƐƚŽƚĂůĞĚΨϰϬ͕ϬϬϬ͕ĐŽŵƉƌŝƐĞĚĞŶƚŝƌĞůǇŽĨĂĐĐƌƵĞĚĚŝƌĞĐƚŽƌƐ
ĨĞĞƐ;ϮϬϭϲͲΨŶŝůͿĂŶĚǁĞƌĞŝŶĐůƵĚĞĚŝŶƚƌĂĚĞƉĂǇĂďůĞƐĂŶĚĂĐĐƌƵĞĚůŝĂďŝůŝƚŝĞƐ͘


KĨĨͲĂůĂŶĐĞ^ŚĞĞƚ/ƚĞŵƐ
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ƐŽĨĞĐĞŵďĞƌϯϭ͕ϮϬϭϳ͕ƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶŚĂĚŶŽŽĨĨͲďĂůĂŶĐĞƐŚĞĞƚŝƚĞŵƐ͘

As at December 31, 2017, amounts due to related parties totaled $40,000, comprised entirely of accrued directors fees (2016 $nil) and were included in trade payables and accrued liabilities.

Off-Balance Sheet Items
As of December 31, 2017, the Corporation had no off-balance sheet items.

Events Subsequent to Year End
Since January 1, 2018, the Corporation repurchased 108,500 of its shares at an average price of $0.27/share.
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^ĞĐƚŝŽŶϱͲYƵĂƌƚĞƌůǇ/ŶĨŽƌŵĂƚŝŽŶ
Section
5 - Quarterly Information 
Quarterly
Results
YƵĂƌƚĞƌůǇZĞƐƵůƚƐ

dŚĞĨŽůůŽǁŝŶŐƚĂďůĞŝƐĂƐƵŵŵĂƌǇŽĨƐĞůĞĐƚƋƵĂƌƚĞƌůǇŝŶĨŽƌŵĂƚŝŽŶŽǀĞƌƚŚĞƉƌĞǀŝŽƵƐĞŝŐŚƚƋƵĂƌƚĞƌƐ͗
The
following table is a summary of select quarterly information over the previous eight quarters:




ZĞǀĞŶƵĞ
EĞƚŝŶĐŽŵĞ;ůŽƐƐͿ
/ŶĐŽŵĞ;ůŽƐƐͿƉĞƌ
ĐŽŵŵŽŶƐŚĂƌĞ
dŽƚĂůƐƐĞƚƐ
tĞŝŐŚƚĞĚǀĞƌĂŐĞ
^ŚĂƌĞƐ;EŽ͘Ϳ
ŶĚŝŶŐ^ŚĂƌĞƐ;EŽ͘Ϳ

YϰϮϬϭϳ

ϲϲϮ͕ϰϱϴ
;ϳϮϬ͕ϴϴϵͿ

YϯϮϬϭϳ
ϯϳϬ͕ϯϱϰ
ϰϬϭ͕ϴϴϲ

YϮϮϬϭϳ

ϯϯϴ͕ϯϱϮ
;Ϯ͕ϭϯϱ͕ϬϮϱͿ

YϭϮϬϭϳ

ϰϬϭ͕Ϭϳϴ
;ϲϰϯ͕ϭϴϲͿ

YϰϮϬϭϲ
ϯϰϴ͕ϯϬϭ
ϭϵϲ͕ϭϯϴ

YϯϮϬϭϲ
ϰϯϯ͕ϯϬϮ
ϰϯϰ͕Ϭϱϵ

YϮϮϬϭϲ

YϭϮϬϭϲ

ϯϯϴ͕ϮϬϯ
;ϲ͕Ϭϭϳ͕ϲϬϵͿ

ϰϵϬ͕ϭϲϬ
;Ϯϳϱ͕ϯϳϮͿ

;Ϭ͘ϬϮͿ

Ϭ͘Ϭϭ

;Ϭ͘ϬϲͿ

;Ϭ͘ϬϮͿ

Ϭ͘ϬϬ

Ϭ͘Ϭϭ

;Ϭ͘ϭϳͿ

;Ϭ͘ϬϭͿ

Ϯϵ͕ϰϬϱ͕ϴϯϭ

Ϯϵ͕ϯϳϳ͕Ϯϭϭ

ϯϭ͕ϯϵϳ͕ϰϬϵ

ϯϯ͕Ϯϲϴ͕ϳϱϰ

ϯϰ͕ϱϭϭ͕Ϯϳϲ

ϯϲ͕ϳϲϳ͕ϭϴϲ

ϰϭ͕ϰϴϬ͕ϮϰϬ

ϰϲ͕Ϯϰϭ͕Ϯϰϳ

ϯϰ͕ϯϰϮ͕Ϭϱϵ

ϯϰ͕ϰϴϲ͕ϭϱϮ

ϯϰ͕ϱϳϭ͕ϲϭϬ

ϯϰ͕ϲϯϯ͕ϴϵϵ

ϯϱ͕Ϯϵϳ͕ϭϬϴ

ϯϱ͕ϰϯϬ͕ϰϬϰ

ϯϱ͕ϰϰϰ͕Ϯϭϳ

ϯϱ͕ϱϭϮ͕ϴϮϵ

ϯϯ͕ϲϵϲ͕ϱϵϵ

ϯϰ͕Ϯϵϰ͕Ϭϵϵ

ϯϰ͕ϱϬϲ͕ϱϵϵ

ϯϰ͕ϱϮϰ͕Ϭϵϵ

ϯϰ͕ϴϬϲ͕ϱϵϵ

ϯϱ͕ϯϳϮ͕Ϭϵϵ

ϯϱ͕ϯϵϳ͕ϱϵϵ

ϯϱ͕ϱϭϮ͕ϴϮϵ

ZĞǀĞŶƵĞ
Revenue

During the fourth quarter, the Corporation’s real estate subsidiary earned total revenue of $662,458 (Q4 2016 Ͳ

During
the fourth quarter,
the Corporation’s
estate
subsidiary earnedͲΨϰϬϲ͕ϰϭϬͿ͘dŚĞŵĂũŽƌŝƚǇŽĨƚŚŝƐƌĞŶƚĂůŝŶĐŽŵĞ
total revenue of $662,458 (Q4 2016 -$348,301) of
Ψϯϰϴ͕ϯϬϭͿŽĨǁŚŝĐŚ
ƌĞŶƚĂůŝŶĐŽŵĞ
ĞĂƌŶĞĚreal
ǁĂƐ
Ψϯϱϯ͕Ϯϳϵ;YϰϮϬϭϲ
which rental income earned was $353,279 (Q4 2016 - $406,410). The majority of this rental income decrease is attributed
ĚĞĐƌĞĂƐĞŝƐĂƚƚƌŝďƵƚĞĚƚŽůŽǁĞƌƌĞŶƚĂůƌĂƚĞƐĂŶĚĂĚĞĐůŝŶĞŝŶƚŚĞĐƵƌƌĞŶĐǇ͘dŚĞƋƵĂƌƚĞƌůǇƌĞǀĞŶƵĞŶƵŵďĞƌĂůƐŽŝŶĐůƵĚĞƐ
to lower rental rates and a decline in the currency. The quarterly revenue number also includes other revenue earned from
ŽƚŚĞƌ ƌĞǀĞŶƵĞ
ĞĂƌŶĞĚ
ĨƌŽŵ
ŵŝƐĐĞůůĂŶĞŽƵƐ
ƐŽƵƌĐĞƐ
ƐƵĐŚsale
ĂƐ ůĂƚĞ
ĨĞĞƐ͕ ĂĚǀĞƌƚŝƐŝŶŐ
ĂŶĚ
ĨƌŽŵthe
ƐĂůĞ
ŽĨ ŝŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚ
miscellaneous
sources
such
as late
fees, advertising
and from
of investment
properties.
During
fourth
quarter, the
ƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ͘experienced
ƵƌŝŶŐ ƚŚĞaĨŽƵƌƚŚ
ƚŚĞ ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶ
Ă ŐĂŝŶ
ŽŶ of
ƐĂůĞ
ŽĨ ŝŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚ
ƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ
ŽĨ
Corporation
gain on ƋƵĂƌƚĞƌ͕
sale of investment
propertiesĞǆƉĞƌŝĞŶĐĞĚ
of $298,646 (2016
– loss
$62,279),
which positively
affected
the
Corporation’s revenue.
ΨϮϵϴ͕ϲϰϲ;ϮϬϭϲ–loss
of $62,279), which positively affected the Corporation’s revenue.
During the 4th quarter of 2017, the Corporation also incurred an unrealized loss on fair value adjustment of $1,107,674 compared
ƵƌŝŶŐ
ƚŚĞ ϰƚŚloss
ƋƵĂƌƚĞƌ
ϮϬϭϳ͕
ƚŚĞ ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶ
ŝŶĐƵƌƌĞĚ
ĂŶ ƵŶƌĞĂůŝǌĞĚ ůŽƐƐ ŽŶ ĨĂŝƌ ǀĂůƵĞ ĂĚũƵƐƚŵĞŶƚ ŽĨ
to
an unrealized
on fair ŽĨ
value
adjustment
of $166,594ĂůƐŽ
during
Q4 2016.

Ψϭ͕ϭϬϳ͕ϲϳϰĐŽŵƉĂƌĞĚƚŽĂŶƵŶƌĞĂůŝǌĞĚůŽƐƐŽŶĨĂŝƌǀĂůƵĞĂĚũƵƐƚŵĞŶƚŽĨΨϭϲϲ͕ϱϵϰĚƵƌŝŶŐYϰϮϬϭϲ͘

Expenses

ǆƉĞŶƐĞƐ
Quarterly
expenses related to corporate operations totaled $151,106 (Q4 2016 - $71,328). This increase was due to a reallocation
of
Management salaries from its Mongolian operations to its Canadian operations.
YƵĂƌƚĞƌůǇĞǆƉĞŶƐĞƐƌĞůĂƚĞĚƚŽĐŽƌƉŽƌĂƚĞŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŽŶƐƚŽƚĂůĞĚΨϭϱϭ͕ϭϬϲ;YϰϮϬϭϲͲΨϳϭ͕ϯϮϴͿ͘dŚŝƐŝŶĐƌĞĂƐĞǁĂƐĚƵĞƚŽĂ
ƌĞĂůůŽĐĂƚŝŽŶŽĨDĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚƐĂůĂƌŝĞƐĨƌŽŵŝƚƐDŽŶŐŽůŝĂŶŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŽŶƐƚŽŝƚƐĂŶĂĚŝĂŶŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŽŶƐ͘
Net
Income

During the quarter, the Corporation experienced loss of $720,889 in comparison to an income of $196,138 in the same quarter of
EĞƚ/ŶĐŽŵĞ
the
previous year. This difference is mainly attributed to the significant fair value adjustments loss recorded in the fourth quarter
ƵƌŝŶŐƚŚĞƋƵĂƌƚĞƌ͕ƚŚĞŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶĞǆƉĞƌŝĞŶĐĞĚůŽƐƐŽĨΨϳϮϬ͕ϴϴϵŝŶĐŽŵƉĂƌŝƐŽŶƚŽĂŶŝŶĐŽŵĞŽĨΨϭϵϲ͕ϭϯϴŝŶƚŚĞƐĂŵĞ
of
2017 compared to the fourth quarter of 2016.

ƋƵĂƌƚĞƌŽĨƚŚĞƉƌĞǀŝŽƵƐǇĞĂƌ͘dŚŝƐĚŝĨĨĞƌĞŶĐĞŝƐŵĂŝŶůǇĂƚƚƌŝďƵƚĞĚƚŽƚŚĞƐŝŐŶŝĨŝĐĂŶƚĨĂŝƌǀĂůƵĞĂĚũƵƐƚŵĞŶƚƐůŽƐƐƌĞĐŽƌĚĞĚ
ŝŶƚŚĞĨŽƵƌƚŚƋƵĂƌƚĞƌŽĨϮϬϭϳĐŽŵƉĂƌĞĚƚŽƚŚĞĨŽƵƌƚŚƋƵĂƌƚĞƌŽĨϮϬϭϲ͘
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Section 6 – Critical Estimates and Judgements
Critical Accounting Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS required Management to make assumptions about the future
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated based on historical
experiences and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
In the future, actual experience may differ from these estimates and assumptions.
The critical estimates made in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements include the following:

Fair value of investment properties
The estimate of fair value of investment properties is the most critical accounting estimate to the Corporation. An external
appraiser estimates the fair value of the majority of the Investment Properties annually, the remainder are appraised internally
by Management. The fair value of investment properties is based on the nature, location and condition of the specific asset.
The fair value of investment properties represents an estimate of the price that would be made in an arm’s length transaction
between knowledgeable, willing parties. The Corporation operates in the emerging real estate market of Mongolia, which given
its current economic and industry conditions, has an increased inherent risk resulting from the lack of reliable and comparable
market information. At December 31, 2017, the unrealized loss on fair value adjustment is $2,758,843 (2016 - loss of $5,728,003).

Accuracy of Share Based Compensation Expense
The estimate of the expense arising from share based compensation plans is another critical accounting estimate. There are
several sources of uncertainty that need to be considered in the estimate of the share based compensation expense recorded
by the Corporation. The ultimate expense is estimated by using a number of key assumptions such as the expected volatility of
the share price, the dividends expected on the shares, the risk free interest rate for the expected life of the options and future
forfeiture rates. For the year ending December 31, 2017, there were no share based payment costs (2016 - $157,165).

Operating Environment of the Corporation
Mongolia displays many characteristics of an emerging market including relatively high inflation and interest rates. The tax and
customs legislation in Mongolia is subject to varying interpretations and frequent changes. The future economic performance of
Mongolia is tied to continuing demand from China and continuing high global prices for commodities as well as being dependent
upon the effectiveness of economic, financial and monetary measures undertaken by the Government of Mongolia together
with tax, legal, regulatory and political developments. Management is unable to predict all developments that could have an
impact on the Mongolian economy and consequently what effect, if any, they could have on the future financial position of the
Corporation.
During 2016 and early 2017, the Corporation had difficulty in converting Mongolian Tögrög to U.S. Dollars at large Mongolian
banks. This difficulty has persisted in subsequent periods, but to a lesser degree. There can be no certainty regarding the ability
to convert or wire money from Mongolia in the future.
Mongolia recently signed an agreement with the IMF. There is no certainty regarding the demands that the IMF may make upon
Mongolia for austerity or the impacts that this may have on the economy of Mongolia.
Due to the economic crisis, businesses are increasingly paying for transactions using various forms of barter such as used
equipment, apartments, vehicles, future services and livestock. To date, the Corporation has only agreed to receive barter items
in extreme circumstances and has a strong preference to avoid using barter in transactions. As the economic crisis worsens,
barter transactions may become a more substantial percentage of overall economic transactions. As a result, the Corporation
may be forced to receive barter items at a higher frequency. These barter items are often difficult to value and monetize and may
cause other difficulties for the Corporation that are impossible to predict.

Deferred Tax Assets
Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that deductible temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and there will be sufficient future taxable profits against which the deductible temporary differences can
be utilized. The Corporation reviews the carrying amount of deferred tax assets at the end of each reporting period which is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that deferred tax assets recognized will be recovered, or increased to the
extent that sufficient future taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of a previously unrecognized deferred tax asset
to be recovered. Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecasted cash flows from operations, available tax planning
opportunities and expected timing of reversals of taxable temporary differences.
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Significant judgments made in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements include the
following areas:
Judgement is required in determining whether an asset meets the criteria for classification as assets held for sale and or as
discontinued operations in the consolidated financial statements. Criteria considered by management include the existence of
and commitment to a plan to dispose of the assets, the expected selling price of the assets, the probability of the sale being
completed within an expected timeframe of one year and the period of time any amounts have been classified within assets
held for sale. The Company reviews the criteria for assets held for sale each quarter and reclassifies such assets to or from this
financial position category as appropriate. On completion of the sale, management exercises judgement as to whether the sale
qualifies as a discontinued operation.
As at December 31, 2017 and 2016 management has made the judgment that none of the Company’s assets meet the criteria
to be classified as held for sale. While this is due to a number of factors, a primary reason is that due to the conditions of the
Mongolian economy and the lack of liquidity in the market, management was unable to conclude that the sale of any significant
size asset could be considered highly probable.
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Section 7 – Risk Management
Credit Risk
The Corporation’s exposure to credit risk is managed through risk management policies and procedures with emphasis on the
quality of the investment portfolio. For the year, most of the Corporation’s credit risk consisted of institutional deposits. The
majority of the funds invested are held in reputable Canadian or Mongolian banks. Recently, there have been rumors that
various commercial banks in Mongolia could fail. There is no way to tell if these rumors are accurate however, starting in early
July, the Corporation has had difficulty in converting Mongolian Tögrög into U.S. Dollars. If banks are unwilling or unable to give
the Corporation access to its U.S. Dollar deposits, the Corporation could experience severe liquidity issues.
The Corporation is exposed to credit risk as an owner of real estate in which tenants may become unable to pay contracted
rents. The Corporation mitigates this risk by carrying out due diligence on significant tenants. The Corporation’s properties
are diversified across residential and commercial classes. Historically, bad debts have not been a substantial expense for the
Corporation. Recently, the Corporation has experienced an increase in late rental payments. The Corporation believes that it will
collect all of this debt, but there is no certainty that this will occur.

Liquidity Risk
Under certain market conditions, such as during volatile markets or when trading in a security or market is otherwise impaired,
the liquidity of the Corporation’s portfolio positions may be reduced. In addition, the Corporation may from time to time hold
large positions with respect to a specific type of financial instrument, which may reduce the Corporation’s liquidity. During such
times, the Corporation may be unable to dispose of certain financial instruments, including longer-term financial instruments,
which would adversely affect its ability to rebalance its portfolio. In addition, such circumstances may force the Corporation
to dispose of financial instruments at reduced prices, thereby adversely affecting its performance. If there are other market
participants seeking to dispose of similar financial instruments at the same time, the Corporation may be unable to sell such
financial instruments or prevent losses relating to such financial instruments. Furthermore, if the Corporation incurs substantial
trading losses, the need for liquidity could rise sharply while its access to liquidity could be impaired. In addition, in conjunction
with a market downturn, the Corporation’s counterparties could incur losses of their own, thereby weakening their financial
condition and increasing the Corporation’s exposure to their credit risk.
The Corporation does not believe its current maturity profile lends itself to any material liquidity risk, taking into account the
level of cash and cash equivalents, investments and marketable securities as at December 31, 2017.
As at December 31, 2017, the Corporation had working capital of $4,346,337 (2016- $1,849,564) comprised of cash and cash
equivalents, other assets, net of trade and accrued liabilities and income taxes payable. Management considers the funds on
hand to be sufficient to meet its ongoing obligations.
As of December 31, 2017, the Corporation’s only material contractual obligations is the repayment of its credit facility of up to
$1,300,200 in December 2019. To date the Corporation has only drawn on $629,748 of this facility.

Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of, or future cash flows from, the Corporation’s financial instruments will significantly
fluctuate due to changes in market prices. The value of the financial instruments can be affected by changes in interest rates,
foreign exchange rates, and equity and commodity prices. The Corporation is exposed to market risk in trading its investments
and unfavorable market conditions could result in dispositions of investments at less than favorable prices.

Property Title Risk
Mongolian law has strong protections for property assets; however implementation of Mongolian law is often arbitrary, with high
degrees of corruption and incompetence. Additionally, laws frequently change, which can invalidate a property title. To date,
the Corporation has only had one of its property assets confiscated by the Government of Mongolia, however the Corporation
believes that there is a possibility that it will have additional assets confiscated by the Government of Mongolia or stolen by
private individuals during future periods. The Corporation is currently not aware of any individual asset that is in imminent
danger of being confiscated or stolen.

Currency Risk
The Corporation owns properties located in Mongolia and collects rental revenue in Mongolian Tögrög, and is therefore subject
to foreign currency fluctuations that may impact its financial position and results. Changes in the Mongolian Tögrög, U.S. dollar
and Canadian dollar foreign currency exchange rates impact the fair value of securities denominated in Mongolian Tögrög and
in U.S. dollars. All of the Corporation’s revenues are received in Mongolian Tögrög while approximately half of the Corporation’s
expenses are incurred in U.S. and Canadian Dollars. Therefore, a depreciation in the Mongolian Tögrög against the US and
Canadian Dollar will reduce AFFO. The exchange rate continues to be volatile and there is an expectation that volatility may
continue for the foreseable future.

Mongolia Growth Group Ltd |

21

Economic Volatility and Uncertainty
Over the past few years, economic volatility and uncertainty around the world has contributed to dramatically restricted access
to capital and reduced capital markets activity for more speculative businesses. The Corporation’s management believes that the
Corporation has sufficient resources to carry on its business and remain a going concern.
MGG holds the majority of its assets, investments and operations in the nation of Mongolia. Mongolia is presently experiencing
drastic changes in its economy. Economic volatility and uncertainty in Mongolia could result in inflation, hyperinflation, economic
stagnation, political extremism, and other similarly detrimental scenarios which could materially harm the Corporation.
Preliminary growth estimates according to the National Statistics Office for 2017 was 5.1% year over year, while inflation estimates
were 6.4% according to Mongol Bank. Management cautions investors that official economic numbers often deviate materially
from actual underlying economic conditions.
Depending on the requirements of MGG’s businesses, additional funds may be required to be raised in the capital markets and
there is no guarantee that sufficient funds raised will be available to complete a financing required to augment the Corporation’s
operations.

Risks and Uncertainties
The Corporation, as part of its operations, carries financial instruments consisting of cash and cash equivalents, investments
and marketable securities, accounts receivable, and trade payables and accrued liabilities. It is Management’s opinion that the
Corporation is not exposed to significant credit, interest or currency risks arising from these financial instruments except as
otherwise disclosed in the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Further information related to Mongolia Growth Group Ltd. and the risks and uncertainties of MGG is filed on the System for
Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval (“SEDAR”) and can be reviewed at www.sedar.com.

Financial Instruments
The Corporation’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, investments and marketable securities, accounts
receivable and trade and accrued payables. The Corporation is subject to interest risk as it earns interest income from its cash
deposits. It is Management’s opinion that the Corporation is not exposed to significant credit risks arising from these financial
instruments and that the fair value of these financial instruments approximates their carrying values. Management believes that
there are material currency risks associated to certain Financial Instruments of the Corporation as they are held in Mongolian
Tögrög. For further discussion of financial instrument risks, see the Insurance and Financial Risk Management note (Note 15 on
December 31, 2017 Financial Statements).
Unless the context otherwise requires, references to the “Corporation” include the Corporation and its subsidiaries and affiliates
collectively, including Mongolia (Barbados) Corp.

Changes in Investment Strategies
The Corporation may alter its investment strategies and restrictions without prior approval by shareholders to adapt to changing
circumstances.

Possible Negative Impact of Regulation
The regulatory environment is evolving and changes to it may adversely affect the Corporation. To the extent that regulators adopt
practices of regulatory oversight that create additional compliance, transaction, disclosure or other costs for the Corporation,
returns of the Corporation may be negatively affected. In addition, the regulatory or tax environment for securities, derivatives
and related instruments is evolving and may be subject to modification by government or judicial action that may adversely affect
the value of the investments held by the Corporation. The effect of any future regulatory or tax change on the Corporation is
impossible to predict.

Property Specific Risk
The Corporation currently has a standing agreement with the owner of a 42 sq. meter apartment which has been included in
one of the Corporation’s properties classified as land and development. The agreement entitles the owner of the apartment
to 84 sq. meters of space on the first floor of a new building to be built on this land. In this agreement, the Corporation had an
obligation to complete the construction of a new building by the end of 2017 and the agreement was not extended. A liability
of $142,894 is currently included in the Corporation’s balance sheet to reflect this liability. In addition, the Corporation has
recognized a $1,585,120 (2016 - $nil) unrealized fair value loss on this property in excess of the fair value adjustment calculated
using the valuation approaches described. This adjustment is management’s estimate of the markets perception of the risk
related to this agreement. While the Corporation has received legal advice that it is not at a substantial risk of losing the property
in question, interpretations of Mongolian law can be varied and arbitrary. The Corporation cautions investors that should it lose
this property, it would result in a material reduction in the Corporation’s overall assets and fair value (4.7 million dollars current
carrying value). In addition, there is the potential that the 84 sq. meter liability could inhibit the sale or development of this asset
in future periods.
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Use of Derivatives
The Corporation may use derivative instruments. The use of derivatives in general presents additional risks to those applicable
to trading only in the underlying assets. To the extent of the Corporation’s investment in derivatives it may take a credit risk with
respect to parties with whom it trades and may also bear the risk of settlement default. When used for hedging purposes, an
imperfect or variable degree of correlation between price movements of the derivative instrument and the underlying investment
sought to be hedged may prevent the Corporation from achieving the intended hedge effect or expose the Corporation to the
risk of loss. In addition, derivative instruments may not be liquid at all times, so that in volatile markets the Corporation may not
be able to close out a position without incurring a loss. No assurance can be given that short sales, hedging, leverage and other
techniques and strategies utilized by the Corporation to hedge its exposure will not result in material losses.

Custody Risk and Broker or Dealer Insolvency
The Corporation does not control the custodianship of all of its assets. The Corporation’s assets will be held in one or more
accounts maintained for the Corporation by its broker or brokers. Such brokers are subject to various laws and regulations in
various jurisdictions that are designed to protect their customers in the event of their insolvency. However, the practical effect
of these laws and their application to the Corporation’s assets are subject to substantial limitations and uncertainties. Because
of the large number of entities and jurisdictions involved and the range of possible factual scenarios involving the insolvency
of a broker or any sub-custodians, agents or affiliates, it is impossible to generalize about the effect of their insolvency on the
Corporation and its assets. Investors should assume that the insolvency of any of the brokers or such other service providers
would result in the loss of all or a substantial portion of the Corporation’s assets held by or through such brokers and/or the delay
in the payment of withdrawal proceeds.

Investment and Trading Risks in General
All trades made by the Corporation risk the loss of capital. The Corporation may utilize trading techniques or instruments,
which can, in certain circumstances, maximize the adverse impact to which a client’s account may be subject. No guarantee
or representation is made that the Corporation’s investment program will be successful, and investment results may vary
substantially over time. Many unforeseeable events, including actions by various government agencies, and domestic and
international economic and political developments may cause sharp market fluctuations which could adversely affect the
Corporation’s portfolio and performance.

General Economic and Market Conditions
The success of the Corporation’s activities may be affected by general economic and market conditions, such as interest rates,
availability of credit, inflation rates, economic uncertainty, changes in laws, and national and international political circumstances.
These factors may affect the level and volatility of securities prices and the liquidity of the Corporation’s investments. Unexpected
volatility or illiquidity could impair the Corporation’s profitability or result in losses.

Issuer–Specific Changes
The value of an individual security or particular type of security can be more volatile than, and can perform differently from the
market as a whole.

Portfolio Turnover
The Corporation has not placed any limits on the rate of portfolio turnover and portfolio securities may be sold without regard
to the time they have been held when, in the opinion of the Corporation, investment considerations warrant such action. A high
rate of portfolio turnover involves correspondingly greater expenses than a lower rate.

Liquidity of Underlying Investments
Some of the securities in which the Corporation may invest may be thinly traded. There are no restrictions on the investment of
the Corporation in illiquid securities. It is possible that the Corporation may not be able to sell or repurchase significant portions
of such positions without facing substantially adverse prices. If the Corporation is required to transact in such securities before
its intended investment horizon, the performance of the Corporation, could suffer.

Highly Volatile Markets
The prices of financial instruments in which the Corporation’s assets may be invested can be highly volatile and may be influenced
by, among other things, specific corporate developments, interest rates, changing supply and demand relationships, trade, fiscal,
monetary and exchange control programs and policies of governments, and national and international political and economic
events and policies. The Corporation is subject to the risk of the failure of any of the exchanges on which the Corporation’s
positions trade or of their clearinghouses.

Emerging Markets
The Corporation may invest in the securities of companies which operate in some emerging markets. Operating in emerging
markets involves additional risks because companies in emerging markets may be less regulated and not subject to the same
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standards, reporting practices and disclosure requirements that apply in more developed markets. In addition, some emerging
markets and legal systems may not adequately protect investor rights.

Small- to Medium- Capitalization Companies
The Corporation may invest a portion of its assets in the securities of companies with small- to medium-sized market capitalizations.
While the Corporation believes these investments often provide significant potential for appreciation, those securities may
involve higher risks in some respects than do investments in securities of larger companies. For example, while smaller companies
generally have potential for rapid growth, they often involve higher risks because they may lack the management experience,
financial resources, product diversification, and competitive strength of larger companies. In addition, in many instances, the
frequency and volume of their trading may be substantially less than is typical of larger companies. As a result, the securities
of smaller companies may be subject to wider price fluctuations. When making large sales, the Corporation may have to sell
portfolio holdings at discounts from quoted prices or may have to make a series of small sales over an extended period of time
due to the trading volume of smaller Corporation securities.

Fixed Income Securities
The Corporation may occasionally invest in bonds or other fixed income securities of issuers, including, without limitation, bonds,
notes and debentures issued by corporations. Fixed income securities pay fixed, variable or floating rates of interest. The value
of fixed income securities in which the Corporation invests will change in response to fluctuations in interest rates. In addition,
the value of certain fixed-income securities can fluctuate in response to perceptions of credit worthiness, political stability
or soundness of economic policies. Fixed income securities are subject to the risk of the issuer’s inability to meet principal
and interest payments on its obligations (i.e., credit risk) and are subject to price volatility due to such factors as interest rate
sensitivity, market perception of the creditworthiness of the issuer and general market liquidity (i.e., market risk). If fixed income
investments are not held to maturity, the Corporation may suffer a loss at the time of sale of such securities.

Equity Securities
To the extent that the Corporation holds equity portfolio investments, or short positions in equities, it will be influenced by stock
market conditions in those jurisdictions where the securities held by the Corporation, are listed for trading and by changes in the
circumstances of the issuers whose securities are held by the Corporation.

Options
Selling call and put options is a highly specialized activity and entails greater than ordinary investment risk. The risk of loss when
purchasing an option is limited to the amount of the purchase price of the option, however investment in an option may be
subject to greater fluctuation than an investment in the underlying security. In the case of the sale of an uncovered option there
can be potential for an unlimited loss. To some extent this risk may be hedged by the purchase or sale of the underlying security.

Shorting
Selling a security short (“shorting”) involves borrowing a security from an existing holder and selling the security in the market
with a promise to return it at a later date. Should the security increase in value during the shorting period, losses will incur to the
Corporation. There is in theory no upper limit to how high the price of a security may go. Another risk involved in shorting is the
loss of a borrow, a situation where the lender of the security requests its return. In cases like this, the Corporation, must either
find securities to replace those borrowed or step into the market and repurchase the securities. Depending on the liquidity of
the security shorted, if there are insufficient securities available at current market prices, the Corporation, may have to bid up
the price of the security in order to cover the short position, resulting in losses to the Corporation.

Trading Costs
The Corporation may engage in a high rate of trading activity resulting in correspondingly high costs being borne by the
Corporation.

Currency and Exchange Rate Risks
The Corporation’s assets will be denominated in multiple currencies. The Corporation will report their results in Canadian dollars.
The Corporation expects to report allocations of profit and loss for income tax purposes in Canadian dollars. Changes in currency
exchange rates may affect the value of the Corporation’s portfolio and the unrealized appreciation or depreciation of investments.

Leverage
The Corporation may use financial leverage by borrowing funds against the assets of the Corporation. Leverage increases
both the possibilities for profit and the risk of loss for the Corporation. From time to time, the credit markets are subject to
periods in which there is a severe contraction of both liquidity and available leverage. The combination of these two factors can
result in leveraged strategies being required to sell positions typically at highly disadvantageous prices in order to meet margin
requirements, contributing to a general decline in a wide range of different securities. Illiquidity can be particularly damaging to
leveraged strategies because of the essentially discretionary ability of dealers to raise margin requirements, requiring leveraged
strategy to attempt to sell positions to comply with such requirements at a time when there are effectively no buyers in the
market at all or at any but highly distressed prices. These market conditions have in the past resulted in major losses. Such
conditions, although unpredictable, can be expected to recur.
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Future Acquisitions and Business Diversification
Management is currently evaluating future acquisitions of businesses and operating assets that are not related to investments
within Mongolia. There can be no certainty that the Corporation will acquire any business. Additionally, if the Corporation
acquires part or all of a business outside of Mongolia, it may dilute management’s focus on current operations within Mongolia.
Additionally, shareholders who desire a Mongolia focused investment vehicle may sell shares of the Corporation if they do not
desire investments outside of Mongolia. There can be no certainty that the Corporation can raise adequate funding to finance
an acquisition of a business outside of Mongolia or that diversification of the Corporation’s business is in the best interest of the
Corporation. Capital spent on researching businesses outside of Mongolia will increase operating expenses and operating losses
as long as such due diligence is ongoing.

Internal Controls over Financial Reporting
Changes in securities laws no longer require the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of junior reporting issuers
to certify that they have designed internal control over financial reporting, or caused it to be designed under their supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with IFRS.
Instead, an optional form of certification has been made available to junior reporting issuers and has been used by the
Corporation’s certifying officers since December 31, 2013 annual filings. The new certification reflects what the Corporation
considers to be a more appropriate level of CEO and CFO certification given the size and nature of the Corporation’s operations.
This certification requires the certifying officers to state that: they have reviewed the interim MD&A and consolidated financial
statements; they have determined that there is no untrue statement of a material fact, or any omission of material fact required
to be stated which would make a statement or its omission misleading in light of the circumstances under which it was made
within the interim MD&A and consolidated financial statements; based on their knowledge, the interim filings, together with the
other financial information included in the interim filings, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the Corporation as of the date and for the periods presented in the filings.

Accounting standards issued but not yet effective
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after
January 1, 2018 or later and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. Those which are
relevant to the Corporation are set out below. The Corporation does not plan to adopt these standards early and is continuing to
evaluate the impact of such standards.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, first issued in November 2009 with final version released in July 2014 by the IASB, brings together
the classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting phases of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39. IFRS 9
introduces a principles-based approach to the classification of financial assets based on an entity’s business model and the
nature of the cash flows of the asset. All financial assets, including hybrid contracts, are measured as at fair value through profit
and loss (FVTPL), fair value through OCI or amortized cost.
For financial liabilities, IFRS 9 includes the requirements for classification and measurement previously included in IAS 39.
IFRS 9 also introduces an expected loss impairment model for all financial assets not as at FVTPL. The model has three stages:
(1) on initial recognition, 12-month expected credit losses are recognized in profit or loss and a loss allowance is established; (2)
if credit risk increases significantly and the resulting credit risk is not considered to be low, full lifetime expected credit losses
are recognized; and (3) when a financial asset is considered credit-impaired, interest revenue is calculated based on the carrying
amount of the asset, net of the loss allowance, rather than its gross carrying amount.
Finally, IFRS 9 introduces a new hedge accounting model that aligns the accounting for hedge relationships more closely with an
entity’s risk management activities. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
The Corporation has performed a preliminary assessment and expects no material impact from adopting IFRS 9 and plans to
adopt the new standard on the required effective date.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and establishes a new five-step model that will apply to revenue arising from contracts with
customers. Under IFRS 15 revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to
be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more structured
approach to measuring and recognizing revenue.
The new revenue standard is applicable to all entities and will supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under
IFRS. Either a full or modified retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018
with early adoption permitted. The Corporation has performed a preliminary assessment and expects no material impact from
adopting IFRS 15 and plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date.

IFRS 16 – Leases
IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 Leases and related interpretations. The core principle is that a lessee recognize assets and liabilities for
all leases with a lease term of more than 12 months. A lessee is required to recognize a right-of-use asset representing its right
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to use the underlying leased asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments. Assets and liabilities
arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. The measurement includes non-cancellable lease payments
(including inflation-linked payments), and also includes payments to be made in optional periods if the lessee is reasonably
certain to exercise an option to extend the lease, or not to exercise an option to terminate the lease. The new standard is
intended to provide a faithful representation of leasing transactions, in particular those that do not currently require the lessees
to recognize an asset and liability arising from an operating lease. IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on January 1,
2019, with early adoption permitted for entities that would also apply IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

Additional Information
Additional information relating to Mongolia Growth Group Ltd., including its interim financial statements, is available on SEDAR
at www.sedar.com.
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Mongolia Growth Group
Ltd.

Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2017
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Shareholders of
Mongolia Growth Group Ltd.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Mongolia Growth Group Ltd., which
comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the consolidated
statements of operations, comprehensive loss, changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.
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Opinion
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Mongolia Growth Group Ltd. as at December 31, 2017 and 2016 and its financial performance and its cash
flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

“DAVIDSON & COMPANY LLP”
Vancouver, Canada

Chartered Professional Accountants

March 23, 2018
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Mongolia Growth Group Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
As at December 31
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)



Assets
Current assets

Cash (note 5)
Marketable securities (note 6)
Other assets (note 7)

Non-current assets

Investment properties (note 8)
Property and equipment (note 9)

Total assets

2017
$

2016
$

1,640,771
2,816,624
406,019
4,863,414

1,881,487
1,184,825
137,753
3,204,065

22,887,521
1,654,896
24,542,417

29,501,350
1,805,861
31,307,211

29,405,831

34,511,276

507,534
9,543
517,077

1,192,397
162,104
1,354,501

502,426
629,748

624,335
-

1,649,251

1,978,836

53,751,473
6,849,976
(13,086,274)
(19,758,595)

54,130,373
6,849,976
(11,786,528)
(16,661,381)

Liabilities
Current liabilities

Trade payables and accrued liabilities (note 10)
Income taxes payable

Non-current liabilities

Deferred income tax liability (note 12)
Long term debt (note 11)

Total liabilities

Equity
Share capital (note 13)
Contributed surplus
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Deficit

Total equity

27,756,580

32,532,440

Total equity and liabilities

29,405,831

34,511,276

Commitment and contingencies (note 17)
Subsequent events (note 21)
Approved by the Board of Directors

“Robert Scott”

Director

“Harris Kupperman”

Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Mongolia Growth Group Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
For the years ended December 31
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Revenue

Rental income
Gain (loss) on disposal of investment property
Other revenue
Total revenue

Expenses

Salaries and wages
Other expenses (note 20)
Share based payment (note 13)
Depreciation (note 9)
Total expenses

Net investment income
Unrealized loss on fair value adjustment on
Investment properties (note 8)
Impairment of property and equipment (note 9)
Impairment of other assets
Unrealized gain (loss) on short term investments (note 6)
Realized gain on short term investments (note 6)
Foreign currency gain
Finance costs
Recovery of tax

Net loss before income taxes
Income taxes (note 12)

Net loss for the year

2017
$

2016
$

1,471,344
247,200
53,698

1,783,896
(223,532)
49,602

1,772,242

1,609,966

821,593
944,299
81,249

876,670
1,217,192
157,165
124,523

1,847,141

2,375,550

26,133

20,270

(2,758,843)
(210,188)
(371,197)
63,809
5,839
(5,794)
147,174

(5,728,003)
(343,506)
(11,445)
731,041
333,475

(3,177,966)

(5,763,752)

80,752
(3,097,214)

100,968
(5,662,784)

Net loss per share (note 13)
Basic
From net loss for the year
Diluted
From net loss for the year

(0.09)

(0.16)

(0.09)

(0.16)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Mongolia Growth Group Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
For the years ended December 31
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Net loss for the year

2017
$

2016
$

(3,097,214)

(5,662,784)

(1,299,746)

(10,651,263)

(4,396,960)

(16,314,047)

Other comprehensive loss

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to income or loss
Unrealized losses on translation of financial statement
operations with Mongolian Tögrög functional
currency to Canadian dollar reporting currency

Total comprehensive loss

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Mongolia Growth Group Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
For the years ended December 31
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Balance at January 1,
2016
Net loss for the year
Other comprehensive loss

Share repurchase
Share based payments
Share capital issued (note 13)
Balance at December 31,
2016

Share
capital
$

Contributed
surplus
$

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
loss
$

54,369,332
54,369,332

6,738,875
6,738,875

(1,135,265)
(10,651,263)
(11,786,528)

(285,023)
46,064

157,165
(46,064)

-

54,130,373

6,849,976

Share
capital
$
Balance at January 1, 2017
Net loss for the year
Other comprehensive loss

Share repurchase
Balance at December 31,
2017

Deficit
$

Total
$

(10,998,597) 48,974,345
(5,662,784) (5,662,784)
- (10,651,263)
(16,661,381) 32,660,298
-

(285,023)
157,165
-

(11,786,528) (16,661,381) 32,532,440

Accumulated
other
Contribute comprehensive
d surplus
loss
$
$
(11,786,528)

Deficit
$

Total
$
32,532,440
(3,097,214)
(1,299,746)
28,135,480

54,130,373
54,130,373

6,849,976
6,849,976

(1,299,746)
(13,086,274)

(16,661,381)
(3,097,214)
(19,758,595)

(378,900)

-

-

-

(378,900)

53,751,473

6,849,976

(13,086,274)

(19,758,595)

27,756,580

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow
For the years ended December 31
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
2017
$

2016
$

Cash provided by (used in)
Operating activities
Net loss for the year
Items not affecting cash
Depreciation (note 9)
Share based payments (note 13)
Deferred taxes (note 12)
Bad debt write off
Allowance for doubtful tax receivables (note 7)
Realized loss on disposal of property and equipment
Realized loss (gain) on disposal of investment properties (note 8)
Impairment of property and equipment (note 9)
Impairment of other assets (note 7)
Unrealized loss (gain) on marketable securities (note 6)
Realized gain on marketable securities
Unrealized loss on fair value adjustment on investment
properties (note 8)

(3,097,214)

(5,662,784)

81,249
(121,909)
(36,078)
(247,200)
210,188
371,197
(63,809)

124,523
157,165
(365,774)
5,930
85,526
8,671
223,532
343,506
11,445
(731,041)
-

2,758,843
(144,733)

5,728,003
(71,298)

(200,305)
(345,038)

784,461
713,163

(378,900)
648,880
269,980

(285,023)
(285,023)

(1,924,157)
(617)
(196,004)
2,113,755
(7,023)

(453,698)
(18,241)
(22,617)
970,241
475,685

(82,081)

903,825

Effect of exchange rates on cash

(158,635)

(57,610)

Increase (decrease) in cash

(240,716)

846,215

Cash – Beginning of year

1,881,487

1,035,272

1,640,771

1,881,487

Net change in non-cash working capital balances (note 18)

Financing activities
Share repurchase (note 13)
Proceeds from bank loan (note 11)

Investing activities
Net purchases of marketable securities (note 6)
Net disposal (acquisition) of property and equipment
Net acquisition of other assets (note 7)
Net acquisition of investment properties (note 8)
Disposal of investment properties, net of taxes (note 8)

Cash – End of year
*Supplementary cash flow information (note 18)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Mongolia Growth Group Ltd.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at December 31, 2017


1

Corporate information
Mongolia Growth Group Ltd. (MGG or the Company) was incorporated in Alberta on December 17,
2007, and is a real estate investment and development Company operating through the ownership
of commercial investment property assets in Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia.
The Company’s common shares were previously listed on the Canadian National Stock Exchange
(CNSX). On January 9, 2013, the Company filed an application for the de-listing of the common
shares from the CNSX and filed an application for the listing of common shares on the TSX Venture
Exchange (TSXV). The Company is now listed on the TSXV, having the symbol YAK.
MGG has one wholly-owned subsidiary at December 31, 2017, Mongolia (Barbados) Corp.
Mongolia (Barbados) Corp. owns the wholly-owned subsidiaries MGG Properties LLC and Big Sky
Capital LLC. Big Sky Capital LLC owns the wholly-owned subsidiaries, Carrollton LLC, Biggie
Industries LLC, Orpheus LLC, Endymion LLC, Zulu LLC, Crescent City LLC and Oceanus LLC
(together “the investment property operations”). The investment property operations are
conducted in Big Sky Capital LLC and its subsidiaries. No active business operations occur in
Oceanus LLC at this time. MGG’s marketable securities are currently held in a brokerage account
owned by Mongolia (Barbados) Corp.
The Company is registered in Alberta, Canada, with its Head Office at its registered and records
address at Centennial Place, East Tower, 1900, 520 - 3rd Avenue S.W. Calgary, Alberta, Canada
T2P 0R3. The Company’s Canadian headquarters are located at 100 King Street West, Suite 5600,
Toronto, Ontario, M5X 1C9, Canada. The Company’s Mongolian investment property operations
are based out of its office located at the MGG Properties Building on Seoul St. in Ulaanbaatar,
Mongolia.
At December 31, 2017, the Company is organized into two segments based on the business
operations:

2



Big Sky Capital LLC and its subsidiaries own investment properties which are located in
Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia and are held for the purpose of generating rental revenue, capital
appreciation, and/or redevelopment; and



The MGG Corporate office is located in Toronto, Canada.

Basis of presentation
The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB). The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are summarized in note 3.
The consolidated financial statements, including the notes to the consolidated financial
statements, are presented in Canadian dollars ($) which is the Company’s presentation currency
and the functional currency of the parent Company. The functional currency of the Company’s
operating subsidiaries is the Mongolian National Tögrög (MNT).
These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors of the Company
for issue on March 23, 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31

3


Significant accounting policies

a.

Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, as
modified by the revaluation of investment properties.

b.

Basis of consolidation
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of MGG and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities controlled by MGG. Control exists when MGG is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of
the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as MGG, using consistent
accounting policies. InterCompany balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and
expenses arising from interCompany transactions, are eliminated in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Upon the disposal of a subsidiary, amounts previously
recognized in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity, are reclassified to income
or loss.

c.

Financial instruments
Financial assets
Financial assets are classified as either fair-value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) or loans
and receivables. The classification depends on the purpose for which the asset was acquired.
The Company’s accounting policy for each category is as follows:
i) Fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at FVTPL are financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is
classified in this category if it is acquired principally for selling in the short term.
Derivatives are also categorized as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges.
FVTPL instruments are carried at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial
position with changes in fair value recorded in the consolidated statement of operations.
ii) Loans and receivables
These assets are non-derivative financial assets resulting from the delivery of cash or
other assets by a lender to a borrower in return for a promise to repay on a specific date
or dates, or on demand. They are initially recognized at fair value of the consideration
paid for the acquisition of the investment. After initial measurement, loans and
receivables are measured at amortized cost, using the effective interest rate method, less
any impairment losses. Amortized cost is calculated taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate and transaction costs.
Cash and accounts receivable are classified as loans and receivables. Their carrying
amount approximates fair value due to their limited time to maturity and readily
available conversion to cash.
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Impairment on financial assets
All financial assets other than FVTPL instruments are assessed for impairment at each
reporting date. The Company assesses whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or group of financial assets is
deemed to be impaired, if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of
one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and that event
has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial
assets.
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified as other financial liabilities, based on the purpose for which
the liability was incurred, and are comprised of trade payables, accrued liabilities and longterm debt. These liabilities are initially recognized at fair value net of any transaction costs
directly attributable to the issuance of the instrument and subsequently carried at amortized
cost using the effective interest rate method. This ensures that any interest expense over the
period to repayment is at a constant rate on the balance of the liability carried in the statement
of financial position. Interest expense in this context includes initial transaction costs and
premiums payable on redemption, as well as any interest or coupon payable while the liability
is outstanding.
Trade payables and accrued liabilities represent liabilities for goods and services provided to
the Company prior to the end of the period which are unpaid. Trade payable amounts are
unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.
Fair value of financial instruments
Fair value represents the price at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in an
orderly market, in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties
who are under no compulsion to act. Marketable securities are classified as fair value through
profit or loss. Financial assets and liabilities recorded at fair value in the consolidated
statement of financial position are measured and classified in a hierarchy consisting of three
levels for disclosure purposes. The three levels are based on the priority of the inputs to the
respective valuation technique. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1) and the lowest priority to
unobservable inputs (Level 3). An asset or liability’s classification within the fair value
hierarchy is based on the lowest level of significant input to its valuation. The input levels are
defined as follows:
Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities


The Company defines active markets based on the frequency of valuation and any
restrictions or illiquidity on disposition of investments. The size of the bid/ask spread is
used as an indicator of market activity for fixed maturity securities. Fair value is based on
market price data for identical assets obtained from the investment custodian, investment
managers or dealer markets. The Company does not adjust the quoted price for such
instruments.
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Level 2: Quoted prices in markets that are not active or inputs that are
observable either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)


Level 2 inputs include observable market information, including quoted prices for assets
in markets that are considered less active. Fair value is based on or derived from market
price data for same or similar instruments obtained from the investment custodian,
investment managers or dealer markets.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity
and are significant to the estimated fair value of the assets or liabilities




Level 3 assets and liabilities would include financial instruments whose values are
determined using internal pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar
techniques that are not based on observable market data, as well as assets or liabilities for
which the determination of estimated fair value requires significant management
judgement or estimation.
The Company has determined the estimated fair values of its financial instruments based
upon appropriate valuation methodologies.


The levels of the fair value inputs used in determining estimated fair value of the
Company’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as at December 31, 2017 and
2016, is shown below.
Estimated fair values
Marketable securities



December 31, 2017

Level 1

Level2

Level3

$2,816,624

$2,816,624

-

-

$2,816,624

$2,816,624

-

-

Estimated fair values

Marketable securities

December 31, 2016

Level 1

Level2

Level3

$1,184,825

$1,184,825

-

-

$1,184,825

$1,184,825

-

-

At December 31, 2017 and 2016 there were no financial assets or liabilities measured and
recognized in the statement of financial position at fair value that would be categorized as
level 2 and 3 in the fair value hierarchy above. 
d.

Investment properties
Investment properties include properties held to earn rental revenue, for capital appreciation,
and/or for redevelopment. Investment properties are initially measured at fair value which is
most often the purchase price plus any directly attributable expenditures. Investment
properties are subsequently measured at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the
date of the consolidated statement of financial position. Gains or losses arising from changes
in the fair value of investment properties are recognized in the consolidated statement of
operations in the year they arise. A key characteristic of an investment property is that it
generates cash flows largely independently of the other assets held by an entity. Subsequent
expenditure is included in the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item
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d.

Investment properties (continued)
can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the
consolidated statement of operations during the financial period in which they occur.
Substantially all of the Company’s income generating properties and properties under
development are investment properties.
Properties under development are measured at cost.
Certain land leases held under an operating lease are classified as investment properties when
the definition of an investment property is met. At inception these leases are recognized at the
lower of the fair value of the property and the present value of the minimum lease payments.
Some properties may be partially occupied by the Company, with the remainder being held
for rental income or capital appreciation. If that part of the property occupied by the Company
can be sold separately, the Company accounts for the portions separately. The portion that is
owner-occupied is accounted for under IAS 16, and the portion that is held for rental income,
capital appreciation or both is treated as investment property under IAS 40. When the
portions cannot be sold separately, the whole property is treated as investment property only
if an insignificant portion is owner-occupied. The Company considers the owner-occupied
portion as insignificant when the property is more than 90% held to earn rental income or
capital appreciation. In order to determine the percentage of the portions, the Company uses
the size of the property measured in square metres.
The fair value of investment properties was based on the nature, location and condition of the
specific asset. The fair value is calculated at December 31 on the majority of investment
properties by an independent, professional, qualified appraisal firm, whose appraisers hold
recognized relevant, professional qualifications and who have recent experience in the
locations and categories of the investment properties valued. The remaining investment
properties’ fair value was calculated by management and was performed by qualified
individuals with recent experience in the locations and categories of the investment properties
valued.
Investment property purchases where the Company has paid either the full or partial purchase
price to the seller, but the Company has not yet received the official land or building title from
the Mongolian Property office are recorded as Prepaid deposits on investment properties and
classified within other assets.

e.

Assets held for sale
Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, are categorized as
held for sale at the point in time when the asset or disposal group is available for immediate
sale, management has committed to a plan to sell and is actively locating a buyer at a sales
price that is reasonable in relation to the current fair value of the asset, and the sale is probable
and expected to be completed within a one year period. Investment properties measured
under the fair value model and held for sale continue to be measured by the guidelines of IAS
40 – Investment Property. All other assets held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying
amounts and fair value less selling costs. An asset that is subsequently reclassified as held and
in use, with the exception of investment property measured under the fair value model, is
measured at the lower of its recoverable amount and the carrying value that would have been
recognized had the asset never been classified as held for sale.
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f.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to
the Company and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value
of the consideration received or receivable. The Company’s specific revenue recognition
criteria are as follows:
i)

Rental revenue
The Company has not transferred substantially all of the benefits and risk of ownership
of its investment properties and, therefore, the Company accounts for leases with its
tenants as operating leases. Rental revenue includes all amounts earned from tenants
related to lease agreements including property tax and operating cost recoveries.
The Company reports rental revenue on a straight-line basis, whereby the total amount
of cash to be received under a lease is recognized into earnings in equal periodic
amounts over the term of the lease.
Contingent rents are recognized as revenue in the period in which they are earned.
Amounts payable by tenants to terminate their lease prior to their contractual expiry
date (lease cancellation fees) are included in rental revenue at the time of cancellation.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset. Tenant incentives are recognized as a reduction of rental
revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

ii)

Investment income
Investment income is recorded as it accrues using the effective interest method.

g.

Cash
Cash includes cash held at banks or on hand and demand deposits.

h.

Property and equipment
On initial recognition, property and equipment are valued at cost, being the purchase price
and directly attributable cost of acquisition or construction required to bring the asset to the
location and condition necessary to be capable of operating in a manner intended by the
Company, including appropriate borrowing costs and the estimated present value of any
future unavoidable costs of dismantling and removing items.
Property and equipment is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation, less
any accumulated impairment losses. All repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the
consolidated statement of operations during the period in which they occur.
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h.

Property and equipment (continued)
Depreciation is recognized in the consolidated statement of operations and is provided on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the assets as follows:
Buildings
Furniture and fixtures
Equipment
Vehicles

Straight-line over 40 years
Straight-line over 5 to 10 years
Straight-line over 1 to 5 years
Straight-line over 10 years

Impairment reviews are performed when there are indicators that the net recoverable amount
of an asset may be less than the carrying value. The net recoverable amount is determined as
the higher of an asset’s fair value less cost to dispose and value in use. Impairment is
recognized in the consolidated statement of operations, when there is objective evidence that
a loss event has occurred which has impaired future cash flows of an asset. In the event that
the value of previously impaired assets recovers, the previously recognized impairment loss is
recovered in the consolidated statement of operations at that time.
An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no further
economic benefits are expected from its use. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the
asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset) is included in the consolidated statement of operations in the period the asset is
derecognized.
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year end
and adjusted if appropriate.
i.

Income taxes
Income taxes are comprised of both current and deferred taxes. Current tax and deferred tax
are recognized in the statement of operations except to the extent that it relates to items
recognized in Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”) or directly in equity. In this case, the tax
is recognized in OCI or directly in equity respectively.
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the consolidated statement of financial position date in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income and are
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities for
the current and prior periods.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recorded for the expected future income tax
consequences of events that have been included in the consolidated financial statements or
income tax returns. Deferred income taxes are provided for using the liability method. Under
the liability method, deferred income taxes are recognized for all significant temporary
differences between the tax and financial statement bases for assets and liabilities and for
certain carry-forward items, such as losses and tax credits not utilized from prior years.
However, if the deferred income tax arises from initial recognition of an asset or a liability in
a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable income, it is not accounted for.
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i.

Income taxes (continued)
Recognition of deferred tax assets for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary
differences is restricted to those instances where, in the opinion of management, it is probable
that future taxable profit will be available against which the deferred tax asset can be realized.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for the effects of changes in tax laws
and rates, on the date the changes in tax laws and rates have been enacted or substantively
enacted.

j.

Foreign exchange transactions
Foreign currency transactions are translated at the rate of exchange in effect on the dates they
occur. Gains and losses arising as a result of foreign currency transactions are recognized in
the current year consolidated statement of operations. At reporting dates, monetary items are
translated at the closing rate of exchange in effect at the consolidated statement of financial
position date.
Translation of foreign operations
For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position of
the Mongolian operations are expressed in Canadian dollars, which is the functional currency
of the parent, and the presentation currency of the consolidated financial statements.
The Company translates the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of its Mongolian
operations which have a functional currency of Mongolian Tögrög, to Canadian dollars on the
following basis:
•
•

•
•

k.

Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate of exchange in effect at the
consolidated statement of financial position date.
Income and expense items are translated using the average rate for the month in
which they occur, which is considered to be a reasonable approximation of actual
rates.
Equity items are translated at their historical rates.
The translation adjustment from the use of different rates is included as a separate
component of equity.

Comprehensive income
Comprehensive income consists of net income (loss) and OCI. OCI includes changes in
unrealized gains (losses) on the translation of financial statement operations with Mongolian
Tögrög functional currency.

l.

Share capital and deferred share issuance costs
Ordinary shares issued by the Company are classified as equity. Costs directly identifiable
with the raising of capital will be charged against the related share issue, net of any tax effect.
Costs related to shares not yet issued are recorded as deferred financing costs. These costs will
be deferred until the issuance of the shares to which the costs relate, at which time the costs
will be charged against the related share issuance or charged to operations if the shares are
not issued.
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m.

Share based payment
The Company offers share based payment plans for directors, executive management, key
employees and other key service providers. The purpose of the share based payment plan is
to enhance the ability of the Company to attract and retain Directors, executive management,
key employees and other key service providers whose training, experience and ability will
contribute to the effectiveness of the Company and to directly align their interests with the
interests of shareholders.
The Company’s share based payment plans provide for the granting of stock options to
independent Directors, executive management, key employees and other key service
providers. Each stock option entitles the participant to receive one common share and can
only be settled with the issuance of common shares, and as a result, is deemed to be an equitysettled share based payment transaction. Additionally, the Company will at times grant
restricted stock of the Company under the terms of the Restricted Stock Award Plan.
Restrictions on such shares are removed as the vesting conditions are met. For restricted
shares, the holder is entitled to all dividend payments during the vesting period. Share based
payment expense is measured based on the fair market value of the Company’s shares at the
grant date. The associated compensation expense is recognized over the vesting period or
service period, whichever is shorter based on the number of rewards that are expected to vest.
Share based payment arrangements to other key service providers in which the Company
receives properties, goods or services as consideration for its own equity instruments are
measured at fair value.
The fair value of stock options granted is measured using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model. The fair value of restricted shares granted is measured using the market price of the
Company’s shares.
Agent options granted as compensation for the issuance of shares are charged to share issue
costs.
Any consideration received upon the exercise of stock options is credited to common shares.
In the event that vested stock options expire without being exercised, previously recorded
compensation costs associated with such options are not reversed.

n.

Earnings (loss) per share
For both continuing and discontinued operations, the Company presents basic and diluted
earnings (loss) per share (EPS) data for its common shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing
the results of operations attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is
determined by adjusting the results of operations attributable to common shareholders and
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive
potential common shares, which comprise share options.
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o.

Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided
to the chief operating decision maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of operations, has been identified as the
Chief Executive Officer. The Company is now managed as two operating segments based on
how information is produced internally for the purpose of making operating decisions. The
segments are defined as investment property operations and corporate.

p.

Leases
The Company has entered into Mongolian government land leases on some of its investment
properties. The Company, as a lessee, has determined, based on an evaluation of the terms
and conditions of the arrangements, that these land leases meet the definition of an
investment property and has classified them as such. At inception, these leases are recognized
at the lower of the fair value of the property and the present value of the minimum lease
payments.
The Company has entered into commercial and residential property leases on its investment
properties. The Company as a lessor, has determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and
conditions of the arrangements, that it retains the significant risks and rewards of ownership
of these properties and therefore accounts for these agreements as operating leases.

q.

Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as
a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation. When the Company expects some or all of the provision to be
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the
reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense of any provision is recognized in the
consolidated statement of operations net of any reimbursement. If the effect of the time value
of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects,
where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase
in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as a borrowing cost.
Contingent liabilities are disclosed if there is a possible future obligation as a result of a past
event, or if there is a present obligation as a result of a past event but either a payment is not
probable or the amount cannot be reasonably estimated.

r.

Accounting standards issued but not yet effective
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for
annual periods beginning after January 1, 2018 or later and have not been applied in
preparing these consolidated financial statements. Those which are relevant to the Company
are set out below. The Company does not plan to adopt these standards early and is continuing
to evaluate the impact of such standards.
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IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, first issued in November 2009 with final version released in
July 2014 by the IASB, brings together the classification and measurement, impairment and
hedge accounting phases of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39. IFRS 9 introduces a
principles-based approach to the classification of financial assets based on an entity’s business
model and the nature of the cash flows of the asset. All financial assets, including hybrid
contracts, are measured as at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL), fair value through
OCI or amortized cost.
For financial liabilities, IFRS 9 includes the requirements for classification and measurement
previously included in IAS 39.
IFRS 9 also introduces an expected loss impairment model for all financial assets not as at
FVTPL. The model has three stages: (1) on initial recognition, 12-month expected credit losses
are recognized in profit or loss and a loss allowance is established; (2) if credit risk increases
significantly and the resulting credit risk is not considered to be low, full lifetime expected
credit losses are recognized; and (3) when a financial asset is considered credit-impaired,
interest revenue is calculated based on the carrying amount of the asset, net of the loss
allowance, rather than its gross carrying amount.
Finally, IFRS 9 introduces a new hedge accounting model that aligns the accounting for hedge
relationships more closely with an entity’s risk management activities. The standard is
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
The Company has performed a preliminary assessment and expects no material impact from
adopting IFRS 9 and plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date.
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and establishes a new five-step model that will apply to
revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15 revenue is recognised at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange
for transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more
structured approach to measuring and recognising revenue.
The new revenue standard is applicable to all entities and will supersede all current revenue
recognition requirements under IFRS. Either a full or modified retrospective application is
required for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 with early adoption
permitted. The Company has performed a preliminary assessment and expects no material
impact from adopting IFRS 15 and plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective
date.
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IFRS 16 – Leases
IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 Leases and related interpretations. The core principle is that a lessee
recognize assets and liabilities for all leases with a lease term of more than 12 months. A lessee
is required to recognize a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying leased
asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments. Assets and
liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. The
measurement includes non-cancellable lease payments (including inflation-linked
payments), and also includes payments to be made in optional periods if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise an option to extend the lease, or not to exercise an option to
terminate the lease. The new standard is intended to provide a faithful representation of
leasing transactions, in particular those that do not currently require the lessees to recognize
an asset and liability arising from an operating lease. IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods
beginning on January 1, 2019, with early adoption permitted for entities that would also apply
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

4

Significant accounting estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make
estimates and assumptions about the future that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated based on historical experiences and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. In the future, actual results may differ from these estimates and assumptions.
The effect of a change in an accounting estimate is recognized prospectively by including it in net
income (loss) in the period of the change, if the change affects that period only, or in the period of
the change and future periods, if the change affects both.
Significant estimates made in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements include
the following areas:



•

Fair value of investment properties – The estimate of fair value of investment properties
is the most critical accounting estimate to the Company. An external appraiser estimates
the fair value of the majority of investment properties annually. The remaining balance
of investment properties was valued internally. The fair value of investment properties is
based on the nature, location and condition of the specific asset. The fair value of
investment properties represents an estimate of the price that would be made in an arm’s
length transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties. This fair value assumes that
the Company is in possession of the property’s land and property titles where applicable.
Management judges that the Company has the appropriate titles for each of the
properties classified as Investment properties. Properties whereby the Company is not
currently in possession of the appropriate titles but does not expect there to be issues in
receiving the titles are classified as prepaid deposits on investment properties. Properties
whereby Management judges that the Company’s titles are at risk, have been impaired to
reflect the level of risk estimated by Management.

•

The Company operates in the emerging real estate market of Mongolia, which given its
current economic, political and industry conditions, gives rise to an increased inherent
risk given the lack of reliable and comparable market information. The significant
estimates underlying the fair value determination are disclosed in note 8. Changes in
assumptions about these factors could materially affect the carrying value of investment
properties.
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Significant accounting estimates and judgements (continued)
•

Valuation of marketable securities and investments - The Company recognizes
marketable securities and investments at fair value. Fair value is determined on the basis
of market prices from independent sources, if available. If there is no market price, then
the fair value is determined by using valuation models with inputs derived from
observable market data where possible but where observable data is not available,
judgment is required to establish fair values.

•

Accuracy of share based compensation expense – The estimate of the ultimate expense
arising from share based compensation plans is another critical accounting estimate.
There are several sources of uncertainty that need to be considered in the estimate of the
share based compensation expense recorded by the Company. The ultimate expense is
estimated by using a number of key assumptions such as the expected volatility of the
share price, the dividends expected on the shares, the risk-free interest rate for the
expected life of the option and future forfeiture rates. Further information on key
assumptions including sensitivity analysis is included in note 13.

•

Operating environment of the Company – Mongolia displays many characteristics of an
emerging market including relatively high inflation and interest rates. The tax and
customs legislation in Mongolia is subject to varying interpretations and frequent
changes. The future economic performance of Mongolia is tied to the continuing demand
from China and global prices for commodities as well as being dependent upon the
effectiveness of economic, financial and monetary measures undertaken by the
Government of Mongolia together with tax, legal, regulatory and political developments.
Management is unable to predict all developments that could have an impact on the
Mongolian economy and consequently what effect, if any, they could have on the future
financial position of the Company.

Significant judgements made in the preparation of these consolidated financiail statements include
the following:


Judgement is required in determining whether an asset meets the criteria for
classification as assets held for sale and or as discontinued operations in the consolidated
financial statements. Criteria considered by management include the existence of and
commitment to a plan to dispose of the assets, the expected selling price of the assets, the
probability of the sale being completed within an expected timeframe of one year and the
period of time any amounts have been classified within assets held for sale. The Company
reviews the criteria for assets held for sale each quarter and reclassifies such assets to or
from this financial position category as appropriate. On completion of the sale,
management exercises judgement as to whether the sale qualifies as a discontinued
operation.



As at December 31, 2017 and 2016 management has made the judgment that none of the
Company’s assets meet the criteria to be classified as held for sale. While this is due to a
number of factors, a primary reason is that due to the conditions of the Mongolian
economy and the lack of liquidity in the market, management was unable to conclude
that the sale of any significant size asset could be considered highly probable.
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Cash



Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The component of
cash accounts currently consists only of cash amounts held in banks or on hand.
The following table discloses the geographical location of cash:

Barbados
Canada
Mongolia
Total cash

2017
$

2016
$

79,034
946,834
13
614,903

45,275
1,408,483
427,729

1,640,771

1,881,487

Cash is not collateralized. The carrying amount of cash approximates fair value.
The credit quality of cash balances may be summarized based on Standard and Poor’s ratings or
equivalents of Moody’s and/or Fitch ratings. The credit quality at December 31 was as follows:

Cash on hand
A or A+ rated
-B or B+ rated
Unrated
Total cash

2017
$

2016
$

4,478
881,751
610,425
144,117

3,300
1,359,463
424,506
94,218

1,640,771

1,881,487

The unrated balance relates to one private bank in Barbados (2016 – one), one investment
company in Canada (2016 – one) and one investment company in the United States (2016 – one).

6

Marketable Securities

Common shares of public companies:
Fair value - beginning of the year
Net purchases
Foreign exchange gains
Unrealized (loss) gain
Realized gain
Fair value - end of the year



2017
$

2016
$

1,184,825
1,924,157
15,030
(371,197)
63,809

453,698
86
731,041
-

2,816,624

1,184,825
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Other assets

Accounts receivable
less: Allowance for doubtful accounts
Prepaid expenses
Prepaid deposits on investment properties

2017
$

2016
$

147,421
(49,448)
22,756
285,290

161,514
(85,526)
19,006
42,759

406,019

137,753

Prepaid deposit on investment properties relates to two properties for which a title have not been
obtained.
During the year, the Company paid $372,348 towards land which will eventually be classified as
an investment property, however has not yet received the official land title from the Mongolian
Property office as at December 31, 2017. Therefore, the purchase price is classified as a prepaid
deposit on investment properties within other assets. During the year, the Company recorded a
$132,622 impairment (2016 - $11,445) on its prepaid deposit on investment properties and a
$77,566 impairment (2016- $nil) on a prepaid expense.
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Investment properties

Balance - beginning of year
Additions
Acquisitions
Capital expenditures
Transfer from property and equipment
Disposals
Fair value adjustment
Foreign exchange adjustments
Balance – end of year

2017
$

2016
$

29,501,350

46,473,749

131,387
(2,847,871)
(2,758,843)
(1,138,502)

22,617
75,144
(1,193,773)
(5,728,003)
(10,148,384)

22,887,521

29,501,350

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company recorded a $2,758,843 unrealized fair
value loss (2016 - $5,728,003 loss) on its investment properties.
During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company acquired three properties for a total cost
of $131,387. The Company also paid $372,348 on a fourth property in a separate transaction,
however has not yet received the official land title from the Mongolian Property office. Therefore,
the fourth property is classified as a prepaid deposit on investment properties within other assets
(note 7). During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company sold eight investment properties,
of which three had been purchased during this same period, for total proceeds of $3,095,071
resulting in a net gain of $247,200 on these transactions. A deposit of $673,585 had been received
in November 2016 for the sale of one of these properties. In comparison, during the year ended
December 31, 2016, four investment properties were sold for cash consideration of $970,241
resulting in net loss of $223,532 on these transactions.
Investment properties by major category are as follows:

Residential
Office
Retail
Land and redevelopment sites

2017
$

2016
$

1,923,500
13,686,179
7,277,842

250,320
2,976,642
16,505,234
9,769,154

22,887,521

29,501,350

Investment properties with an aggregate fair value of $13,176,208 (2016 - $16,459,265) and an
office building classified as property and equipment of $1,576,743 (2016 - $1,672,645), were valued
by an external independent valuation professional who is deemed to be qualified appraiser who
holds a recognized, relevant, professional qualification and who has recent experience in the
locations and categories of the investment properties valued. The remaining balance of investment
properties was valued internally.
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Investment properties (continued)

The Company determined the fair value of investment properties using the income approach and
the sales comparison approach, which are generally accepted appraisal methodologies.
Under the income approach, the methodology used was the direct capitalization approach which
is based on rental income and yields. Rental incomes were based on current rent and reasonable
and supportable assumptions that represent what knowledgeable, willing parties would assume
about rental income from future rent in light of current conditions adjusted for non-recoverable
property costs. Yields were determined using data from real estate agencies, market reports and
property location among other things in determining the appropriate assumptions. Under this
method, year one income is stabilized and capped at a rate deemed appropriate for each investment
property.
The sales comparison approach analyzes all available information of sales of comparable
properties that have recently taken place or have recently been marketed and adjusts the price to
reflect differences in the property valued and sold.
The entire portfolio of investment properties has been valued using the income approach, the sales
comparison approach or a combination thereof.
The Company currently has a standing agreement with the owner of a 42 sq. meter apartment
which has been included in one of the Company’s properties classified as land and redevelopment.
The agreement entitles the owner of the apartment to 84 sq. meters of space on the first floor of a
new building to be built on this land. In this agreement, the Company had an obligation to
complete the construction of a new building by the end of fiscal 2017 and the agreement was not
extended. A liability of $142,894 is currently included in the Company’s trade payables and
accrued liabilities to reflect this liability. In addition, the Company has recognized a $1,585,120
(2016-$nil) unrealized fair value loss on this property in excess of the fair value adjustment
calculated using the valuation approaches described. This adjustment is management’s estimate
of the markets perception of the risk related to this agreement.
Under the fair value hierarchy, the fair value of the Company's investment properties is considered
a level three, as defined in note 3.
The key valuation assumptions for commercial investment properties are as follows:
2017

Capitalization rate

Maximum

Minimum

Weightedaverage

11.5%

9.5%

10.1%
2016

Capitalization rate
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Investment properties (continued)
The following sensitivity table outlines the impact of a 0.25% change in the weighted average
capitalization rate on investment properties at December 31, 2017:

Commercial property

Change to fair value if
capitalization rate
increased 0.25%

Change to fair value if
capitalization rate
decreases 0.25%

(95,661)

82,970

Additional valuation assumptions include the rental revenue per square meter, grade quality of the
property and comparable market data. Changes to these assumptions could have a material impact
on the fair value of the Company’s investment properties.
Investment properties of $177,445 (2016 - $101,551) have no rental revenue associated with them
at December 31, 2017, consisting of one property held for sale that management has determined is
easier to sell while vacant. The 2016 amount consisted of a different property that was vacant for
the same reason.
Investment properties include land held under operating leases with an aggregate fair value of
$7,277,842 (2016 – $9,769,154) at December 31 2017.
Certain investment properties held by the Company are leased out by the Company under
operating leases. The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases are as follows:

Less than 1 year
Between 1 and 5 years
Beyond 5 years

2017
$

2016
$

1,137,557
439,749
-

1,145,691
444,230
-

1,577,306

1,589,921

Direct operating expenses arising from investment properties that generated rental income during
the year was $1,078,473 (2016 – $1,350,803). Direct operating expenses arising from investment
properties that did not generate rental income during the year was $2,971 (2016 - $3,211).
The Company’s operating leases, in which the Company is the lessor, are structured such that the
weighted average length of the leases as December 31, 2017 was 10.8 months (10.8 months in
December 2016), calculated as a percentage of monthly revenues.
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Property and equipment

2017
Furniture
and
fixtures
$

Equipment
$

Buildings
$

Total
$

At January 1
Additions
Disposals
Foreign exchange
adjustment

78,957
(1,805)

185,081
1,383
(30,729)

1,994,297
-

2,258,335
1,383
(32,534)

(1,925)

(8,527)

(86,760)

(97,212)

At December 31

75,227

147,208

1,907,537

2,129,972

Cost

2017
Furniture
and
fixtures
$

Equipment
$

Buildings
$

Total
$

At January 1
Depreciation
Disposals
Foreign exchange
adjustment

26,204
7,449
(1,039)

127,984
17,626
(30,729)

298,286
56,174
-

452,474
81,249
(31,768)

(470)

(7,760)

(18,649)

(26,879)

At December 31

32,144

107,121

335,811

475,076

Net book value
at December 31

43,083

40,087

1,571,726

1,654,896

Accumulated
depreciation
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Property and equipment (continued)
2016
Furniture
and fixtures
$

Equipment
$

Vehicles
$

Buildings
$

Total
$

30,248
(26,310)
(3,938)

3,072,284
24,833
(85,042)
(343,506)
(674,272)

3,451,730
27,356
(33,966)
(85,042)
(343,506)
(758,237)

-

1,994,297

2,258,335

Cost
At January 1
Additions
Disposals
Transfers
Impairment
Foreign exchange
adjustment

108,439
2,235
(7,163)
(24,554)

At December 31

78,957

240,759
288
(493)
(55,473)
185,081

2016
Furniture
and fixtures
$

Equipment
$

Vehicles
$

Buildings
$

Total
$

14,382
1,074
(12,395)
(3,061)

306,979
67,656
(9,898)
(66,451)

473,580
124,523
(9,898)
(16,181)
(119,550)

-

298,286

452,474

-

1,696,011

1,805,861

Accumulated
depreciation
At January 1
Depreciation
Transfers
Disposals
Foreign exchange
adjustment

28,915
9,375
(3,765)
(8,321)

123,304
46,418
(21)
(41,717)

At December 31

26,204

127,984

Net book value
at December 31



52,753

57,097
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10 Trade payables and accrued liabilities
2017
$
Trade and accrued payables
Property Commitment (note 8)
Security deposit
Unearned revenue
Deposit on investment property sales

2016
$

192,150
142,894
129,297
43,193
-

191,411
149,081
135,357
42,963
673,585

507,534

1,192,397

The carrying amounts above reasonably approximate fair value at the consolidated statement of
financial position date. All trade and other payables are current.

11 Long term debt
2017
$
Non-current

2016
$

629,748

-

629,748

-

During the period, the Company obtained a two year CDN$1,300,200 (USD $1,000,000) credit
facility through a commercial bank in Mongolia. The loan is secured by various property assets
and guarantees from Mongolian subsidiaries.
The loan will bear interest at a simple monthly rate of 1.1% on all drawn amounts with re-payment
of principal due 2 years following the draw date and is in-line with current interest rates in
Mongolia. The Company made an initial draw of USD $500,000 during the year ended December
31, 2017.
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12 Income taxes
a)

Effective tax rate
The income tax expense reflects an effective tax rate that differs from the combined tax rate
for Canadian federal and provincial corporate taxes for the following:
2017
$

2016
$

(3,177,966)
26.5%

(5,763,752)
26.5%

(842,161)

(1,527,395)

278,094

1,635,962

179,315
304,000
(80,752)

(153,284)
56,251
(100,968)

Provision for (recovery of) income taxes
Current
Deferred

41,157
(121,909)

264,806
(365,774)

Provision for (recovery of) income taxes - continuing
operations

(80,752)

(100,968)

Net income (loss) before income taxes
Combined statutory tax rate
Tax payable (recoverable) based on statutory tax rate
Effect of:
Permanent differences
Change in statutory, foreign tax, foreign exchange
rates and other
Change in unrecognised deductible tax differences
Total income tax expense (recovery)

b) Deferred income taxes
Differences between IFRS and statutory taxation regulations in Mongolia give rise to
temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their tax bases.
The Company did not recognize a deferred tax asset in these consolidated financial statements
as there is uncertainty with regard to the recoverability of the asset for both the Canadian and
Mongolian entities.
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12 Income taxes (continued)
The significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:
2017

Deferred Tax Assets (liabilities)
Investment properties

$

Net deferred tax liability

$

2016

(502,426)

$

(624,335)

(502,426)

$

(624,335)

The significant components of the Company’s temporary differences, unused tax credits and
unused tax losses that have not been included on the consolidated statement of financial position
are as follows:

Temporary Differences
Property and equipment
Capital Cost Allowance (CCA)
Allowable capital losses
Non-capital losses available for
future period

2017

Expiry Date
Range

2016

Expiry Date
Range

14,000
167,000
162,000

No expiry date
No expiry date
No expiry date

11,000
179,000
60,000

No expiry date
No expiry date
No expiry date

9,679,000

2030 to 2037

8,625,000

2030 to 2036

Tax attributes are subject to review, and potential adjustment, by tax authorities.

 58 | Mongolia Growth Group Ltd

ϯϭͮW Ă Ő Ğ 

Mongolia Growth Group Ltd.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31


13 Share capital and contributed surplus
Common shares
The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common and preferred shares.
The issued and outstanding common shares are as follows:

Balance, December 31, 2015
Shares re-purchased
Treasury stock cancelled
RSAs vested
Balance, December 31, 2016
Shares re-purchased
Treasury stock cancelled
Balance, December 31, 2017

Number of
shares

Amount
$

35,512,829
(726,000)
19,770

54,369,332
(285,023)
46,064

34,806,599

54,130,373

(1,110,000)

(378,900)
-

33,696,599

53,751,473

As at December 31, 2017, the Company held 116,100 (2016 -86,500) shares in treasury to be
cancelled during the first quarter of 2018.
Stock options
The Company has established a share based payment plan (the "Plan") to encourage
ownership of its shares by key management personnel (directors and executive management),
employees and other key service providers, and to provide compensation for certain services.
The Plan provides for the issuance of stock options in an aggregate number of up to 10% of
the Company’s issued and outstanding shares, calculated from time to time and are
exercisable within a maximum of ten (10) years. The vesting period for all options is at the
discretion of the directors. The exercise price will be set by the directors at the time of grant
and cannot be less than the discounted market price of the Company’s common shares. At
December 31, 2017, the Company had 266,660 (2016 – 122,660) common shares available for
the granting of future options under the new plan. The Company does not have any cashsettled transactions. Full details of the Company’s option plan can be found in “Schedule C”
of the Management Information Circular on the Company’s website and filed on Sedar.
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13 Share capital and contributed surplus (continued)
A summary of the Company’s options as at December 31 and changes during the years then
ended follows:

December 31,
2017

Weighted
average
exercise December 31,
price
2016
$

Weighted
average
exercise
price
$

Balance, beginning of the
year
Options expired
Options cancelled
Options granted
Options exercised
Options forfeited

3,358,000
(35,000)
(220,000)

1.11
1.90
0.74

3,288,000
(280,000)
350,000
-

1.45
4.21
0.38
-

Balance, end of the year

3,103,000

1.13

3,358,000

1.11

Exercisable

3,103,000

1.13

3,358,000

Weighted remaining
average life (years)

1.77

2.74

The Company recognizes share based payment expense for all stock options granted using the
fair value based method of accounting. During the year ended December 31, 2017, the
Company recognized $nil (2016 - $157,165) in share based payment expense with respect to
options vested during the year. The following weighted average assumptions were used for
the Black-Scholes valuation of stock options granted during the years ended December 31,
2017 and 2016:
Risk-free interest rate
Expected life of grant
Volatility
Dividend
Forfeiture rate
Weighted average fair value per option

2017
-

2016
0.54%
3 years
67.5%
0%
nil
$0.18

The approximate impact of an increase of 1o% in the volatility assumption for the options
issued in the current year would increase net loss of the Company by $nil (2016- $7,669). The
approximate impact of a decrease of 10% in the volatility assumption would decrease net loss
of the Company by $nil (2016 - $8,062).
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13 Share capital and contributed surplus (continued)
Options outstanding 2017
Number
outstanding

Number
exercisable

Weighted
average remaining
life (years)

Weighted average
exercise price
$

1,043,000
300,000
915,000
565,000
280,000

1,043,000
300,000
915,000
565,000
280,000

1.17
1.94
2.25
2.27
1.21

1.90
1.09
0.72
0.74
0.38

3,103,000

3,103,000

1.77

1.13

Weighted
average remaining
life (years)

Weighted average
exercise price
$

Options outstanding 2016
Number
Number
outstanding
exercisable

1,078,000
375,000
915,000
640,000
350,000

1,078,000
375,000
915,000
640,000
350,000

2.10
2.94
3.25
3.27
2.21

1.90
1.09
0.72
0.74
0.38

3,358,000

3,358,000

2.74

1.11

Restricted Stock Awards
The Company has also adopted a Restricted Stock Award plan (“the RSA Plan”) whereby it can
grant RSAs to directors, officers, employees, and technical consultants of the Company. The
maximum number of RSAs that may be reserved for issuance under the RSA Plan is limited to
200,000 Common Shares and will be subject to the aggregate limits set forth under the Option
Plan, such that unvested Common Shares under the RSA Plan will be considered “Common
Shares reserved for issuance” under the Share Option Plan. The Restricted Period in respect to
the Restricted Shares shall end once the Restricted Shares shall become vested. One third of
each grant of Restricted Shares will vest on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of
the grant date.
The Company has granted restricted stock of the Company to certain individuals under the
terms of the RSA plan of the Company. Full details of the Company’s RSA plan can be found in
“Schedule B” of the Management Information Circular on the Company’s website and filed on
Sedar.
The number of restricted shares granted under the Restricted Stock Award Plan was as follows:



December 31, 2017

December 31, 2016

Balance, beginning of year
RSAs forfeited
RSAs vested

-

23,393
(3,623)
(19,770)

Balance, end of the year

-

-

ϯϰͮW Ă Ő Ğ 

Mongolia Growth Group Ltd |

61

Mongolia Growth Group Ltd.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31


13 Share capital and contributed surplus (continued)
The fair value of the restricted shares granted during the 2017 year was $nil (2016- $40,064)
at the time of the grant (weighted average grant price of $2.33 per share) and was based on
the market price of the Company’s shares at that time.
During the 2017 year, the Company recorded net compensation expense of $nil (2016 $10,686) for the Restricted Share Plan within the share based payment expenses.
a)

Earnings per share
The following table summarizes the shares used in calculating earnings (loss) per share:
2017
$

2016
$

Weighted average number of shares - basic
Effect of dilutive stock options

34,342,059
-

35,297,108
-

Weighted average number of shares - diluted

34,342,059

35,297,108

Basic earnings (loss) per share are derived by dividing net income (loss) for the year by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. The effect of
potentially dilutive securities is excluded if they are anti-dilutive.
There have been no significant capital transactions from the reporting date to the date of this
filing which have had a material impact on earnings per share.

14 Management of capital structure
The Company’s objective when managing capital is to ensure the Company is capitalized in a
manner which provides a strong financial position for its shareholders.
The Company’s capital structure includes equity and working capital. In managing its capital
structure, the Company considers future investment and acquisition opportunities, potential credit
available and potential issuances of new equity. The Company’s objective is to maintain a flexible
capital structure that will allow it to execute its stated business. Upon acquiring investment
properties and operating businesses, the Company will strive to balance its proportion of debt and
equity within its capital structure in accordance with the needs of the continuing business. The
Company may, from time to time, issue shares and adjust its spending to manage current and
projected proportions as deemed appropriate.
The method used by the Company to monitor its capital is based on an assessment of the
Company’s working capital position relative to its projected obligations. At December 31, 2017, the
Company’s working capital was $4,346,337 (2016 - $1,849,564).

Current assets
Current liabilities
Working capital
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2017
$

2016
$

4,863,414
(517,077)

3,204,065
(1,354,501)

4,346,337

1,849,564
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15 Financial risk management
The Board of Directors ensures that management has put appropriate risk management processes
in place. Through the Audit Committee, the Board oversees such risk management procedures and
controls. Management provides updates to the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis with respect
to risk management.
Catastrophe risk
During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company obtained insurance on buildings and all
permanent fixtures totalling approximately $15,600,000 (2016 - $22,770,000).
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected financial loss to the Company if a third party fails to fulfill
its performance obligations under the terms of a financial instrument. The Company’s credit risk
arises principally from the Company’s cash and receivables.
The following table summarizes the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk on the
consolidated statement of financial position. The maximum credit exposure is the carrying value
of the asset, net of any allowances for loss.



Cash
Accounts receivable
less: Allowance for doubtful accounts
Maximum credit risk exposure on the
consolidated
statement
of
financial
position

2017
$

2016
$

1,640,771
147,421
(49,448)

1,881,487
161,514
(85,526)

1,738,744

1,957,475

The Company’s exposure to credit risk is managed through risk management policies and
procedures with emphasis on the quality of the investment portfolio. The majority of the funds
invested are held in reputable Barbadian, Canadian or Mongolian banks (note 5).
The Company is exposed to credit risk as an owner of real estate in that tenants may become unable
to pay the contracted rents. The Company mitigates this risk by carrying out appropriate credit
checks and related due diligence on the significant tenants. The Company’s properties are
diversified across commercial classes.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk of having insufficient cash resources to meet financial obligations without
raising funds at unfavourable rates or selling assets on a forced basis. Liquidity risk arises from the
general business activities and in the course of managing the assets and liabilities. The purpose of
liquidity management is to ensure that there is sufficient cash to meet all financial commitments
and obligations as they fall due. The liquidity requirements of the Company’s business are met
primarily by funds generated from operations, liquid investments and income and other returns
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15 Financial risk management (continued)
received on investments. Cash provided from these sources is used primarily for investment
property operating expenses.
As at December 31, 2017, the Company does not believe the current maturity profile of the
Company lends itself to any material liquidity risk, taking into account the level of cash and
marketable securities as at December 31, 2017. The Company’s only material liability that can be
called unexpectedly at the demand of a third party is a $629,748 loan (2016- $nil) .
The following table summarizes the undiscounted cash flows of financial assets and liabilities by
contractual or expected maturity:
December 31, 2017

Financial Assets
Cash
Accounts receivables
less: Allowance for doubtful
accounts

Financial Liabilities
Trade payables and accrued liabilities
Bank loan

One year or
less
$

One to two
years
$

No maturity
date
$

1,640,771
147,421

-

-

(49,448)

-

-

1,738,744

-

-

507,534
-

629,748

-

December 31,2016
One year or
less
$
Financial Assets
Cash
Accounts receivables
Less:Allowance
for
accounts

doubtful

Financial Liabilities
Trade payables and accrued liabilities
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One to two
years
$

No maturity
date
$

1,881,487
161,514

-

-

(85,526)

-

-

1,957,475

-

-

1,192,397

-

-
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15 Financial risk management (continued)
Market risk
Market risk includes interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risk.
i)

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the potential for financial loss arising from changes in interest rates.
Changes in interest rate levels generally impact the financial results to the extent that
reinvestment yields are different than the original yields on fixed income securities.
Changes in interest rates will affect the fair value of the fixed income securities. During
periods of rising interest rates, the market value of the existing fixed income securities will
generally decrease. During periods of declining interest rates the opposite is true. The
Company is not directly exposed to interest rate risk at December 31, 2017 and 2016.

ii) Currency risk
Currency risk represents the risk that the Company incurs losses due to exposure to foreign
currency fluctuations. The Company owns properties and carries out related business
operations in Mongolia, and is therefore subject to foreign currency fluctuations that may
impact its financial position and results.
The approximate impact of a fluctuation of 10% in the Mongolian Tögrög against the
Canadian dollar would impact the OCI of the Company by $2,727,189 (2016 - $3,076,824).
iii) Other price risk
Other price risk market fluctuation risk is where fluctuations in the value of equity
securities affect the level and timing of recognition of gains and losses on securities held,
and cause changes in realized and unrealized gains and losses. The Company’s marketable
securities are exposed to other price risk.
Economic risk
Mongolian tax, currency and customs legislation is subject to varying interpretations, and changes,
which can occur frequently. Management’s interpretation of such legislation as applied to the
transactions and activity of the Company may be challenged by tax authorities.
Mongolian tax authorities may be taking a more assertive position in their interpretation of the
legislation and assessments, and it is possible that transactions and activities that have not been
challenged in the past may be challenged by tax authorities. As a result, significant additional taxes,
penalties and interest may be assessed. Fiscal periods remain open to review by the authorities in
respect of taxes for five calendar years preceding the year of review. Under certain circumstances
reviews may cover longer periods.
Mongolian tax legislation does not provide definitive guidance in certain areas, specifically in areas
such as Value added tax (VAT), corporate income tax, personal income tax and other areas. From
time to time, the Company adopts interpretations of such uncertain areas that reduce the overall
tax rate of the Company. As noted above, such tax positions may come under heightened scrutiny
as a result of recent developments in administrative and court practices. The impact of any
challenge by the tax authorities cannot be reliably estimated; however, it may be significant to the
financial position and/or the overall operations of the entity.
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15 Financial risk management (continued)
The Company’s management believes that its interpretation of the relevant legislation is
appropriate and the Company’s tax positions will be sustained. Management believes that tax risks
are remote at present.
Management performs regular re-assessments of tax risk and its position may change in the future
as a result of the change in conditions that cannot be anticipated with sufficient certainty at
present.
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16 Related party transactions
Parties are generally considered to be related if the parties are under common control or if one
party has the ability to control the other party or can exercise significant influence or joint control
over the other party in making financial and operational decisions. In considering each possible
related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship, not merely the
legal form.
Key management personnel of the Company include all directors and executive management. The
summary of compensation for key management personnel is as follows:

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits
Director fees
Share-based payments

2017
$

2016
$

202,039
50,000
-

186,341
107,722

252,039

294,063

As at December 31, 2017, amounts due to related parties totaled $40,000, comprised entirely of
accrued directors fees (2016 - $nil) and were included in trade payables and accrued liabilities.

17 Commitments and contingencies
From time to time and in the normal course of business, claims against the Company may be
received. On the basis of management’s assessments and professional legal advice, management is
of the opinion that no material losses will be incurred and no provision or disclosure has been
made in these consolidated financial statements.
The Company indemnifies its directors and officers against any and all claims or losses reasonably
incurred in the performance of their service to the Company to the extent permitted by law.

18 Supplementary cash flow information
2017
$

Changes in non-working capital arising from
Other assets
Trade payables and accrued liabilities
Income tax payable
Changes in non-cash
operating activities

working

capital

from

2016
$

(83,188)
12,124
(129,241)

32,350
696,958
55,153

(200,305)

784,461

Income tax paid during the year was $46,061 (2016 - $43,987).
Interest paid during the year was $5,794 (2016 - $nil).
During the year ended December 31, 2017, no properties (2016 – $75,144) were transferred from
property and equipment to investment properties (note 8).
During the year ended December 31, 2017, Investment Properties of $131,387 was received as
consideration in the sale of an Investment Property.
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18 Supplementary cash flow information (continued)
During the year ended December 31, 2017, Investment Properties of $176,344 were disposed of as
consideration to acquire Other Assets (2016 - $nil).
During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company reclassified $673,585 from accrued
liabilities relating to a deposit on a sale of an investment property which completed during the year
ended December 31, 2017.

19 Segment information
The Company’s operations are conducted in two reportable segments; Investment Property
Operations and Corporate. The Company reports information about its operating segments based
on the way management organizes and reports the segments within the organization for making
operating decisions and evaluating performance.
Investment Property operations consist of commercial and residential investment property in
Mongolia held for the purposes of rental revenue, capital appreciation or redevelopment. These
properties are managed by Big Sky Capital LLC and its subsidiaries.
The Company evaluates performance based on net income (loss) before income taxes.
Investment
Property
$



2017
Corporate
$

Total
$

Rental income
Property operating expenses
Unrealized loss on fair value adjustment on
investment properties
Impairment of other assets
Unrealized mark to market loss
Other expenses
Depreciation
Net investment income
Gain on disposal of investment property
Other revenue
Foreign currency gain (loss)
Realized gain on marketable securities
Finance cost
Tax recovery

1,471,344
(1,081,444)

-

1,471,344
(1,081,444)

(2,758,843)
(210,188)
(132,684)
(81,249)
25,773
247,200
53,698
13,574
(5,794)
147,174

(371,197)
(551,764)
360
(7,735)
63,809
-

(2,758,843)
(210,188)
(371,197)
(684,448)
(81,249)
26,133
247,200
53,698
5,839
63,809
(5,794)
147,174

Net income (loss) before income taxes

(2,311,439)

(866,527)

(3,177,966)
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19 Segment information (continued)

Corporate
$

Total
$

1,783,896
(1,354,014)
-

-

1,783,896
(1,354,014)
-

(5,728,003)
(354,951)
(59,062)
(340,335)
(118,152)
17,925
(223,532)
47,602
-

731,041
(98,103)
(399,513)
(6,371)
2,345
2,000
333,475

(5,728,003)
(354,951)
731,041
(157,165)
(739,848)
(124,523)
20,270
(223,532)
49,602
333,475

Net income (loss) before income
taxes

(6,328,626)

564,874

(5,763,752)

Balance as of
December 31, 2016

Investment
Property
$

Corporate
$

Total
$

31,867,291
1,805,861
29,501,350

2,643,985
-

34,511,276
1,805,861
29,501,350

27,356
22,617

-

27,356
22,617

Rental income
Property operating expenses
Non capitalized development expense
Unrealized gain on fair value adjustment
on investment properties and
property and equipment
Impairment of PPE and other Assets
Unrealized mark to market gain
Share based payment
Other expenses
Depreciation
Net investment income
Loss on disposal of investment property
Other revenue
Recovery of consumption tax

Total assets
Property and equipment
Investment properties
Expenditures
Property and equipment
Investment properties

Balance as of
December 31, 2017
Total assets
Property and equipment
Investment properties
Expenditures
Property and equipment
Investment properties



2016

Investment
Property
$

Investment
Property
$

Corporate
$

Total
$

25,560,529
1,654,896
22,887,521

3,845,302
-

29,405,831
1,654,896
22,887,521

1,383
131,387

-

1,383
131,387
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19 Segment information (continued)
Revenue

Canada
Mongolia

2017
$

2016
$

1,772,242

2,000
1,607,966

1,772,242

1,609,966

Property and
equipment
2017
$
1,654,896

Investment property

2016
$

2017
$

1,805,861

22,887,521

2016
$
29,501,350

1,654,896 1,805,861 22,887,521 29,501,350

20 Other expenses

Investor Relations
Repairs and maintenance
Office
Professional fees
Travel
Advertising
Land and property tax
Insurance
Utilities
Bad debt
Allowance for doubtful tax receivables
Other

2017
$

2016
$

42,095
51,404
64,147
317,622
73,760
8,682
123,928
45,674
136,600
(36,078)
116,465

25,470
90,997
69,825
397,442
55,969
16,331
175,939
58,388
150,529
5,930
85,526
84,846

944,299

1,217,192

21 Subsequent events


Since January 1, 2018, the Corporation has repurchased 108,500 of its shares at an average
price of $0.27/share and cancelled 219,600 shares.
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